Clinical approach to gastro-oesophageal reflux

in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis

Rhys Thomas Jones

Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Medicine (MD)

Institute of Cellular Medicine, Newcastle University

June 2016

Supervisors Dr Chris Ward Dr Ian Forrest Professor Michael Griffin Professor Jeffrey Pearson Professor John Simpson

Abstract

Background

Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis is a progressive condition with limited treatment options and median survival of 3-5 years. Gastro-oesophageal reflux (GOR) has been described in up to 90% of patients. Pulmonary aspiration has been suggested to contribute to IPF, with calls for aggressive antireflux therapy. Whilst medical therapy can usually control acid reflux, surgery may be required to control non-acid refluxate, which may also be harmful if aspirated into the lung. The risks of surgery in the IPF population are significant. There is no validated technique with which to measure aspiration in this group and furthermore, patient attitudes towards the treatment of reflux and aspiration in IPF are unknown. As a result, the population that might benefit from antireflux therapy has yet to be defined. The current study comprised two main aims. The first was to characterise reflux and aspiration in an IPF cohort. The second was to evaluate patient attitudes towards the burden of IPF disease as compared to the burden of antireflux therapy.

Methods

Symptoms of reflux and lung health were assessed using a panel of structured questionnaires. Oesophageal function and gastro-oesophageal reflux were objectively assessed using manometry and pH-impedance monitoring. A standardised bronchoscopy and bronchoalveolar lavage, with biochemical and cytological analysis, was used to assess pulmonary aspiration.

A separate group of individuals with IPF participated in an interview study. Respondents' own health was evaluated using a visual analogue scale, the EuroQOL-5D -3L survey and a standard gamble utility analysis. Vignettes were constructed to describe mild- and moderate-severity IPF health states and adverse outcomes from medical and surgical antireflux therapy. Patient attitudes towards these four health states were assessed with a ranking exercise and a series of standard gambles.

Results

pH-impedance monitoring demonstrated supranormal levels of gastro-oesophageal reflux in 22 of 36 study subjects (61%). Eleven subjects had pre-existing evidence of gastro-

i

oesophageal reflux and questionnaire assessment suggested GORD in 29% of subjects. Oesophageal manometry identified abnormal oesophageal function in 56%.

Supranormal levels of pepsin were detected in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid in 16 subjects. The combination of pepsin quantification and oesophageal monitoring identified a subgroup of subjects with evidence of reflux and aspiration, but there was no correlation between levels of reflux and pepsin concentrations. Cytological staining results correlated poorly with gastro-oesophageal reflux. After formal multidisciplinary review, two patients who participated in the current study have undergone fundoplication. Both have enjoyed a stable disease course since surgery.

In the interview study, respondents recorded mean utilities of 0.611 to 0.798 for their own health. Amongst 59 respondents, 38 regarded both IPF health states as preferable to the outcomes of either antireflux therapy outcome; the remainder disagreed. An adverse outcome from antireflux surgery was generally regarded as the worst of the health states.

Discussion

Oesophageal physiology and BAL fluid analysis may be combined to investigate reflux and aspiration in IPF. The current data suggest that reflux is common and frequently asymptomatic. Aspiration may only be significant in the minority of patients. Oesophageal dysmotility, a relative contra-indication to fundoplication, was evident in the majority of subjects.

This is the first report of health state utilities for IPF and demonstrates a disease burden comparable to advanced lung cancer. Opinion was divided as to the relative burden associated with IPF disease and the potential outcomes of antireflux therapy.

In conclusion, it remains difficult to identify the IPF patients for whom antireflux surgery might be most beneficial. For a proportion, the risks of such treatment will be prohibitive. The complexity of surgical decisions in this group suggests a requirement for a standard of care that includes a multidisciplinary team, informed by objective aerodigestive physiology and imaging.

ii

This work is dedicated to my wife, who has been tireless in her patience and support and without whom it would not have been possible.

For Suba

Sponsors

This work has been possible thanks to funding through a Knowledge Transfer Partnership in collaboration with Innovate UK. Funding originated largely from the Northern Oesophagogastric Unit, with additional support from the Medical Research Council. I am grateful to these organisations for this opportunity.

Acknowledgments

I am indebted to my supervisors for their guidance and expertise. Dr Ward and Dr Forrest have provided unfailing support and considered responses to innumerable questions, on both the academic challenges of my doctorate, and the broader experiences of the Knowledge Transfer Partnership. Professor Griffin has provided crucial assistance with this work and has made a huge contribution to my career since I started working at the Northern Oesophago-Gastric Unit. Professor Simpson and Professor Pearson have been invaluable cosupervisors and brought a wealth of research experience to my study.

I am grateful to Dr Laura Ternent and Dr Peter McMeekin, based at the Institute of Health and Society (Newcastle University) and the School of Health, Community and Education Studies (Northumbria University) respectively. They have provided crucial support with all stages of the standard gamble work.

I am grateful to my friend and colleague Mr Amaran Krishnan, who initiated the characterisation study. His efforts and training made for a smooth introduction to the work.

Mr Kasim Jiwa and Ms Gail Johnson, in the William Leech laboraty at the Freeman Hospital, provided me with training and support with bronchoalveolar lavage processing, cell counts and staining. Without their patience and expertise, my return to the lab would have been far more challenging. I am also grateful to Dr Gemma Zeybel and Dr Matthew Wilcox and for their assistance with bronchoalveolar lavage fluid analysis.

I am grateful to Mr Julian McGlashan for scoring the pharyngeal images for the study.

My thanks go to Ms Joy Candler who supported my training in oesophageal manometry and ambulatory monitoring. The medical and nursing staff in the Chest clinic at the Royal Victoria Infirmary have been hugely co-operative as I went about recruitment. I am also grateful to all the staff in the Endoscopy department for their assistance and co-operation with bronchoscopy and physiology assessments.

v

I am grateful to all the clinicians who have supported the aerodigestive MDT.

Finally, I would like to thank all the patients who participated in this research.

Declaration

This thesis is a presentation of my original research work. Wherever others have contributed, every effort has been made to indicate their involvement.

Dr Chris Ward and Dr Ian Forrest conceived the characterisation study. Mr Amaran Krishnan contributed to study design and secured ethical approval. Mr Krishnan studied the first 20 subjects. All bronchoscopy and broncho-alveolar lavage was performed by Dr Forrest.

I recruited the latter group of 16 patients to the characterisation study. I performed all oesophageal physiology monitoring this group. I completed cytological and bronchoalveolar lavage analysis on the latter group of 16 subjects. I performed all data analysis for the characterisation study.

I designed the patient attitudes study and secured all study approvals. I performed all patient interviews and data analysis for this section of the study.

I set up the Aerodigestive MDT within Newcastle Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust.

Publications

Jones R, Ward C, Pearson, J. Functional dyspepsia: should there be a consideration of the iatrogenic effects of empirical PPI therapy. New England Journal of Medicine. (In press)

Al-momani H, Perry A, Stewart C, Jones R et al. Microbiological profiles of sputum and gastric juice aspirates in Cystic Fibrosis patients. Scientific Reports. (In press)

Presentations

Characterisation of reflux and aspiration in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis; an integrated approach. British Thoracic Society, December 2014

Using questionnaires to measure the impact of gastro-esophageal reflux in chronic lung disease. American Thoracic Society, May 2014

Initial experience of an aerodigestive multidisciplinary team. European Society of Diseases of the Esophagus, November 2013

Initial experience of an aerodigestive multidisciplinary team. Association of Upper Gastrointestinal Surgeons of Great Britain and Ireland, September 2013

Grants and Awards

In January 2015, the Knowledge Transfer Partnership within which I developed the Northern Aerodigestive Group was awarded a grading of Outstanding

In 2012 we submitted a grant application to the British Lung Foundation based on data from the current study. A grant of £139 000 was secured for a randomised placebo-controlled trial of omeprazole in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis.

In 2014, our research group secured a doctoral research grant of £322 000 from the Irish Health Board. The application included data from the current study and also benefitted from the training and collaboration I was able to provide on oesophageal physiology.

Also in 2014, I was awarded £5000 from the Joint Research Executive Scientific Committee at the Newcastle Hospitals, for an observational study of swallow competence in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis.

Contents

Abstract	i
Sponsors	v
Acknowledgments	v
Declaration	vii
Publications	vii
Presentations	ix
Grants and Awards	ix
Contents	xi
Abbreviations	xxi

Chapter 1.	Introduction	1
1.1 Idi	opathic pulmonary fibrosis	1
1.1.1	Introduction	1
1.1.1	Epidemiology	1
1.1.2	Clinical course	2
1.1.3	Assessment and diagnosis	3
1.1.4	Treatment options in IPF	4
1.1.5	Aetiopathogenesis	8
1.2 Ga	stro-oesophageal reflux and aspiration	14
1.2.1	Gastro-oesophageal reflux disease	14
1.2.2	Treatment of GORD	
1.3 Th	e association of reflux and IPF	23
1.3.1	Pharmacological treatment of GORD in IPF	
1.3.2	The role of antireflux surgery in IPF	
1.4 De	tection of proximal reflux and pulmonary aspiration	31
1.4.1	Oropharyngeal pH measurement	
1.4.2	Scintigraphy	
1.4.3	Pepsin measurement in sputum and saliva	
1.4.4	Bronchoalveolar lavage	
1.5 Ev	aluating patient attitudes towards antireflux therapy in IPF	41
1.5.1	Measuring health	
1.5.2	Scaling, value and utility	
1.5.3	Measurement of utilities	
1.5.4	Empirical support for measurement tools	
1.5.5	Choice of respondents in health state valuation	
1.6 Un	answered questions about reflux, aspiration and IPF	51
Chapter 2.	Hypothesis, Aims and Objectives	
2.1 Hy	pothesis	52
2.2 Aiı	ns	
2.2.1	Primary aim	
2.2.2	Secondary aims	
2.3 Ob	jectives	53
Chapter 3.	Methods	54
3.1 Ch	aracterisation of reflux and aspiration in IPF	54
3.1.1	Ethical approval	54

3.1.	2 Recruitment	54
3.1.	3 Study overview	55
3.1.	4 Selection of patient-reported outcome measures	56
3.1.	5 Clinical data collection	62
3.1.	6 Preparation for oesophageal physiology testing	63
3.1.	7 Oesophageal manometry	64
3.1.	8 Ambulatory oesophageal monitoring	71
3.1.	9 Bronchoscopy	74
3.1.	10 Bronchoalveolar lavage fluid processing	75
3.1.	11 Assessment of aspiration	76
3.1.	12 Formation of a novel aerodigestive multidisciplinary team	79
3.1.	13 Statistical analysis	79
3.2	Evaluation of patient attitudes towards the treatment of reflux in IPF	81
3.2.	1 Ethical approval	81
3.2.	2 Study overview	81
3.2.	3 Study sample and recruitment	81
3.2.	4 Inclusion criteria	82
3.2.	5 Exclusion criteria	82
3.2.	6 Sample size	82
3.2.	7 Standard gamble method	82
3.2.	8 Vignette design	84
3.2.	9 The interview process	87
3.2.	10 Statistical analysis	88
Chapter	4. Results of Characterisation Study	89
4.1	Study overview	89
4.2	Recruitment and demographics	
4.3	Assessment of gastro-oesophageal reflux	
4.3.	1 Subjective assessment	93
4.3.	2 Oesophageal manometry	94
4.3.	3 Ambulatory monitoring	98
4.4	pH-impedance analysis: inter-rater reliability	102
4.5	Assessment of laryngopharyngeal reflux and pulmonary aspiration	103
4.5.	1 Subjective assessment	
4.5.	2 Bronchoscopy and bronchoalveolar lavage	108
4.6	Multidisciplinary review and subsequent management	122
4.7	Summary	
Chapter	5. Results of Patient Attitudes Study	
5.1	Interview summary and stratification by disease severity	
5.2	Summary statistics	
5.3	Valladiion statistics	128
5.4 ГГ	Health state utility analysis	129
5.5 E C	Realth state utility unarysis	130
5.0 5.7	Correlation between lung junction and own nearth utility values	
J./ Chantor		130
6 1	Recruitment and feasibility	120
6.2	Subjective assessment of reflux and aspiration	٥כد 1 <i>۸</i> ۱
6.2 6.2	Oesonhageal physiology monitoring	140 1/17
6.5 6.4	Bronchoalveolar lavaae	142 1ЛГ
0.4	Bronenouiveolul luvuye	

6.4.1	Pepsin	147
6.4.2	Bile salts	149
6.5 Bro	nchoalveolar cytology	150
6.5.1	Differential cell counts	150
6.5.2	Cell staining	150
6.6 Mu	Itidisciplinary review	152
6.7 Eva	luating patient attitudes: measuring the perceived burden of IPF and antir	eflux
therapy		154
6.7.1	Study design	154
6.7.2	Study subjects	156
6.7.3	Key findings	156
6.7.4	Validity, strengths and limitations	159
Chapter 7.	Summary and Recommendations for Future Research	162
Appendi	ix A Characterisation study appointment letter	166
Appendi	ix B GerdQ questionnaire	167
Appendi	ix C Reflux Symptom Index questionnaire	168
Appendi	ix D St George's Respiratory Questionnaire	169
Appendi	ix E Patient attitudes study - Demographic survey	175
Appendi	ix F EuroQOL-5D-3L	179
Appendi	ix G Standard operating procedure: Bronchoalveolar lavage processing	182
Appendi	ix H Standard operating procedure: Geimsa staining	187
Appendi	ix I Standard operating procedure: Oil Red O staining	190
Appendi	ix J Standard operating procedure: Perls Prussian Blue staining	194
References	-	198

List of tables

Table 1-1. Epidemiological studies of IPF from Europe and North America. 2
Table 1-2. Evolving techniques with which GORD has been investigated
Table 1-3. Test-retest reliability of the standard gamble and time trade-off in studies reporting direct
comparisons. Test statistic specified as intraclass correlation in studies indicated (*) and unspecified
in the remainder
Table 3-1. Questionnaires rejected for assessment of symptoms of gastro-oesophageal reflux 57
Table 3-2. Questionnaires considered for the symptomatic assessment of gastro-oesophageal reflux
Table 3-3. Questionnaires rejected for assessment of extra-oesophageal reflux symptoms 61
Table 3-4. Classification of oesophageal peristalsis using conventional manometry assessment 67
Table 3-5. Comparison of conventional and high resolution oesophageal manometry assessment 67
Table 3-6. Defining features of an individual swallow ((Bredenoord <i>et al.</i> , 2012))
Table 3-7. Component scoring for the Reflux Finding Score, an instrument validated to assess the
severity of laryngopharyngeal reflux (Belafsky et al., 2001)75
Table 3-8. Iterative process through which health state scenarios were designed for the standard
gamble. Superscript figures relate to notes detailed below the table
Table 4-1. Study subjects' breathlessness status at recruitment (Fletcher et al., 1959)
Table 4-2. Respiratory health-related quality of life score recorded on and off PPI medication
Table 4-3. Amplitudes of oesophageal peristalsis recorded at conventional 8-channel manometry.
NA=not available
Table 4-4. Metrics used to evaluate oesophageal swallow integrity using the Chicago classification. 96
Table 4-5. The results of ambulatory pH monitoring. All figures are scaled so as to represent a 24
hour monitoring period. Long refluxes are defined as those in excess of five minutes
Table 4-6. Number of acid, weakly acid and non-acid refluxes recorded over a standardised 24 hour
impedance monitoring period
Table 4-7. Number of subjects identified to have high levels of reflux by pH and impedance
monitoring

Table 4-8. Key pH-impedance results as reported by two independent raters. Rater A=Rhys Jones.
Rater B=Amaran Krishnan, a surgical registrar and former research fellow who was blinded to the
remainder of these individuals' results102
Table 4-9. Bronchoscopic and symptomatic assessment of laryngopharyngeal reflux. Four of the eight
components of the reflux findings scale (RFS) are included here for illustration. RSI=Reflux symptom
index. Images for subject IPF25 could not be scored due to insufficient image quality
Table 4-10. pH-impedance monitoring results and BAL pepsin concentrations in all study subjects.
Normal values are included in brackets (Jamieson et al., 1992; Zerbib et al., 2013)
Table 4-11. Bronchoalveolar lavage fluid bile salt concentration measured in all 35 IPF patients using
a spectrophotometric total bile salt assay. All measurements are in μ mol/l. Three separate runs were
initially performed and an average result determined. Positive readings were verified with a further
set of readings. Zero values indicate readings lower than the limit of detection
Table 4-12. Differential cell counts for bronchoalveolar lavage fluid retrieved from the 36 study
participants. Values are expressed as mean (range). p-values refer to a one-sample T-test comparing
the study data to the reference mean
Table 4-13. LLMI and haemosiderin scores enumerated from BAL cytospins
Table 4-14. Summary values for cell staining counts. Results are expressed as median (range) 119
Table 5-1. Summary responses to the EQ5D-3L survey 126
Table 5-2. Demographic summary statistics 127
Table 5-3. Health state valuations. SD = standard deviation. OSG = own health evaluation by standard
gamble. OE = own health evaluation by EQ5D). The terms "Top half" and "Bottom half" refer to a
subdivision with respect to objective pulmonary function (section 5.1)
Table 6-1. Reported prevalence of pathological gastro-oesophageal reflux detected by ambulatory
monitoring. N/S=not specified146
Table 6-2. Published health state utilities for lung cancer. 161

List of figures

Figure 1-1. The disease trajectory that has been postulated in IPF comprises a series of unpredictable
exacerbations, separated by periods of stability
Figure 1-2. Schematic anatomy of the mouth, pharynx and upper aerodigestive tracts. Adapted from
Cranial Nerves, 3 rd edition. (Reproduced from (Pauwells <i>et al.</i> , 1998))14
Figure 1-3. The gastro-oesophageal junction. Left: 3D reconstruction, illustrating the intra-abdominal
portion of the terminal oesophagus and its acute angle of entry into the stomach. An endoscope is
seen in the retroflexed position. Right: Endoscopic view in retroflexion. Taken from Hill <i>et al.</i> (1996).
Figure 1-4. The configuration of impedance and pH catheters within an intraluminal probe. The
impedance drop illustrated is first detected distally before ascending to the most proximal channel.
The pH trace, measured 5cm proximal to the LOS, remains above 4. This recording therefore
demonstrates proximal, weakly acid reflux. [Oesophageal schematic taken from software licensed to
MMS International (Enschede, The Netherlands)]
Figure 1-5. Schematic diagram to illustrate the anatomy of duodeno-gastric and gastro-oesophageal
reflux (Modified from (UPMC, 2015))24
Figure 1-6. Appearance of the hypopharynx at flexible endoscopy: 1) Normal 2) Diffuse erythema at
the vocal folds and arytenoid walls 3) Severe oedema in the posterior larynx 4) Vocal fold
granuloma. Images reproduced from (Park, 2013; Vivero, 2015)
Figure 1-7. Pepsin lateral flow device showing the result of a gastric juice sample positive for pepsin.
C=control band. T=test sample band. Reproduced from (Saritas Yuksel et al., 2012)
Figure 1-8. Decision tree for a standard gamble evaluating a chronic health state considered better
than death. Reproduced from (Torrance, 1986)
Figure 3-1. The orientation of side-holes in an 8-channel manometry cather

Figure 3-3. Oesophageal pressure topography plot illustrating a normal water swallow as assessed by high-resolution manometry. Pressure scale indicated by the colour bar on the left (mmHg). UES = upper oesophageal sphincter; LES = lower oesophageal sphincter; CFV = contractile front velocity; DCI = distal contractile index (dashed pink box); DL = distal latency; IRP = integrated relaxation pressure; P=proximal pressure trough; CDP=contractile deceleration point. Adapted from (Zerbib and Figure 3-4. Flow diagram to illustrate the Chicago classification system of high resolution oesophageal manometry (reproduced from (Bredenoord et al., 2012))......71 Figure 3-6. Chance board used as a prop to illustrate decision-making within the standard gamble. Figure 4-2. Histogram illustrating the percentage predicted vital capacity readings taken prior to participation in the study92 Figure 4-3. GORD symptom assessed by GerdQ scores. The individual value plot is overlaid with slope-graphs for those patients who completed GerdQ both on and off PPI therapy. The reference line indicates the score which has been reported as most discriminating as a cut-off in the diagnosis Figure 4-5. Individual value plots for reflux index and DeMeester score. Horizontal reference lines

Figure 4-6. 24-hour reflux events recorded at impedance monitoring. 95th centile reference lines
indicate the published upper limits of normal for healthy controls (Zerbib et al., 2005). * indicates
individuals with pathological levels of reflux on pH monitoring; †indicates individuals with
pathological levels of proximal reflux. Subject number 21 was studied on PPI therapy 101
Figure 4-7. Scatterplots to illustrate the level of agreement between key pH-impedance reflux
episode counts. Rater details are included in Table 4-8 102
Figure 4-8. Extra-oesophageal symptoms as assessed by Reflux Symptom Index in patients taking PPI
therapy at the time of study recruitment. PPI was discontinued for two weeks prior to physiology
testing104
Figure 4-9. Scatterplot to illustrate the relationship between levels of objectively measured proximal
reflux and symptoms of laryngopharyngeal reflux104
Figure 4-10. Illustrative bronchoscopy images captured for an external assessor to evaluate evidence
of laryngopharyngeal reflux using the Reflux Finding Score (Belafsky et al., 2001) 106
Figure 4-11. Standard curves for the ELISA used to quantify pepsin concentrations in BAL fluid 109
Figure 4-12. Pepsin concentrations in IPF study subjects and healthy controls. In the IPF study
subjects, the presence of gastro-oesophageal reflux was defined at pH-impedance monitoring by a
high DeMeester score, a high total number of refluxes, or both
Figure 4-13. Reference chart used to support LLMI grading 115
Figure 4-14. Illustrative photomicrographs of cytospin cell staining with Giemsa, Perls Prussian Blue
and Oil Red O stains
Figure 4-15. Illustrative photomicrographs of cytospin cell staining with Giemsa, Perls Prussian Blue
and Oil Red O stains
Figure 4-16. The relationship between LLMI and DeMeester scores for the 36 study subjects 120

Figure 4-17. LLMI calculated for study subjects grouped by DeMeester score; 14.7 is the upper limit
of normal in healthy controls and values above this are consistent with a high level of gastro-
oesophageal reflux
Figure 4-18. Haemosiderin scores for study subjects stratified by lung disease severity. Subjects were
dichotomised with respect to the median figure for % predicted vital capacity
Figure 4-19. Haemosiderin score calculated for study subjects grouped by DeMeester score 121
Figure 5-1. The frequency with which respondents ranked the health states in a specified order.
Figures in brackets indicate respondents who ranked death as preferable to one of the descriptive
health states129
Figure 5-2. Mean health state evaluations recorded by standard gamble. P-values relate to 2-sample
T-tests. Descriptive health states are as follows: W=mild IPF; X=moderate IPF; Y=surgical antireflux
therapy; Z=medical antireflux therapy. Own health was also evaluated using the standard gamble.131
Figure 5-3. Mean health state evaluations recorded for respondent's own current health. P-value
refers to a 2-sample T-test
Figure 5-4. Health state evaluations stratified by disease severity133
Figure 5-5. Scatterplot comparing respondents' own health valuations as measured by standard
gamble and EQ5D
Figure 5-6. Scatterplot comparing the percentage predicted vital capacity with respondents' own
health valuations as measured by standard gamble135
Figure 5-7. Scatterplot comparing the percentage predicted vital capacity with respondents' own
health valuations as measured by EQ5D135

Abbreviations

AEC	alveolar epithelial cell
AECII	type 2 alveolar epithelial cell
ASCEND	Assessment of Pirfenidone to Confirm Efficacy and Safety in Idiopathic
	Pulmonary Fibrosis
ATF-6	activating transcription factor 6
ATS	American Thoracic Society
BAL	bronchoalveolar lavage
BALF	bronchoalveolar lavage fluid
ВСТ	bolus clearance time
BiP	binding immunoglobulin protein
BMI	body mass index
BOS	bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome
BSA	bovine serum albumin
CAPACITY	Clinical Studies Assessing Pirfenidone in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis:
	Research of Efficacy and Safety Outcomes
CD4	cluster of differentiation 4
CD8	cluster of differentiation 8
CDP	contractile deceleration point
CFV	contractile front velocity
СНОР	CCAAT-enhancer-binding protein homologous protein
COX2	cyclooxygenase 2
СТ	computed tomography
DCI	distal contractile index
DIAMOND	Dutch study on Initial Management Of Newly diagnosed Dyspepsia
DL	distal latency
DPX	distrene, plasticiser, xylene
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EMT	epithelial-mesenchymal transition
EQ5D-3L	European Quality Of Life-5 Dimension scale, 3 line version
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
FDA	Food and Drug Administration

FEV1	forced expiratory volume in 1 second
FH	functional heartburn
FVC	forced vital capacity
GERD-Q	Gastro-Esophageal Reflux Disease Questionnaire
GERQ	Gastro-Esophageal Reflux Questionnaire
GI	gastro-intestinal
GOR (syn. GER)	gastro-oesophageal reflux
GORD (syn.	gastro-oesophageal reflux disease
GERD)	
GRACI	Gastroesophageal Activity Index
GSAS	Gastro-oesophageal reflux Symptoms Assessment Scale
GSFQ	GERD Symptom Frequency Questionnaire
H2RB	H2-receptor blocker
НО	hypersensitive oesophagus
HRCT	high resolution computed tomography
HRM	high resolution manometry
HRQL	health-related quality of life
IBP	intrabolus pressure
IL	interleukin
ILD	interstitial lung disease
INPULSIS	Efficacy And Safety Of Nintedanib In Patients With Idiopathic
	Pulmonary Fibrosis
IPF	idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
IRP	integrated relaxation pressure
LAP	latency-associated peptide
LLAM	lipid-laden alveolar macrophage
LLMI	lipid-laden macrophage index
LOS syn (LES)	lower oesophageal sphincter
LOTUS	Long-Term Usage of Esomeprazole vs Surgery for Treatment of
	Chronic GERD
LPR	laryngopharyngeal reflux
MDT	multidisciplinary team
mg/ml	milligrams per millilitre

MII	multichannel intraluminal Impedance
MRC	Medical Research Council
MUC5B	mucin 5B
NAC	N-acetyl cysteine
NERD	non-erosive reflux disease
ng/ml	nanograms per millilitre
NICE	National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
NOGU	Northern Oesophagogastric Unit
NPV	negative predictive value
NRES	National Research Ethics Committee
NSCLC	non-small cell lung cancer
NVQ	National Vocational Qualification
OE	own health state as assessed by EuroQOL-5D-3L
ONS	Office of National Statistics
ОР	oropharyngeal
ORO	oil red O
OSG	own health state as assessed by standard gamble
PANTHER-IPF	Prednisone, Azathioprine, and N-Acetylcysteine: A Study That
	Evaluates Response in Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis
PASS	Proton-Pump Inhibitor Acid Suppression Symptom test
PBS	Phosphate Buffer Solution
PDGF	platelet-derived growth factor
PFT	pulmonary function test
рН	potential for hydrogen ions; -log ₁₀ [H ⁺]
PPI	proton pump inhibitor
PPV	positive predictive value
QALY	quality-adjusted life year
R&D	Research and Development
RCT	randomised controlled trial
RDQ	reflux disease questionnaire
ReQuest	Reflux Questionnaire
ROC	receiver operating characteristic

rpm	revolutions per minute
RSI	Reflux Symptom Index
RVI	Royal Victoria Infirmary
SAP	symptom associated probability
SFPA2	surfacant protein A2
SFPC	surfacant protein C
SG	standard gamble
SGRQ	St George's Respiratory Questionnaire
SI	symptom index
SSI	symptom sensitivity index
ТВА	Total Bile Acids
TERC	telomerase ribonucleic acid component
TERT	telomerase reverse transcriptase
TGF-β	transforming growth factor beta
TH1	type 1 helper T-cells
TLOSR	transient lower oesophageal sphincter relaxation
TMS	tandem mass spectrometry
TNF	tumour necrosis factor
TOMORROW	To imprOve pulMOnaRy fibROsis With BIBF 1120
ТТО	time trade-off
UIP	usual interstitial pneumonia
UOS syn (UES)	upper oesophageal sphincter
VAS	visual analogue scale
VC	vital capacity
vNM utility	von Neumann-Morgenstern utility
WHO	World Health Organisation
WnT	wingless-related integration site
WRAP-IPF	Weighing Risks and benefits of IAParoscopic anti-reflux surgery in
	patients with Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis
XBP-1	x-box binding protein 1
αSMA	alpa smooth muscle actin
µg/ml	micrograms per millilitre
µmol/l	micromoles per litre

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1 Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis

1.1.1 Introduction

Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) is a progressive, scarring lung condition of unknown aetiology. It is the commonest of the interstitial lung diseases and, in contrast to several others, has well-defined clinical, radiological and histopathological features. The aetiology and pathogenesis of the condition are not well understood and treatment options are limited. Transplantation offers the only definitive treatment but few patients are eligible.

1.1.1 Epidemiology

The epidemiology of IPF has proved challenging for two main reasons. Clinically, the early features of IPF are often non-specific, which can lead to diagnostic uncertainty (Fell *et al.*, 2010). From a research perspective, the nomenclature and disease classification of interstitial lung disease has evolved over the last 30 years, with significant inconsistencies between studies (Bradley *et al.*, 2008).

Table 1-1 summarises the major studies of IPF incidence and prevalence from Europe and North America. The best estimates come from disease-specific registries and national datasets. Other studies have relied on clinic surveys which generate lower estimates and are more likely to underestimate disease occurrence (Karakatsani *et al.*, 2009; Musellim *et al.*, 2014).

Two consistent findings from these studies are that IPF is more common amongst men and that the incidence of the disease appears to be increasing. In the UK, Navaratnam et al analysed the Office of National Statistics mortality data in combination with a large primary care database over the period 1968-2008 (Navaratnam *et al.*, 2011). Annual death certificate reporting rose six-fold (0.92-5.1 per 100 000) over the period and the incidence of IPF reported by General Practitioners rose from 5.8 to 8.0 per 100 000 between 2000 and 2008. The authors could find no firm evidence of improving survival rates, which makes ascertainment bias less likely. If milder cases were increasingly recognised over the study period then the survival rate be expected to increase over time.

Table 1-1. Epidemiological studies of IPP from Europe and North America	Table	1-1.	Epider	niological	studies	of IPF	from	Europe	and North	America
---	-------	------	--------	------------	---------	--------	------	--------	-----------	---------

First author	Country and study period	Methodology	Incidence /100,000 person years	Prevalence /100,000
Europe			T	T
Thomeer (Thomeer et al., 2001)	Belgium 1992-1996	Population-based ILD registry	1.25	0.22
Hodgson (Hodgson et al., 2002)	Finland 1997-98	Nationwide survey of respiratory clinics and hospital databases (accuracy of coding validated within a sample and extrapolated to the study group)	-	16-18
Von Plessen (von Plessen <i>et al.,</i> 2003)	Norway 1984-98	Hospital registry	4.3	23.4
Gribbin (Gribbin <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2006)	UK 1991-2003	Primary care database and ONS mortality records	4.6	-
Navaratnam (Navaratnam <i>et al.,</i> 2011)	UK 2000-09	Primary care database and ONS mortality records	7.44	-
North America				
Coultas (Coultas <i>et al.,</i> 1994)	US 1988-90	Medical records, pathology reports, death certificates and autopsy reports	7.4 (F) 10.7 (M)	13.2 (F) 20.2 (M)
Raghu (Raghu <i>et al.,</i> 2006b)	US 1996-2000	Insurance claims database	6.8-16.3	14-42.7
Fernandez-Perez (Fernandez Perez <i>et al.,</i> 2010)	US 1997-2005	County-wide medical record linkage system	17.4	47

1.1.2 Clinical course

Patients generally present with worsening breathlessness between 50 and 70 years of age (Navaratnam *et al.*, 2011). Symptoms have often been present for many months or years by the time of specialist evaluation and diagnosis (du Bois, 2012). In time, the cardinal features of exertional dyspnoea and a non-productive cough develop. Eventually, patients will experience dyspnoea at rest as respiratory function declines. In the UK, the median survival from diagnosis is three to five years (NICE, 2013a).

The trajectory of disease progression in IPF remains a matter of debate. In a proportion of patients at least, periods of stability are punctuated by unpredictable exacerbations, with a

resultant loss of pulmonary function, Figure 1-1 (Collard *et al.*, 2007). Acute exacerbations in IPF are defined as idiopathic, but risk factors have been identified. Functional and radiological markers of severity put patients at higher risk (Ryerson *et al.*, 2015). Several triggers have also been suggested: exacerbations appear more common in the winter months, during periods of immunosuppression, and following infection (Wootton *et al.*, 2011; Raghu *et al.*, 2012; Collard *et al.*, 2013b). Both thoracic and non-thoracic surgical procedures have also been cited (Yuksel *et al.*, 2006; Ghatol *et al.*, 2012).

Although the progression seen in IPF is often rapid, the chronic and variable nature of the disease course complicates research into pathogenesis. As a result, the significance of suspected aetiological factors and the potential benefits of therapeutic intervention are difficult to prove.



Figure 1-1. The disease trajectory that has been postulated in IPF comprises a series of unpredictable exacerbations, separated by periods of stability

1.1.3 Assessment and diagnosis

Plain chest radiograph most commonly reveals diffuse, reticular opacities over the lower lung zones. High resolution computed tomography (HRCT) scanning is increasingly used to evaluate parenchymal lung disease. HRCT can detect early changes in the context of a normal plain film and is better able to determine disease severity and differentiate between different lung pathology (Grenier *et al.*, 1991). On HRCT, the changes of IPF appear as patchy, subpleural densities with a basal preponderance. Contiguous areas of reticulation and normal lung give rise to a "geographical" pattern. In more advanced disease the typical pattern of honeycombing is seen as cystic air spaces develop between thickened interlobular septa. The accuracy of HRCT for diagnosing IPF is operator dependent but appears to be around 90% (Grenier *et al.*, 1991).

In cases where the clinico-radiological diagnosis remains uncertain and confirmation will affect management, tissue may be sampled by means of a transbronchial or surgical lung biopsy. Histologically, IPF presents as usual interstitial pneumonia with a "patchwork pattern", honeycombing and characteristic lesions known as fibroblastic foci (Katzenstein *et al.*, 2008). As with HRCT, the patchy appearance arises from the temporal heterogeneity of fibrotic changes in adjacent sections of lung. Katzenstein and Myers coined the term "fibroblastic foci" to describe the hyperplastic reparative epithelium overlying aggregates of myofibroblasts (Katzenstein and Myers, 1998). Myofibroblasts are differentiated mesenchymal cells which contribute to the deposition of extracellular matrix and scar formation in both physiological and pathological states (Hinz *et al.*, 2007). These are the cells mainly responsible for the excessive deposition of extracellular matrix seen in the IPF lung.

1.1.4 Treatment options in IPF

Until relatively recently, lung transplantation was considered to be the only effective treatment for IPF. Recent guidelines incorporate some new options, but the range of treatment options available remains extremely limited (NICE, 2013a).

Non-pharmacological options

Lung transplantation

Whilst the evidence base is weak, lung transplantation does appear to improve survival in IPF (Thabut *et al.*, 2003). Long-term survival after transplantation for IPF is favourable compared to survival after transplantation for other indications (Keating *et al.*, 2009). IPF is a disease of the elderly and age is a relative contraindication in lung transplantation. The proportion of patients who are eligible for transplantation and for whom a window of opportunity arises is small. The data from the latest survey of the International Society of Heart and Lung Transplantation suggest that 14.5% of adult sequential bilateral lung transplants are performed for IPF (Christie *et al.*, 2009).

Oxygen therapy

Indirect evidence from studies of unselected patients with hypoxaemia suggests that longterm oxygen therapy improves exercise capacity. In obstructive lung disease, a survival benefit has been demonstrated (Nocturnal Oxygen Therapy Trial Group, 1980). There is no direct evidence of benefit in IPF but the use of long-term oxygen therapy has been recommended nonetheless (Raghu *et al.*, 2011).

Pulmonary rehabilitation

Pulmonary rehabilitation combines physical conditioning, education and psychosocial support. In a controlled trial which randomised 57 ILD patients (34 IPF) to receive either supervised exercise training or weekly telephone support, those in the exercise group had a short term benefit in terms of function and symptomatology (Holland *et al.*, 2008). The benefit was not sustained at six months.

Pharmacological options

Corticosteroids

Prednisolone has immunosuppressive and anti-inflammatory effects. There is some evidence to support short-term use in a minority of IPF patients (Neuner *et al.*, 2001; Richeldi *et al.*, 2003). Overall, the response to corticosteroid therapy in IPF is almost universally poor. In clinical practice short-term trials are often used, but the side effect profile and limited evidence base led international guidelines to recommend against their use as monotherapy (Raghu *et al.*, 2011).

Combination therapy

Azathioprine is an immunosuppressant that inhibits synthesis of the purine framework of the DNA bases adenine and guanine. N-acetyl cysteine (NAC), a precursor of the antioxidant glutathione, has also been used in the treatment of IPF. The combination was studied in a randomised controlled trial published in 2005 (Demedts *et al.*). The Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis International Group Exploring N-Acetylcysteine I Annual (IFIGENIA) study randomised 182 patients to receive either high-dose NAC or placebo in addition to "standard therapy" with prednisolone and azathioprine. Those in the NAC group had a slower

deterioration of vital capacity (VC) and carbon monoxide diffusing capacity (DLCO). Limitations of the study include the lack of a placebo arm and a 30% dropout rate.

The same combination (NAC, azathioprine and prednisolone) was compared to placebo and NAC monotherapy in PANTHER-IPF (Prednisone, Azathioprine, and N-Acetylcysteine: A Study That Evaluates Response in Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis) (The Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis Clinical Research Network, 2012). This trial was terminated after interim analysis revealed an excess of hospitalisation and mortality in those receiving triple therapy. The placebo and NAC arms were continued but there was no difference in the primary endpoint of change in FVC over a 60-week period.

Pirfenidone

Pirfenidone is a small, orally available molecule that demonstrates anti-inflammatory and antifibrotic effects in vitro and in vivo (Schaefer *et al.*, 2011). Early mechanistic studies in hamsters demonstrated reduced expression of several profibrotic factors in lung tissue and or bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid. Pirfenidone has been shown to prevent the accumulation of hydroxyproline, procollagen I and III, inflammatory cells and transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-b) (Iyer *et al.*, 1995; Iyer *et al.*, 2000). Many of these findings have since been reproduced in different species and in human lung fibroblast cells in vitro (Kakugawa *et al.*, 2004; Nakayama *et al.*, 2008; Oku *et al.*, 2008; Conte *et al.*, 2014).

In a series of Japanese studies looking at the role of pirfenidone in IPF, patients in the treatment group exhibited better disease stability than those in the placebo arm (Taniguchi *et al.*, 2010). Two multinational RCTs were subsequently reported in concert (Noble *et al.*, 2011). Both CAPACITY (Clinical Studies Assessing Pirfenidone in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: Research of Efficacy and Safety Outcomes) trials used the same primary end-point of change in percentage predicted forced vital capacity (FVC). Initial analysis suggested that patients in the pirfenidone group had a significantly lower decline in FVC in only one of the two studies (CAPACITY 004). In the second study, patients in the placebo group had a lower than expected rate of decline, which may account for the negative findings (CAPACITY 006). A recent Cochrane meta-analysis evaluated the progression-free survival data reported as secondary endpoints in all three trials. In this analysis, pirfenidone reduced the risk of disease progression by 30% (Spagnolo *et al.*, 2010).

The US Food and Drug Administration ruled against pirfenidone approval in 2010. The ASCEND trial was then initiated (Assessment of Pirfenidone to Confirm Efficacy and Safety in Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis) and randomised 555 IPF patients to receive either pirfenidone or placebo (King *et al.*, 2014). In this study, the pirfenidone group had a better outcome with respect to the primary endpoint of change in FVC or death at week 52. This work adds to the body of evidence in favour of pirfenidone in selected cases of IPF, but the endpoints are of questionable clinical significance. The best study parameters have been described as those which measure how well patients feel, function or survive (Richeldi, 2013). To date, progression-free survival has not been properly validated as a marker of survival in IPF.

The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence approved the use of pirfenidone in a specified subset of IPF patients and the FDA followed suit in 2014 (NICE, 2013b; U.S. Food and Drug Administration, 2014).

Nintedanib

Several other novel agents are currently under investigation for the treatment of IPF (Woodcock and Maher, 2014). Amongst these, the drug most likely to feature in clinical practice in the near future is nintedanib, a tyrosine kinase inhibitor. Nintedanib has inhibitory effects on platelet-derived growth factor receptors, fibroblast proliferation and fibroblast-myofibroblast transformation (Wollin *et al.*, 2014).

In the phase 2, double-blinded TOMORROW (To imprOve pulMOnaRy fibROsis With BIBF 1120) study, nintedanib was compared with placebo in a total of 432 patients with IPF (Richeldi *et al.*, 2011). The patients in the treatment arm received one of four escalating doses. Compared with placebo, the difference in the primary endpoint of change in FVC failed to reach statistical significance for any of the treatment arms; p=0.06 for the highest dose (150mg twice daily) group. Treatment with nintedanib was associated with improved quality-of-life scores and fewer acute exacerbations.

Two replicate phase 3 trials of nintedanib have also been reported (Richeldi *et al.*, 2014). The INPULSIS-I and -2 (Efficacy And Safety Of Nintedanib In Patients With Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis) studies randomised a total of 1066 patients to nintedanib or placebo and recorded annual rate of decline in FVC as the primary endpoint. The patients in the treatment arms both had a significantly lower decline in FVC. In INPULSIS-2 alone, the patients in the treatment treatment group had a longer time to first exacerbation and a lower decline in health-related

quality of life. There was no significant difference in survival but the treatment groups tended to better outcomes. The proportion of patients who died from any cause was 5.5% in the nintedanib group and 7.8% in the placebo group. Following publication of these data, nintedanib has been widely approved for clinical use in IPF (Raghu *et al.*, 2015b).

Since its recognition as a distinct disease entity, drug development in IPF has been slow. These recent publications represent modest progress in the field, but meaningful advances remain elusive. Significant improvements in treatment for IPF rely on an improved understanding of the factors driving the fibrotic process.

1.1.5 Aetiopathogenesis

IPF results in a morphology of lung disease known as usual interstitial pneumonia (UIP) which is characteristic and well described. In contrast the causative agents resulting in IPF are unknown and the cellular pathogenesis is not well understood.

IPF was originally thought to be a disease of inflammation (Keogh and Crystal, 1982). Alveolitis was reported as a consistent feature of IPF lungs and was considered to provide a unifying pathogenic explanation for IPF and a range of other interstitial lung diseases (Carrington and Gaensler, 1978; Keogh and Crystal, 1982). After fibrotic foci became recognised in IPF, the evidence for alveolitis as the primary disorder came into question: inflammation is not a prominent finding in UIP and anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive therapy fails to improve disease outcome (Selman *et al.*, 2001).

Genetic studies

In 2001, Nogee et al reported the association of a mutation in *SFPC*, the gene encoding surfactant protein C, with interstitial lung disease in a mother and her child (Nogee *et al.*, 2001). Other groups have since identified mutations in *SFPA2* (encoding surfactant protein A2) and further mutations in *SFPC*. These surfactant proteins are expressed solely by type 2 alveolar epithelial cells (AECIIs).

In 2007, two independent groups studying familial pulmonary fibrosis identified mutations in *TERT* (encoding telomerase reverse transcriptase) and *TERC* (encoding the RNA component of the telomerase complex). Telomerase repairs damage that occurs as telomeres are shortened with each round of mitosis. Interestingly, short telomeres have been demonstrated in AECIIs in a high proportion of individuals with sporadic IPF, suggesting a
role for telomerase dysfunction in non-familial forms of the disease. The link between IPF and telomerase dysfunction may help to explain why the disease is predominantly a disease of older people (Tsakiri *et al.*, 2007).

More recently, a whole genome linkage study of IPF identified a common polymorphism in the promoter of the mucin gene *MUC5B* (*Seibold et al., 2011*). This mutation was found in 34% of cases of familial pulmonary fibrosis, 38% of cases of sporadic IPF and 9% of healthy controls.

Alveolar epithelial cells in the pathogenesis of IPF

A common theme amongst all the mutations identified to date is that they affect genes that are expressed in type 2 epithelial cells (e.g. *SFPC, SFPA, MUC5B*) or lead to identifiable changes within them (*TERT, TERC*)(Wolters *et al.*, 2014). AECIIs make up 60% of all alveolar epithelial cells (Crapo *et al.*, 1982). In addition to their role in surfactant production, they contribute to immune defences and fluid balance in the lung (Pison *et al.*, 1994; Fehrenbach, 2001). AECIIs have become a focus of research into IPF pathogenesis.

Within all cells, the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) is the site of newly synthesised secretory and membrane proteins. After translation, proteins must be appropriately folded and modified before they can be transported. These processes rely on chaperone proteins and a conducive environment within the endoplasmic reticulum. If the functional capacity of the ER is overwhelmed, an unfolded protein response (UPR) is initiated in an attempt to restore homeostasis (Zhang and Kaufman, 2004). Markers of the UPR include over-expression of BiP (binding immunoglobulin protein, an ER-associated chaperone protein) and the transcription factor X-box-protein 1 (XBP-1). A persistent state of stress will result in apoptotic cell death, which is mediated by the signalling proteins CHOP and ATF-6 (Zhang and Kaufman, 2004).

The SP-C mutation originally described by Nogee results in a failure of normal truncation of surfactant, prior to its release from the ER (Beers *et al.*, 1998). In a human lung epithelial cell line, SFPC mutations led to increased expression of BiP and XBP-1. Cells expressing mutant SFPC also had increased activation of caspase-4, an ER-specific caspase that triggers apoptosis in the setting of overwhelming ER stress (Mulugeta *et al.*, 2005). Expression of these markers of ER stress has subsequently been demonstrated in AECIIs in both familial and sporadic IPF (Lawson *et al.*, 2008). Furthermore, in stained sections of IPF lungs, 70-80% of AECIIs demonstrated ongoing signs of apoptosis (Korfei *et al.*, 2008).

TGF-β activation

Transforming growth factor β (TGF- β) is a highly conserved, pro-fibrotic cytokine. It is released in an inactive form, bound to the latency-associated peptide (LAP) and latent TGF- β -binding proteins. Levels of active TGF- β are increased in IPF (Krein and Winston, 2002). As lung fibrosis develops, AECs express increased levels of the integrin $\alpha_v\beta_6$, which can bind to LAP and activate TGF- β (Munger *et al.*, 1999; Jenkins *et al.*, 2006; Horan *et al.*, 2008). Active TGF- β does not appear to be released in a soluble form, so the resultant signalling is localised within the lung. Given the spatial heterogeneity of usual interstitial pneumonia, this property makes for an attractive pathogenic candidate in IPF. Possible pro-fibrotic processes associated with TGF- β activation include differentiation of fibroblasts to myofibroblasts and activation of programming that promotes mesenchymal transition of epithelial cells (Kim *et al.*, 2006; Scotton and Chambers, 2007).

Epithelial to mesenchymal transition

Epithelial cells are derived from the embryological endoderm. They are anchored on a basement membrane and have a polarity, with basal and apical surfaces contributing to function. Mesenchymal cells originate in the embryological mesoderm. Mesenchymal tissue is characterised by loosely associated cells surrounded by an extracellular matrix. They lack polarity and can migrate easily (Kalluri and Neilson, 2003; Lee *et al.*, 2006).

Epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) is a process by which epithelial cells transdifferentiate into mesenchymal stem cells. EMT is not required for normal tissue haemostasis but it does play a role in normal development and wound healing. In disease, EMT can result in fibrosis and malignancy.

In IPF lungs, immunohistochemical and RNA quantitation techniques have been used to demonstrate co-localisation of proteins associated with epithelial and mesenchymal cells. Thyroid transcription factor 1 and pro-surfactant protein B (AECII markers) were seen in association with α -smooth muscle actin (a mesenchymal protein) in the majority of AECs in IPF lungs; there was no co-localisation in normal lungs (Willis *et al.*, 2005; Marmai *et al.*, 2011).

Despite these reports, the role of EMT in IPF remains unproven. It is not clear whether epithelial cells acquire sufficient mesenchymal characteristics that they can be classified as

fibroblasts (Kage and Borok, 2012). It is also possible that cells undergo mesenchymal-toepithelial transition. This alternative process of transformation may also give rise to similar patterns of co-localisation (Li *et al.*, 2010).

From epithelial cell injury to fibrosis

The existence of fibroblastic foci in the IPF lung indicates a potential, much needed and logical pathophysiological mechanism in the aetiology of IPF. It also emphasises the significance of the lung epithelium. The links between genetic predisposition, epithelial cell injury, ER stress and fibrosis remain unclear. In mice, lung fibrosis can be induced using bleomycin, an antibiotic and chemotherapeutic produced by *Streptomyces verticillus*. This model has been used extensively in IPF research but does not correlate perfectly with human pathogenesis. Pulmonary fibrosis develops in the bleomycin mouse model over weeks and months rather than years, as is the case in humans (Wolters *et al.*, 2014). In addition, the pattern of disease that is induced is airway-centric, in contrast to the sub-pleural predominance seen in the IPF lung (Baron *et al.*, 2012).

Mutated forms of surfactant proteins A and C have been associated with up-regulation of the unfolded protein response and EMT in murine models (Bridges *et al.*, 2006; Lawson *et al.*, 2011; Tanjore *et al.*, 2011). Increased levels of active TGFβ have also been demonstrated (Maitra *et al.*, 2012). Furthermore, there is some evidence that ER stress can result in EMT (Zhong *et al.*, 2011).

Whilst these links between genetic predisposition and EMT are intriguing, the end result of fibrosis has yet to be demonstrated in the mouse model. This may relate to the short murine life span but alternatively, it may indicate a role for external factors in the pathogenesis of IPF (Wolters *et al.*, 2014). Indeed, the fibrotic response to bleomycin was accentuated in mice in which ER stress had been induced (Lawson *et al.*, 2011). Similarly, the effect of herpes virus infection was more pronounced in aged mice, in which ER stress would be induced more easily (Sueblinvong *et al.*, 2012).

Additional mechanisms have been proposed to explain how the initiation and propagation of fibrosis in IPF relate to the interaction between the epithelial cells and the mesenchyme. TGF β , released by epithelial cells, can signal to fibroblasts and convert them to α SMA-producing myofibroblasts (Xu *et al.*, 2003). AECs also produce higher than normal levels of

the cytokine platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) in IPF (Bergeron *et al.*, 2003). PDGF has been shown to promote fibroblast proliferation (Hetzel *et al.*, 2005).

The dysregulated IPF epithelium may also play a role in cellular recruitment from the circulation. Fibrocytes are a unique population of blood-borne cells that display a specific cell-surface phenotype. They are thought to migrate to tissues to support wound healing and fibrotic tissue repair (Quan *et al.*, 2006). Alveolar epithelial cells express ligands with corresponding receptors on fibrocytes, the levels of which are increased in IPF lungs (Mehrad *et al.*, 2007; Andersson-Sjoland *et al.*, 2008; Strieter *et al.*, 2009).

Wnt proteins are also over-expressed in IPF lungs. These soluble glycoproteins are produced by epithelial cells and deposited locally in an insoluble form after release (Nusse, 2003). A series of studies led to the identification of Wnt3a as a stimulator of type I collagen production (Wolters *et al.*, 2014). The related downstream signalling molecule has been localised in nuclei of fibroblastic foci (Chilosi *et al.*, 2003; Kim *et al.*, 2009).

Several other lines of investigation are currently underway. The matrix in IPF is grossly modified and it has been shown that the increased stiffness may contribute to increased levels of pro-fibrotic cytokines, with the potential for a feed-forward auto-amplified loop mediated by α SMA and COX2 expression (Liu *et al.*, 2010; Booth *et al.*, 2012; Marinkovic *et al.*, 2012). There are also numerous parallels between the pathogenicity of IPF and cancer, with CD44 and hyaluronan synthase proposed as mediators of the invasive activated myofibroblast phenotype seen in IPF (Li *et al.*, 2011). Lastly, a number of recent epigenetic studies may help to explain the durable phenotypic changes seen in IPF lungs (Pandit *et al.*, 2010; Rabinovich *et al.*, 2012).

In summary, some important observations regarding the pathogenesis of IPF have been made. The role of the alveolar epithelial cells and the complex interactions between AECIIs and the mesenchymal cells are better understood but the relative importance of the various molecular mechanisms remains unclear. The current paradigm holds that in a susceptible individual, a series of subclinical insults damages the alveoli over time. An aberrant repair response, with excess matrix deposition and architectural remodelling, gives rise to the typical clinical, radiological and pathological features (Selman *et al.*, 2001; Murray and Nadel, 2005).

Much of the current research in IPF is aimed at modifying this aberrant response within the lungs. Relatively little work has been done to identify the factors responsible for the initial damage.

Aetiological factors

The role of several environmental agents has been explored. Cigarette smoking is associated with the development of IPF. In one study the odds ratio for ever smoking was 1.6 (95% CI: 1.1 to 2.4) but no clear exposure-response pattern has been demonstrated (Baumgartner *et al.*, 1997). Epidemiological data also suggests an increased odds ratios for developing IPF after exposure to birds, livestock and several dusts (Kottmann *et al.*, 2009). Viruses have also been implicated in the pathogenesis of IPF, including Epstein-Barr virus, human herpes viruses 7 and 8 and cytomegalovirus (Yonemaru *et al.*, 1997; Tang *et al.*, 2003). To date, no causative role has been demonstrated for any of these agents.

Over the last forty years a body of evidence has emerged in support of an association between IPF and gastro-oesophageal reflux disease (GORD). Whilst the data to support a contributory role for GORD remains at an early stage, evidence for the link between the two conditions is increasingly persuasive (section 1.3). GORD is common and amenable to treatment and as a result, it has been identified as a research priority in IPF (NICE, 2013a). The following sections cover the assessment and treatment of gastro-oesophageal reflux and aspiration, and explore the link that has been suggested between these conditions and IPF.

1.2 Gastro-oesophageal reflux and aspiration

Aspiration occurs when oesophageal or oropharyngeal contents penetrate the larynx and then cross the glottis into the trachea, Figure 1-2. Aspiration from the oesophagus is the result of gastro-oesophageal reflux of material originating from the stomach and/or duodenum. The possibility that reflux might contribute to the pathogenesis of interstitial lung disease has been considered for over forty years (Pearson and Wilson, 1971).



Figure 1-2. Schematic anatomy of the mouth, pharynx and upper aerodigestive tracts. Adapted from Cranial Nerves, 3rd edition. (Reproduced from (Pauwells *et al.*, 1998)).

1.2.1 Gastro-oesophageal reflux disease

Gastro-oesophageal reflux disease (GORD) is defined as reflux that causes troublesome symptoms, mucosal injury in the oesophagus, or both (Vakil *et al.*, 2006). It is one of the commonest triggers for medical consultation in the developed world and its treatment accounts for the biggest single drug expenditure in the NHS. Prevalence estimates vary widely due to differing disease definitions, but the best estimates lie between 10 and 20% in the developed world (Dent *et al.*, 2005; El-Serag *et al.*, 2009).

The cardinal symptoms of GORD are heartburn and regurgitation. Heartburn is generally described as a burning retrosternal pain. It is the result of distal oesophageal acid exposure (Bredenoord *et al.*, 2013). Regurgitation is defined as the backflow of gastric contents into the mouth, often with an acidic or bitter taste. Volume regurgitation, vomiting and dysphagia may also be experienced. Symptoms of extra-oesophageal reflux can arise from laryngopharyngeal reflux (LPR) or microaspiration. Voice change, pharyngitis, dental decay and chronic cough can all occur. In a large cohort study of reflux oesophagitis, elderly

patients had less typical and more-nonspecific symptoms than younger groups (Pilotto *et al.*, 2006).

Accurate diagnosis can be challenging, as a significant proportion of symptomatic cases are associated with a normal endoscopy, a condition described as non-erosive reflux disease. Conversely, up to 20% of patients with endoscopic oesophagitis and/or Barrett's oesophagus never experience heartburn (Sloan *et al.*, 1992). Over the years, the concept of the disease has evolved in light of emerging diagnostic tools, each with their own strengths and limitations (Table 1-2).

Era	Modality of investigation	Abnormality identified	Limitation
1940s-	Plain radiography	Hiatus hernia	GORD can occur without hiatus hernia; hiatus hernia can exist without GORD
1960s-	Upper gastro-intestinal endoscopy	Mucosal inflammation and disruption	Non-erosive reflux disease not detected
1970s-	Ambulatory pH monitoring	Supranormal distal oesophageal acid exposure	Non-acid and weakly acid refluxate not detected

Table 1-2. Evolving techniques with which GORD has been investigated

The antireflux barrier

Retrograde flow of gastric contents into the oesophagus is a physiological event that helps to vent the stomach. The symptoms and signs of GORD can occur when the frequency or volume of reflux is excessive, or the oesophageal mucosa is hypersensitive or frankly injured. The balance of factors that predispose to or protect against reflux are essentially mechanical. On the one hand the oesophagus is largely exposed to the negative pressure of the chest, whilst the stomach is normally exposed to the positive pressure of the abdomen. This is the only site within the gastrointestinal tract where a segment of the gut is in continuity with a distal region at higher pressure. Continuous gastro-oesophageal reflux is prevented by the structure and function of the gastro-oesophageal junction and the diaphragm. In addition, peristalsis is a barrier as it returns refluxate to the stomach.

Extra-oesophageal factors

The diaphragmatic crura are tendinous structures that attach inferiorly to the anterior aspect of the vertebral column. The right crus forms a sling that surrounds the distal oesophagus, creating a teardrop-shaped canal known as the oesophageal hiatus. This structure serves as an extrinsic sphincter.

In normal anatomy, the terminal oesophagus and the proximal stomach are orientated at an acute angle (Figure 1-3). This configuration is jointly maintained by the orientation of certain fibres within the wall of the stomach and also by the phreno-oesophageal ligament, running between the under-surface of the diaphragm and the oesophagus (Atkinson and Sumerling, 1959; Bombeck *et al.*, 1966).

As a result, the terminal portion of the oesophagus is intra-abdominal. Pressure spikes are therefore transmitted to the oesophageal lumen, preventing a net gastro-oesophageal pressure gradient and protecting against reflux. In addition, the angle between the oesophagus and stomach creates a flap-valve mechanism that also prevents reflux (Figure 1-3).

Figure 1-3. The gastro-oesophageal junction. Left: 3D reconstruction, illustrating the intra-abdominal portion of the terminal oesophagus and its acute angle of entry into the stomach. An endoscope is seen in the retroflexed position. Right: Endoscopic view in retroflexion. Taken from Hill *et al.* (1996).



Lower-oesophageal sphincter

In addition to the external elements, there is a length of tonically contracted circular muscle within the terminal oesophagus that acts as an intrinsic barrier to reflux. Although the lower oesophageal sphincter cannot be defined anatomically, manometry reveals a high-pressure zone of around 1-4cm that behaves as a physiological sphincter (Fox and Bredenoord, 2008). Relaxation is observed with swallowing and a hypertonic response is seen due to abdominal compression (bending, straining, coughing) or a drop in intrathoracic pressure (deep inspiration, sniffing)(Bredenoord *et al.*, 2013). With the development of oesophageal manometry, the concept of a Transient Lower Oesophageal Sphincter Relaxation (TLOSRs) was introduced (Mittal *et al.*, 1995). The resting tone of the crural diaphragm is inhibited due to a vagally mediated reflex triggered by gastric distension (Mittal and Fisher, 1990). TLOSRs serve to vent gas from the stomach.

Pathophysiology of GORD

The pathogenesis of GORD relates to the thoraco-abdominal pressure gradient and the constituents of the antireflux barrier.

With respect to the lower oesophageal sphincter, TLOSRs represent the most important cause of reflux. In healthy individuals, physiological reflux occurs almost exclusively as the result of TLOSRs, rather than from defective basal LOS pressure (Dent *et al.*, 1980). In subjects with GORD, spontaneous reflux across a hypotonic LOS accounts for a greater proportion of reflux events, but TLOSRs remain the dominant mechanism (Dent *et al.*, 1988). Historically, the presence of a hiatus hernia was regarded as crucial to the pathogenesis of GORD. It is now understood that the majority of patients with a hiatus hernia are asymptomatic(Kahrilas *et al.*, 1999). This may be explained by the action of a strong layer of endo-abdominal fascia known as the phreno-oesophageal ligament (Cohen and Harris, 1971). Whilst a portion of the stomach can be seen above the diaphragm on an x-ray, its encasement within this layer maintains the pressure gradient across the gastro-oesophageal junction.

The presence of a hiatus hernia is, nonetheless, a significant risk factor for GORD. As more of the stomach moves up into the chest, the flap-valve mechanism is lost. The length of the sphincter exposed to intra-abdominal pressure is also significant: DeMeester demonstrated that a low basal LOS pressure and/or a short intra-abdominal sphincter length resulted in a 90% incidence of abnormal GOR (Joelsson *et al.*, 1982).

Post-prandially, an unbuffered "acid pocket" may be demonstrated within the proximal stomach, sitting above the meal (Beaumont *et al.*, 2010). This results from the absence of peristaltic contractions in the proximal stomach. In the presence of a hiatus hernia, this acidic reservoir sits above the diaphragmatic crura, ready to reflux back into the oesophagus.

Above the gastro-oesophageal junction, dysfunction of the oesophageal body may also predispose to GORD. Prolonged acid clearance correlates with both the severity of oesophagitis and the presence of Barrett's metaplasia (Gillen *et al.*, 1987; Singh *et al.*, 1992). Failed peristalsis and hypotensive contractions can both result in incomplete oesophageal emptying and prolonged mucosal exposure to refluxate (Kahrilas *et al.*, 1988). Any condition that chronically increases intra-abdominal pressure will also amplify GOR. Pregnancy is a

physiological example. The association of obesity has also been proven (Derakhshan *et al.*, 2012).

Diagnosis of GORD

Given that gastro-oesophageal reflux (GOR) is a physiological occurrence, it is not surprising that many people regard the milder symptoms of GORD as normal. Self–medication with over-the-counter treatments is common. For those patients who present to primary care with symptoms that respond to acid-suppressive medications, no further tests are required.

Patients who present with "alarm" symptoms such as dysphagia, weight loss and haematemesis require investigation with flexible upper gastro-intestinal video-endoscopy. The test serves to rule out alternative pathology such as infection, eosinophilic oesophagitis and malignancy and also to identify oesophagitis and metaplastic change.

Ambulatory monitoring

GORD is routinely diagnosed using 24-hour oesophageal pH monitoring. Stationary oesophageal manometry is used to accurately locate the lower oesophageal sphincter and the pH probe is then inserted. The number and duration of pH drops are recorded using an electronic recording box and compared with values recorded from studies of healthy volunteers (Zerbib *et al.*, 2005). The patient is asked to record symptom episodes by buttonpress so that symptom-event correlation may be calculated.

The major limitation of stand-alone pH monitoring is that weakly acid and non-acid reflux are missed. The solution to this problem came in the form of combined pH-impedance monitoring. The addition of 8 metal rings to the catheter allows measurement of the electrical resistance across 6 oesophageal segments. The resting impedance is that of the oesophageal mucosa and the passage of liquid and gas can be detected based on their impedance properties, Figure 1-4. In this way, the timing and proximal extent of any refluxate may be recorded be it acid, weakly acid or non-acid. Figure 1-4. The configuration of impedance and pH catheters within an intraluminal probe. The impedance drop illustrated is first detected distally before ascending to the most proximal channel. The pH trace, measured 5cm proximal to the LOS, remains above 4. This recording therefore demonstrates proximal, weakly acid reflux. [Oesophageal schematic taken from software licensed to MMS International (Enschede, The Netherlands)].



1.2.2 Treatment of GORD

The treatment of GORD may be thought of as a ladder, ranging from lifestyle modifications through to surgery.

Lifestyle

Due to the mechanical nature of GORD, simple measures to address thoraco-abdominal pressure imbalance are often effective. Weight loss and the avoidance of tight clothing are advised as appropriate. Late meals should be avoided as oesophagogastric peristalsis is diminished overnight and the antireflux effect of gravity is also lost. For patients affected by nocturnal symptoms, elevating the head of the bed may help. Smoking and excessive alcohol consumption are associated with an increased risk of GORD but there is no evidence that cessation is helpful in controlling symptoms (Nilsson *et al.*, 2004; Kaltenbach *et al.*, 2006). Antireflux diets have been marketed but there is no strong evidence to support their use.

Pharmacological

Non-prescription treatments for GORD include simple antacids (e.g. Rennies) and alginate raft therapies (e.g. Gaviscon). Simple antacids work to buffer gastric acid, whilst raft therapies are designed to form a layer on top of gastric contents and provide a mechanical barrier to reflux. They may also protect the mucus and cells in the oesophagus (Mandel *et al.*, 2000).

Acid-suppression therapies provide effective relief from GORD in the majority of patients. The introduction of histamine type 2 receptor blockers (H2RBs) in the 1970s revolutionised the treatment of duodenal ulcer disease, but are less effective for GORD. Proton-pump inhibitors (e.g. Omeprazole) were introduced into clinical practice in the late 1980s and are far more effective for both symptom control and for the healing of oesophagitis. A proportion of patients have symptoms refractory to maximum dose PPI, commonly those with worse oesophagitis (Hetzel *et al.*, 1988). Despite initial treatment success, some patients will go on to develop breakthrough symptoms, often requiring higher doses to maintain symptom control. Inadequate acid suppression or the injurious effects of non-acid components may be responsible (Kauer *et al.*, 1995).

Prokinetics are often used in the treatment of GORD, albeit in the absence of robust clinical evidence. Cisapride, which accelerates oesophagogastric emptying through increased acetylcholine release, was proven to be effective as a treatment for GORD (McCallum *et al.*, 1988). Concerns regarding its cardiac safety profile have since led to its withdrawal in the UK and elsewhere (Committee on Safety of Medicines, 2000). Domperidone is an antidopaminergic prokinetic that is also used in GORD, but there is limited evidence to support its use (Halter *et al.*, 1997; Veldhuyzen van Zanten *et al.*, 2001).

Surgery

Patients with volume reflux and symptoms refractory to maximal medical therapy may be considered for antireflux surgery. Those reluctant to use PPI therapy lifelong will also be considered by some surgeons. The majority of procedures are now undertaken laparoscopically as faster recovery times and lower rates of incisional hernia have been demonstrated (Peters *et al.*, 2009).

The original antireflux procedure was described in 1956 by Rudolf Nissen and the principles he set out are still respected today (Nissen, 1956). The gastric fundus is mobilised and

wrapped around the gastro-oesophageal junction so as to tighten it and anchor it within the abdomen. In a randomised controlled trial in which 372 patients were followed up for five years, the remission rates for laparoscopic antireflux surgery and esomeprazole PPI treatment were equivalent. By the end of the study period, acid regurgitation was more common in the PPI cohort and dysphagia, bloating and flatulence were more common in the fundoplication group (Galmiche *et al.*, 2011).

The operation that Nissen originally described is a 360° posterior fundoplication but tailored wraps have also been used in an attempt to reduce the risk of dysphagia and gas-related symptoms. Over the last five years, several meta-analyses have compared the outcomes of anterior partial, posterior partial and total fundoplication. The results are conflicting. Partial fundoplication may carry a lesser risk of side-effects but the relative treatment efficacy remains unclear (Ramos *et al.*, 2011; Ma *et al.*, 2012; Broeders *et al.*, 2013).

Novel techniques

A range of innovative techniques has been developed for the treatment of GORD. Endoscopic options include suturing devices, transmural staplers, and radiofrequency ablation. Surgical developments include the placement of a flexible band of magnetic beads and implantation of an electrical stimulator. Initial studies of the surgical techniques have demonstrated encouraging results but high quality trials with extended follow-up will be required before uptake is more widespread (Bonavina *et al.*, 2010; Rodriguez *et al.*, 2012).

1.3 The association of reflux and IPF

Reflux and aspiration have been recognised as precipitants of acute lung injury since early in the 20th century but the relevance to chronic lung disease has only been recognised more recently (Mendelson, 1946). In 1971, Pearson reported six cases of chronic pulmonary fibrosis within a series of 143 patients with hiatus hernia (Pearson and Wilson, 1971). Mays later reported that 26 of 48 patients with idiopathic fibrosis had fluoroscopic evidence of pathological gastro-oesophageal reflux, in comparison with 23 of 270 age-matched controls (Mays *et al.*, 1976).

El-Serag referred to endoscopic records to provide more robust evidence of the association: in an analysis of population data, the odds ratio for pulmonary fibrosis in 100,000 patients with erosive oesophagitis was 1.36 (95% C.I. 1.25-1.48)(El-Serag and Sonnenberg, 1997).

In a retrospective study, the spatial and temporal patterns of fibrosis were analysed in a group of patients with IPF. A group of 32 patients was found to have asymmetrical disease across the right and left lungs. When compared to a control group with more symmetrical disease, these individuals had high levels of GOR and numerous acute exacerbations. The authors concluded that asymmetrical IPF may be related to locoregional factors including reflux (Tcherakian *et al.*, 2011).

Tobin made the first use of ambulatory pH monitoring to compare the rate of GOR in IPF and other interstitial lung diseases (Tobin *et al.*, 1998). This important study reported that 16 of 17 patients with IPF had abnormal distal and/or proximal acid exposure compared with four of eight controls. Significantly, only four of the IPF patients with GORD had typical reflux symptoms such as reflux and heartburn. This finding has been reproduced consistently in subsequent studies (Raghu *et al.*, 2006a). In addition, Tobin's report demonstrated proximal supine reflux to be commonplace. This may have clinical relevance as the resting upper oesophageal sphincter pressure is lower at night, so transit of refluxate into the oropharynx would occur more easily (Kahrilas *et al.*, 1987). The significance of the findings was limited by the sample size and the technique used to site the pH probe; the lower oesophageal sphincter was identified according to the increase in pH from the stomach to the oesophagus. In cases of hiatus hernia, this technique can be unreliable (Mattox *et al.*, 1992). More recent ambulatory pH studies have made use of oesophageal manometry, improving localisation of the lower oesophageal sphincter and providing data on oesophageal motility (Savarino *et al.*, 2013).

Only two of these studies included comparison groups. Raghu et al studied 133 asthmatics with symptoms of reflux and Soares included 28 connective tissue disease-related ILD patients (Raghu *et al.,* 2006a; Soares *et al.,* 2011). There was objective evidence of GORD in 68% and 82% of these groups, respectively.

More recently, the concentration of gastroduodenal biomarkers have been analysed in BAL samples in an attempt to quantify microaspiration. The stomach contains a mixture of substances including food, acid and bile salts. The physiological origin of these potential aspirates is illustrated in Figure 1-5.





In one study, 40 IPF patients had more gastro-oesophageal reflux and higher levels of BAL pepsin and bile salts than non-IPF ILD patients and healthy volunteers. Specific methodological issues limit the significance of these findings. Bile salts were measured using a commercially available spectrophotometric assay, for which the quoted lower detection limit was significantly higher than the bile salt concentrations reported in the paper (Savarino *et al.*, 2013).

In another recent publication, BAL pepsin concentrations were measured with a commercially available ELISA and correlated with clinical follow-up data in 54 IPF patients. The measured pepsin levels in the patients who suffered acute exacerbations during the study period were significantly higher than the levels seen in the stable group (Lee *et al.*, 2012).

Cause and effect in reflux and fibrosis

The studies discussed above provide preliminary evidence of an association between GOR and IPF, but the nature of the relationship remains unclear. GOR may contribute to IPF, but the possibility that fibrosis causes GORD in people with IPF must also be considered. There are several mechanisms that could account for this latter relationship: More negative intrathoracic pressures are required for inspiration in fibrotic lungs and this amplifies the normal gastro-oesophageal pressure gradient. Significant intra-thoracic fibrosis may contribute to the oesophageal dysmotility seen in IPF. This would result in slower oesophageal bolus clearance and prolonged oesophageal volume exposure, in turn worsening reflux symptoms and ambulatory pH results. Finally, lung fibrosis may disrupt the relationship of the crural diaphragm and the lower oesophageal sphincter, weakening the antireflux barrier.

Given the mechanical nature of these effects it may be assumed that more advanced fibrosis would be associated with more severe reflux. Such a link has never been demonstrated.

Noth studied the link between hiatus hernia and IPF using multidetector CT scanning (Noth *et al.*). The study population included 100 patients with IPF, in whom hiatus hernia was identified more commonly than in control patients. There was no correlation between hiatus hernia and disease severity, as assessed by lung function tests.

In an important study describing the link between anti-reflux therapy and IPF survival outcomes, Lee et al also considered radiological disease severity and physiological measures of thoracic restriction (Lee *et al.*, 2011). GOR medication use was associated with less radiologic fibrosis and there was no correlation between GOR medication use and thoracic restriction.

Lastly, studies of ambulatory pH monitoring have failed to correlate IPF disease severity with objective evidence of reflux (Tobin *et al.*, 1998; Patti *et al.*, 2005; Raghu *et al.*, 2006a).

The results of these studies are contrary to the hypothesis that pulmonary fibrosis and mediastinal distortion significantly exacerbate gastro-oesophageal reflux but the evidence is scarce and indirect. Further study is required to clarify this issue.

Experimental models of microaspiration

The link between gastro-oesophageal reflux, aspiration and lung disease has also been explored through animal models and in vitro. Early work originated in anaesthetics with the observation that single large-volume aspiration events were associated with significant mortality (Mendelson, 1946). Early studies outlined the acute phase pathophysiology observed in aspiration pneumonitis: in small and medium-size animal models, intra-tracheal instillation of large volumes of acidic gastric juice resulted in endothelial cell damage, increased capillary permeability, and scattered intra-alveolar haemorrhage (Teabeaut, 1952; Greenfield *et al.*, 1969). Several hours later, an acute inflammatory response follows, comprised primarily of alveolar neutrophils and macrophages. These observations provide a useful blueprint as to the effects of gastric aspiration into the lungs, but the volumes instilled limit their relevance to chronic microaspiration.

In a pig model, Popper et al described the longer term effects of aspiration in addition to the administration of putative treatments (Popper *et al.*, 1986). Twelve pigs had gastric juice instilled into the right main bronchus and a further nine were given either hydrochloric acid, pepsin (either dissolved or neutralised) or bicarbonate-buffered gastric juice. In the "experimental" arm of the study, a further 25 animals were treated with acid suppression therapy, antacids or kallikrein inhibitor before or after gastric juice aspiration.

The initial insult involved necrosis of pneumocytes and bronchial epithelial cells. Inflammation was propagated via the complement cascade and arachidonic acid metabolites. Macrophages predominated in the early cell response and later, fibroblasts and myofibroblasts were seen. The neutralisation of gastric juice did not prevent the development of lung fibrosis and aspiration of both hydrochloric acid and pepsin also resulted in lung fibrosis. Consistent with the findings of a previous experiment in dogs (Schwartz *et al.*, 1980), the work by Popper was one of the earliest reports to suggest that acidity may not be critical to the lung damage observed in aspiration syndromes. The same conclusion has been reached in studies employing models of chronic aspiration and alloimmunity (Hartwig *et al.*, 2006; Downing *et al.*, 2008).

The link with aspiration has been supported by the findings of more recent studies. Amigoni et al developed a low mortality mouse model in which repeated small volume aspirates resulted in scar formation that was histologically evident at 2 weeks post injury (Amigoni *et al.*, 2008). More recently, Samareh Fekri et al used another mouse model to demonstrate that repetitive acid aspiration resulted in an increase in TGF- β 1 in the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid, with associated increases in fibronectin and type III and IV collagen (Samareh Fekri *et al.*, 2014).

The mechanisms driving this fibrosis were partially elucidated by Appel et al (2007). 48 rats underwent weekly instillation of either gastric juice or normal saline for up to 16 weeks. In this study, gastric juice resulted in giant cells, fibrosis and lymphocytic bronchiolitis. There were higher macrophage and T cell concentrations, an increased CD4:CD8 T cell ratio and higher concentrations of IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-2, TNF α and TGF β , suggesting a TH1 cytokinedominated profile. The authors propose that the resultant lymphocyte trafficking and activation could make for an inflammatory milieu, with the individual's response influencing the phenotypic response in the lung. Most patients would respond with a normal reparative response whereas others may be more prone to persistent fibrosis.

Interestingly, the inflammatory responses reported in these animal models appear to be largely localised to the affected lungs. Downing et al subjected rats to weekly aspiration of isolated components of gastric juice or normal saline (Downing *et al.*, 2008). In addition to histological evaluation, serum cytokine analysis was reported, which suggested that the effects of aspiration in the model were localised.

A number of studies have been designed to clarify the effect of specific components of gastric juice. Particulate food matter has consistently been shown to be harmful and is generally associated with an intense granulomatous response. The earliest animal studies concluded that the acidity of gastric juice is a significant factor but more recent studies provide compelling evidence that the effects of gastric juice aspiration are acid-independent. Pepsin, even in isolation, appears harmful; a recent report of a rat model of chronic aspiration suggested that pepsin aspiration resulted in more marked inflammation and fibrosis than comparable quantities of gastric juice or hydrochloric acid but these findings have not been widely replicated. The available data on the role of bile acids from rodent models of aspiration is also conflicting. Some investigators have reported a toxicity profile that exceeds comparable quantities of gastric juice and provided early descriptions of the

cytokine pathways that may be responsible (Porembka *et al.*, 1993; Su *et al.*, 2013), whilst others report a pulmonary response equivalent to the aspiration of normal saline (Downing *et al.*, 2008).

In a canine model, use of a balloon-catheter to induce upper airways obstruction demonstrated a significant positive correlation between negative intrathoracic pressures and acid reflux (Boesch *et al.*, 2005). This small study (n=4) may provide evidence as to how long-term pressure changes affect gastric aspiration.

Perhaps the most likely explanation to account for these various strands of evidence is that reflux and fibrosis may both contribute to each other (Brownlee *et al.*, 2010). Ultimately, clinical trials of the effectiveness of antireflux therapy in IPF are required.

1.3.1 Pharmacological treatment of GORD in IPF

Published data on the treatment of GORD in IPF come from retrospective studies reporting on heterogeneous patient groups. To date, two have focused on the medical management of reflux disease.

In 2006, Raghu reported a series of four patients with IPF who declined conventional medical therapy with steroids or immunomodulation (Raghu *et al.*, 2006c). Beyond home oxygen, the only treatment was directed at acid suppression: all patients were treated with proton pump inhibitors and one with fundoplication in addition. In contrast to the intractable decline in lung function normally seen in the disease, these patients demonstrated either stabilisation or improvement of their pulmonary function tests. The patients were followed up for a mean of 55 months, during which time no acute exacerbations were suffered and no specific treatment for respiratory problems was required. The significance of these results is clearly limited by the sample size. In addition, oxygen therapy is now recognised as an effective treatment adjunct in IPF (Morrison and Stovall, 1992; Raghu *et al.*, 2011).

Lee et al reported a retrospective review of 204 IPF patients that sought to assess the impact of antireflux therapy (Lee *et al.*, 2011). Use of antireflux medication was independently associated with lower radiological fibrosis scores and longer survival. The retrospective, uncontrolled design of the study precludes any formal comparison between the two groups. In addition, the use of acid-suppressive medication does not exclude gastro-oesophageal reflux; a significant proportion of patients with IPF have abnormal GOR despite taking PPI (Raghu *et al.*, 2006a).

Recently, the effect of high dose acid-suppression therapy on cough was studied in a small group of IPF patients (n=14) (Kilduff *et al.*, 2014). After eight weeks, there was a significant decrease in the number of acid reflux events but no change in cough frequency, as measured with a 24-hour cough monitor. Interestingly, non-acid reflux events increased (p=0.01).

One of the most challenging aspects of this area of clinical management is that PPIs and H2 receptor blockers (H2RBs) can only increase the pH of refluxate (Vela *et al.*, 2001; Hemmink *et al.*, 2008). The frequency of reflux events is unaffected and it is unclear whether the volume of refluxate is reduced. It is possible that reducing the volume of gastro-oesophageal refluxate may serve to concentrate non-acid components, resulting in a more injurious microaspiration.

1.3.2 The role of antireflux surgery in IPF

Effective gastro-oesophageal reflux therapy requires a mechanical barrier and the only proven technique to date is antireflux surgery. Such intervention requires general anaesthesia and mechanical ventilation for the duration of the procedure. People with IPF have impaired respiratory function and, often, significant comorbidity. Relatively few are good surgical candidates. In a disease as rare as IPF, these factors make the design of research studies challenging.

Nadrous et al reported the first study of fundoplication in interstitial lung disease in abstract form in 2003. Of the 15 patients included, 13 had IPF and their outcomes were mixed. Five patients had follow-up data available. Pulmonary function tests suggested that two stabilised and three deteriorated.

Linden et al reported on 14 IPF patients awaiting lung transplantation, in whom fundoplication resulted in a significant stabilisation in oxygen requirement when compared with 31 non-fundoplicated IPF controls (Linden *et al.*, 2006). No significant differences in pulmonary function or 6-minute-walk tests were observed.

More recently, Hoppo reported an experience of 43 end-stage lung disease patients (including 14 with IPF) undergoing antireflux surgery before or after lung transplantation (Hoppo *et al.*, 2011). FEV1 improved in both the pre- and post-transplant groups at one year post antireflux surgery (p<0.01). Episodes of pneumonia and acute rejection were significantly reduced in post-transplant patients (p=0.03) or stabilised in pre-transplant patients (p=0.09). The results are not stratified by lung disease and the proportion of patients transplanted for IPF (3 of 24) reflects the rarity with which this treatment option is deployed in IPF. In addition, the vagotomy often associated with lung transplantation generally results in a pattern of dysphagia not otherwise seen. The applicability of these data to the IPF cohort as a whole is therefore limited.

These preliminary reports suggest that there may be a role for antireflux surgery in a wellselected subset of IPF patients. The limited nature of the evidence base reflects the difficulties encountered in this area of research: IPF is rare and patients often have significant comorbidity. Furthermore, the natural history of the disease means that the benefits of surgery can be difficult to show (section 1.1.1).

Two key points emerge from this preliminary literature. In controlled studies of IPF, antireflux surgery has been associated with an improvement in measurable physiology, but not functional status or survival. Secondly, the benefits that have been shown across the groups who have undergone antireflux surgery as a whole have been modest. It is possible that more effective patient selection, for example using biomolecular markers of microaspiration, might yield more favourable results.

A multicentre randomised controlled trial to investigate antireflux surgery in IPF is ongoing in the United States (Collard *et al.*, 2013a). WRAP-IPF (Weighing Risks and Benefits of Laparoscopic Anti-Reflux Surgery in Patients With Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis) randomises patients to receive either antireflux surgery or standard antireflux therapy, as per clinician discretion. The recruitment target is 58 and to be eligible, subjects must be willing to undergo antireflux surgery and fit enough to do so. The primary endpoint is decline in FVC between enrolment and 48 weeks.

This is an important study but it is unlikely that the findings will directly inform clinical practice. The paucity of pilot data indicates that the recruitment target is a pragmatic one. The likelihood of a positive result is therefore unclear. The relevance of antireflux surgery to the IPF patient group as a whole will be difficult to assess. In addition, no quality of life analysis is planned.

Even as better evidence becomes available, decisions will remain challenging for clinicians and patients alike. Section 1.5 below considers some of the techniques that may be used to explore patient attitudes and facilitate shared decision-making in this challenging area of clinical practice.

1.4 Detection of proximal reflux and pulmonary aspiration

1.4.1 Oropharyngeal pH measurement

The detection of gastro-oesophageal reflux is established in clinical practice and helps to identify a group of patients who may be at increased risk of pulmonary aspiration. For aspiration to occur, the material must ascend the length of the oesophagus and pass through the pharynx. In theory therefore, more proximal detection of gastro-oesophageal refluxate is an appealing technique in the IPF population.

Laryngopharyngeal reflux (LPR) is the condition in which the detection of proximal reflux has been most extensively appraised. Sufferers are thought to experience their symptoms of hoarseness, cough and sore throat because of exposure of the sensitive laryngopharyngeal mucosa to gastric contents.

At flexible laryngoscopy, characteristic visual changes have been described in association with LPR. These include erythema, oedema, hypertrophy, mucus and granulation within the hypopharynx, Figure 1-6. The Reflux Finding Score was designed to record the severity of these changes and is well validated (Belafsky *et al.*, 2002). The significance of these findings is not universally accepted as they have also been shown to occur in 64-86% of healthy controls (Reulbach *et al.*, 2001; Hicks *et al.*, 2002; Joniau *et al.*, 2007).

Figure 1-6. Appearance of the hypopharynx at flexible endoscopy: 1) Normal 2) Diffuse erythema at the vocal folds and arytenoid walls 3) Severe oedema in the posterior larynx 4) Vocal fold granuloma. Images reproduced from (Park, 2013; Vivero, 2015)



The biochemical detection of supra-oesophageal reflux is also challenging: oropharyngeal refluxate has been shown to exist predominantly as an aerosol and conventional pH probes have poor sensitivity for the droplets of refluxate (Kawamura *et al.*, 2004; Kawamura *et al.*,

2007). Supra-oesophageal pH probes are also susceptible to drying effects which results in widespread artefact (Harrell *et al.*, 2007). Pharyngeal reflux events have been demonstrated in 30-35% of normal controls (Merati *et al.*, 2005; Ulualp *et al.*, 2005).

The Dx-pH probe is a novel "ion-flow sensor" that has been developed to measure oropharyngeal (OP) pH (Restech, San Diego, CA). It is an ambulatory transnasal device which, according to its manufacturers, can detect the pH change resulting from aerosolised refluxate within the pharyngeal environment. Normative OP pH ranges have been defined although the studies are relatively small and the exact thresholds remain controversial (Ayazi *et al.*, 2009; Chheda *et al.*, 2009; Sun *et al.*, 2009).

The results of early studies were promising. An in vitro model of supra-oesophageal reflux was used to demonstrate the Dx-pH probe provided faster, more accurate detection of pH than conventional pH probes (Yuksel *et al.*, 2013). In another small clinical study of 15 patients, all pharyngeal "reflux" events were preceded by distal oesophageal pH drops (Wiener *et al.*, 2009).

Larger analyses have since correlated the findings of the Dx-pH probe with the results of multilumen oesophageal pH-impedance monitoring and the findings are less convincing. In these studies, the proportion of pharyngeal refluxes that correlated with conventionally defined oesophageal reflux events was reported as 0-17%, 10-15%, 18% and 37-55%, respectively (Becker *et al.*, 2012; Ummarino *et al.*, 2013; Hayat *et al.*, 2014b; Mazzoleni *et al.*, 2014). Proponents of the technology would argue that this supports a higher sensitivity for the oropharyngeal probe. Concerningly, 5-35% of the refluxes defined by the Dx-pH probe were found to correlate with swallows, as demonstrated by impedance analysis (Ummarino *et al.*, 2013; Mazzoleni *et al.*, 2014).

The significance of a measurable drop in OP pH therefore remains unclear. The pH variation of exhaled breath and acid produced by OP bacteria may both interfere with results (Mazzoleni *et al.*, 2014). To date, the ENT community have yet to recognise the clinical utility of dual-probe pH monitoring or the Dx-pH probe.

1.4.2 Scintigraphy

In both adults and children, radionuclide imaging has been assessed as a technique for the detection and quantification of gastro-oesophageal reflux. Typically, a volume of dilute

Technetium-99 is ingested and subsequently a gamma camera is used to assess the distribution of the radiolabel within the body. In some centres, gastro-oesophageal reflux scintigraphy is used routinely in paediatric practice but it has not gained widespread acceptance in adults (Thomas *et al.*, 2003). The use of radionuclide imaging to assess pulmonary aspiration secondary to gastro-oesophageal reflux remains experimental.

Gastro-oesophageal reflux and pulmonary aspiration were assessed in a group of 51 patients with refractory respiratory symptoms, using a combination of ambulatory pH monitoring and Tc-99 scintingraphy (Ravelli *et al.*, 2006). Thirteen of 51 had evidence of gastro-oesophageal reflux on pH monitoring. 25 of 51 had evidence of pulmonary aspiration based on scintigraphy. Interestingly, only 6 of the 25 patients with aspiration had abnormal pH results. The authors suggest non-acid reflux as an explanation for these findings (Zerbib *et al.*, 2005).

The ability of scintigraphy to detect pulmonary aspiration was also assessed in two smaller studies of patients (combined n=23) with confirmed GORD and co-existent pulmonary symptoms (Ghaed and Stein, 1979; Fawcett *et al.*, 1988). Neither supported the sensitivity or specificity of the technique in this role.

1.4.3 Pepsin measurement in sputum and saliva

The invasive nature of ambulatory probe testing has prompted the development of noninvasive methods. Peptest is a commercially-available, near-patient test which has been designed to provide a diagnosis of GORD (Strugala *et al.*, 2007)(RD Biomed, Hull, UK). It is a lateral flow device which makes use of two unique human monoclonal antibodies to pepsin 3. The premise of the technique is that the presence of pepsin in a sample of sputum/saliva represents evidence of retrograde flow of gastric contents. Minimal laboratory equipment is required and the result is returned in around 15 minutes and read with the naked eye or a meter, in a manner similar to a urinary pregnancy test (Figure 1-7). Figure 1-7. Pepsin lateral flow device showing the result of a gastric juice sample positive for pepsin. C=control band. T=test sample band. Reproduced from (Saritas Yuksel *et al.*, 2012).



To date, the technology has not been extensively validated. Saritas Yuksel et al used a modified version of the Peptest which incorporated semi-quantitative colorimetry to differentiate between sterile water and gastric juice using a receiver operating characteristics (ROC) curve analysis (Saritas Yuksel *et al.*, 2012). The sensitivity and specificity were reported as 87%.

Three clinical validation studies have analysed the performance of the test in comparison with the combination of ambulatory probe testing and endoscopy as a gold standard. In the second phase of the study mentioned above, the sensitivity and specificity of the lateral flow device to identify those patients with objective evidence of GORD, defined as supranormal pH and or endoscopic oesophagitis, was reported as 50% and 87%, respectively (Saritas Yuksel *et al.*, 2012). Against a population prevalence of 47%, the positive predictive value was 85%.

Peptest has also been evaluated as a means to differentiate between patients with symptoms *due* to reflux and patients with symptoms *related* to reflux (Hayat *et al.*, 2014a). The significance of this distinction is that the first group, comprising individuals with supranormal levels of reflux or a hypersensitive response to normal reflux, should be treated with medical or surgical antireflux therapy. In contrast, individuals in whom there is no correlation between symptoms and reflux events can be described as having functional heartburn (FH). Aggressive treatment is not indicated in this group.

De Bortoli et al compared the results of the lateral flow device with MII-pH studies in a small group of subjects with non-erosive reflux disease (NERD, n=16), hypersensitive oesophagus (HO, n=12) or without evidence of reflux disease (n=7)(de Bortoli *et al.*, 2012). Peptest was

positive in 93.7% of NERD, in 58.3% of HO, and negative in 100% of normal subjects. Whilst the sensitivity and PPV were both reported as 100%, the specificity and negative predictive value were significantly lower at 79% and 54%, respectively.

Hayat et al published a larger validation study, again comparing the lateral flow device with MII-pH monitoring (Hayat *et al.*, 2014a). Three saliva samples were taken from each of 87 healthy volunteers and 111 subjects with typical symptoms of GORD. Based on ambulatory monitoring, the symptomatic group were subdivided into individuals with GORD, HO or FH. If at least one sample was positive, the test showed a sensitivity of 77.6% and specificity of 63.2%, with a negative predictive value of 80.4%. Using a modified version of the lateral flow device, the positive results were quantified and the highest readings (>210ng/mI) offered a specificity and positive predictive value in excess of 95% (D. Sifrim, personal communication).

Proponents of the lateral flow device suggest a potential for it to guide the use of invasive testing for GORD. With further development, such a role may be possible in the future.

1.4.4 Bronchoalveolar lavage

The most compelling evidence for recurrent pulmonary aspiration would come from direct bronchoalveolar detection and quantification of substances which originate exclusively in the stomach. At bronchoalveolar lavage, a narrow bore flexible endoscopy is used to inject and then aspirate a standardised volume of isotonic solution into the bronchoalveolar space. Analysis of the aspirate permits direct measurement of the environment within the distal airways. Cytological and biochemical measurement techniques have been used.

Cytological markers

In early paediatric studies, microscopy and lipophilic staining of bronchoalveolar lavage fluid was regarded as the gold standard for the detection of pulmonary aspiration. Oil Red O and Sudan Red G are the most commonly used stains (Corwin and Irwin, 1985; Colombo and Hallberg, 1987; Nussbaum *et al.*, 1987).

Several studies demonstrated that the absolute presence or absence of lipid-laden alveolar macrophages (LLAMs) was not a good predictor of aspiration. As a result quantification systems have been described based on the number of LLAMs and the density of intracellular staining (Colombo and Hallberg, 1987; Kitz *et al.*, 2012).

In many of the validation studies, the results of single or dual-probe pH monitoring has been compared with a specified index of LLAMs. The majority of studies report on children and demonstrate statistically significant associations between the results of pH monitoring and LLAM counts (Colombo and Hallberg, 1987; Nussbaum *et al.*, 1987; Ahrens *et al.*, 1999; Bibi *et al.*, 2001; Sacco *et al.*, 2006; Borrelli *et al.*, 2010; Hopkins *et al.*, 2010).

Negative studies have also been reported (Sacco *et al.*, 2000; De Baets *et al.*, 2010; Kitz *et al.*, 2012). In the largest of these, Kitz et al compared a LLAM index with dual probe pH in 446 children with bronchitis, bronchial hyper-reactivity or recurrent pneumonia. In their experience, there were no correlations between LLAM count and any reflux parameters, even when the analysis was restricted to those with reflux (Kitz *et al.*, 2012).

To date, a single study has compared MII-pH monitoring with LLAM quantification (Borrelli *et al.*, 2010). In a group of 21 children with suspected pulmonary aspiration, LLAM counts were positively correlated with the total number of reflux episodes, the number of non-acid reflux episodes and the number of proximal non-acid reflux episodes (coefficients r=0.73, 0.61 and 0.64, respectively.

Pepsin

Pepsin is an acid protease released in the stomach. Detection in the oesophagus provides evidence of gastro-oesophageal reflux and, with bronchoalveolar lavage, pepsin can be used as a biomarker for pulmonary aspiration.

Pepsin was the first human enzyme described and its nomenclature over the years has been somewhat confused (Florkin, 1957). High performance chromatography has led to the identification of six pepsin subtypes in humans (Roberts, 2006). Subtypes 1-4 are now collectively known as pepsin A and subtypes 5 and 6 are known as pepsin C (Roberts, 2006).

Pepsin is released from chief cells in the stomach as the precursor pepsinogen and then activated to pepsin by hydrochloric acid, released from gastric parietal cells. Pepsin exhibits maximal proteolytic activity from pH 2-4 (Johnston *et al.*, 2003; Bulmer *et al.*, 2010). It remains active up to pH 6, above which it becomes inactive. This change is still reversible up to pH 7.5 (Pearson *et al.*, 2011). The stability and residual activity of pepsin at higher pH is clinically relevant as weakly acid reflux is common in IPF. Additionally, re-exposure to acid in the oesophagus, pharynx or lungs could lead to reactivation. This could occur with a second wave of reflux or an acidic drink.

Several groups have established pepsin quantification assays, which fall into two categories. Activity assays measure the rate of liberation of small soluble peptide fragments, which are easily detected by absorbance (Roberts, 2006). Activity can also be quantified by determination of liberated amino groups from cleavage of peptide bonds, the N-terminal assay (Hutton *et al.*, 1990). Alternatively, pepsin concentration can be measured by immunoassay. Several techniques have been developed and commercial kits are also available (Metheny *et al.*, 2002; Farrell *et al.*, 2006; He *et al.*, 2007; Stovold *et al.*, 2007). In the experience of our research group, the lower limit of detection is as low as 1ng/ml (Stovold *et al.*, 2007). The concentration of pepsin within gastric fluid has been measured at 100-600 µg/ml (Wallace, 1989; Gotley *et al.*, 1991). Given that bronchoalveolar lavage results in a 100-200 fold dilution, concentrations of pepsin may be as low as 0.5-6 µg/ml. In studies of pepsin as a biomarker for aspiration, reported lower limits of detection range from 1 ng/ml to 1 µg/ml (Metheny *et al.*, 2002; Stovold *et al.*, 2007).

To date, pepsin has been utilised as a biomarker of aspiration in the study of lung transplantation, laryngopharyngeal reflux and a range of non-transplant lung conditions. Quantification in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid is nonetheless associated with a number of limitations.

Standardisation of any biochemical quantification in BAL is challenging. The pulmonary airways are a complex anatomical space and the volume and distribution of fluid within them is variable. In addition, the methodology of bronchoalveolar lavage has not been standardised so the results of different experiments are difficult to compare (Wells, 2010). Secondly, the decay of pepsin within the pharynx and lungs is not well understood. The temporal significance of pepsin detection is therefore unclear (Bohman *et al.*, 2013).

Production of pepsin within the lung has been reported. In vitro, pepsinogen C has been identified as a product of type 2 alveolar epithelial cells, thought to play a role in the processing of surfactant protein B (Gerson *et al.*, 2008). Pepsin C has also been detected in the bronchoalveolar fluid of subjects with no clinical suggestion of reflux: Elabiad et al performed post-mortem immunohistochemical staining on neonatal pulmonary and gastric tissues (Elabiad and Zhang, 2011). Pepsinogen A was detected in 12 of the 13 stomach sections, mainly in the chief cells, but not in any lung sections. Pepsinogen C was detected in all stomach sections in chief and mucus cells and in 9 of the 16 lung sections, mainly in type II pneumocytes. In an adult study, 51 adult patients undergoing elective orthopaedic surgery

had pepsin A and pepsin C concentrations derived from a small volume bronchoalveolar lavage (Bohman *et al.*, 2013). Eleven individuals (22%) had measurable pepsin concentrations, all of which had pepsin C but not pepsin A. Whilst endotracheal intubation introduces the possibility of iatrogenic aspiration, this is unlikely to be a major confounder in patients who underwent uncomplicated intubation for elective surgery (Bohman *et al.*, 2013).

Bile acids

Bile acids are steroid acids synthesised in the liver and released into the duodenum. They act as detergents, converting dietary fats into particles (micelles) which can be absorbed in the intestine. Duodenogastric reflux is a physiological event within the normal population, so bile acids can also be used as a marker of gastro-oesophageal reflux and pulmonary aspiration (Klokkenburg *et al.*, 2009).

Cholic acid and chenodeoxycholic acid are the two primary bile acids produced from cholesterol in the liver. They are dehydroxylated into the secondary bile acids deoxycholic acid and lithocholic acid by bacteria in the colon. Bile acids are then conjugated with the amino acids taurine and glycine in the liver to form bile salts. In humans taurocholic acid and glycocholic acid (from cholic acid) and taurochenodeoxycholic acid and glycochenodeoxycholic acid (from chenodeoxycholic acid) are the major bile salts in bile (Hofmann, 1999). The concentration of these four components is roughly equal.

As a biomarker for aspiration, bile acids have been studied extensively within the lung transplant literature. Most studies have used one of two commercially available spectrophotometric detection methods for quantification. These rely on the action of a steroid dehydrogenase generating reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH). Both methods were developed for serological assessment of liver disease and their use in the measurement of bronchoalveolar lavage fluid samples is contentious. In serum, the normal range of total bile acids is quoted as ≤ 6 to $\leq 10 \mu mol/l$ (Korman *et al.*, 1974; Wong *et al.*, 2008). The kit manufacturers claim lower limits of detection of 1 $\mu mol/l$. Despite this, major reports in the transplant literature include measured levels as low as 0.2 $\mu mol/l$ using these techniques (D'Ovidio *et al.*, 2005; Blondeau *et al.*, 2008).

The most accurate method with which to detect bile acids is tandem mass spectrometry (TMS), which is widely used in the setting of neonatal screening in high volume reference

laboratories. Parikh et al compared the results of TMS and commercially available spectrophotometric techniques in the quantification of bile acids in gastric juice and bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (Parikh *et al.*, 2013). In the latter study, the lower limits of detection for TMS and spectrophotometric analysis were 0.1 and 5 µmol/l, respectively. This latter figure is consistent with the findings of Klokkenburg et al (2009).

1.5 Evaluating patient attitudes towards antireflux therapy in IPF

As discussed above, the investigation and management of gastro-oesophageal reflux in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis is a challenging area of practice. There are no validated techniques with which to quantify chronic aspiration. Definitive therapy, in the form of antireflux surgery, is associated with greater risk in an elderly population with significant comorbidities. It is therefore essential that patients are properly informed about the limitations of the current evidence base before they agree to invasive tests and, potentially, to surgical treatment.

For clinicians, the role of reflux and aspiration in lung disease is emerging. The ability to effectively communicate the risks and benefits is hampered by a weak evidence base and limited clinical experience. Within the constraints of a time-limited medical consultation, it would be difficult to fully convey the uncertainties of therapy in such a way that patients could make an informed choice about their care. Similarly, it is crucial that patient attitudes inform the direction of future research.

The logical response to this challenge is to investigate patients' attitudes towards the potential risks and benefits associated with possible therapies, by exploring how IPF patients value their own quality of life and to assess the level of risk they would accept for a chance to stabilise their future health.

There are two sides to this question. The first relates to the burden of IPF as a disease state and the second to the risks and benefits that may be attributed to antireflux therapy. For patients with IPF and minimal reflux symptoms, the benefit of antireflux therapy may be closely linked to their pulmonary symptoms or the prognosis attached to their lung disease.

At present, the natural history of IPF remains unclear, and the respiratory benefits of antireflux surgery are even less well understood. For these reasons, a balanced assessment of patient attitudes towards antireflux therapy in IPF is not feasible. Nonetheless, if clinicians could be afforded a better appreciation of how their patients perceive the respiratory burden of their disease as compared with the burden of antireflux surgery, a more informed consultation might result. The following section explores the measurement of health and healthcare and describes how such an analysis might be constructed.

1.5.1 Measuring health

With ageing populations, diminishing resources and increasingly complex therapies, healthcare budgets are under ever greater pressure. Quantifying the perceived value of a given health state, or the benefit derived from an intervention, is increasingly important. Governments rely on such analyses in order to maximise efficiency in healthcare spending. These pressures have contributed to significant developments in health economics in recent years. Before resources can be deployed, health must first be measured.

Certain indicators are unambiguous; infant mortality rate would be an example. As expectations of healthcare have risen over the years, perceptions of health have shifted away from mortality, through functional ability and on to quality of life. The measurement of these concepts is increasingly complex, and modern day health economics draws influences from psychometrics, consumer theory and decision analysis.

When two different treatments for the same disease are to be compared, a costeffectiveness analysis may be undertaken. Two different antihypertensives may be compared in terms of pounds per mmHg blood pressure reduction. In contrast, evaluating the effectiveness of joint replacement as a treatment for arthritis would require a different unit of measurement. Deciding how much of a limited healthcare budget to spend on competing interventions requires a method of comparing the generic value they provide. For the purposes of the current study, the concept of generic valuation is crucial. The morbidity associated with IPF is very different from that associated with reflux disease and its treatment.

How to measure that generic value has been the subject of extensive debate. One available method is contingent valuation, a survey-based approach in which people are questioned on their willingness to pay for a specific resource (Diamond and Hausman, 1994). Valuation is contingent upon a specified hypothetical scenario. Contingent valuation has not been widely used to evaluate healthcare provision because, in general, healthcare is not directly paid for at the point of access. Secondly, willingness-to-pay reflects an individual's wealth, which can skew results (Gold *et al.*, 1996).

The more common approach is the quality-adjusted life year (Weinstein *et al.*, 1996; National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2012). QALYs measure the quantity and quality of life that results from a healthcare intervention. A lung transplant might be deemed

to increase quality of life by 25% for ten years would be said to offer 2.5 QALYs (Torrance and Feeny, 1989). Further, by calculating the total cost of a lung transplant, the cost per QALY could be defined. QALYs have now become de facto currency with which to measure health effects in the NHS (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2013).

The use of QALYs requires the assignment of weights to represent the quality of the health state in question. Such valuations should reflect the experience of those individuals affected by the condition in question, as well as the preferences of the population who provide the relevant funding.

1.5.2 Scaling, value and utility

The simplest way to quantify estimates of healthiness is to ask directly for a numerical answer. Subjects might be asked how bad their pain is on a scale of 0 to 100. The answers from such tasks will be highly subjective and do not provide easily comparable data. Measurement thus requires the assignment of numerical scores to some form of description. There are a wide variety of scaling techniques, with different forms generating data that might be nominal, ordinal or interval in nature.

Scaling procedures generally fall into two main categories, which can be considered psychometric and econometric (McDowell, 2011). Psychometric scaling procedures generally rate feelings, opinions or attitudes and concern the present. These techniques make use of values, which refers specifically to preferences expressed under conditions of certainty. Econometric scaling, by contrast, derives from studies in economics and decision analysis of consumer choices between products, often under conditions of risk or uncertainty. For health economists, the concept of uncertainty is inherent to the judgments and preferences that relate to the future as well as the present. Practically, utilities are simply numbers ranging on a scale from 0 (the worst) to 1 (the best).

In healthcare evaluation, utility is generally defined in accordance with von Neumann and Morganstern's Theory of Games and Economic Behavior (von Neumann and Morgenstern, 1944). Often denoted as vNM utility, the model explains how a rational individual "ought" to make decisions when faced with uncertain outcomes so as to achieve the best outcome (Torrance and Feeny, 1989; Dolan *et al.*, 1996b).

When QALYs are used to measure a health benefit, time provides the measure of quantity and utilities provide the measure of quality.

1.5.3 Measurement of utilities

Amongst the various methods used to measure health state utility, three predominate: the rating scale, the time trade-off and the standard gamble. The following sections outline the processes involved and the theoretical basis for these tools. The empirical evidence supporting them is discussed in section 1.5.4 below.

Rating scale

The rating scale is the most straightforward technique and consists simply of a line, with anchoring points defined at the two ends. This is sometimes represented as a thermometer. The two extremes might be identified as zero or death at one end and 100 or perfect health at the other. Respondents have a health state described to them and they simply draw a mark on the line to express their perception of the health-related quality of life between the two anchoring states provided. The physical location of the mark on the line is taken to represent the respondent's utility for the specified health state.

The theoretical validity of this method has been challenged as there is no explicit choice or sacrifice involved (Brazier, 2008). The rater does not have to justify their response in terms of time, money or any other unit of value, so the response may be highly arbitrary. Utilities determined using a rating scale fail to satisfy the criteria of an interval scale: the difference between utilities of, for example, 0.2 and 0.3 cannot be taken as equivalent to the difference between utilities of 0.8 and 0.9 (Richardson, 1994). In addition, there is no transparent relationship between the units on the scale, on the one hand, and the measure of welfare or preference that is believed to be appropriate to resource allocation (Green *et al.*, 2000).

Time trade-off

In a time trade-off (TTO) experiment, respondents are asked whether they would prefer to spend a given length of time in a defined health state of less-than-perfect health or an alternative duration in perfect health, after which the outcome is death. At the start of the experiment, the respondent is asked to choose between ten years in perfect health and ten years in a health state representing less-than-perfect health, and would be expected to opt
for the former. The duration of time available in perfect health is then incrementally decreased until the respondent is indifferent between the two options. The point of indifference indicates the utility score: if a patient was indifferent between 10 years in a defined health state and six years of perfect health, the utility for that health state would be recorded as 0.6.

TTO incorporates a choice based on sacrifice, as respondents must consider the opportunity cost of extra years of life. Respondents are asked directly about the specific number of years in full health which they value as equal to a (longer) period in the health state being measured. Thus it collapses the relationship between the duration and the value of a health state into a single measure. Critics of the technique argue that TTO relies on the unproven assumption that longevity is proportional to utility (Green *et al.*, 2000).

A further criticism of TTO relates to the assumption that individuals are consistently prepared to trade a proportion of their remaining years of life in order to improve their health status. Empirical data suggest this may not be true (Dolan *et al.*, 1996b).

Standard gamble

In the standard gamble respondents are asked to choose between two alternatives, where one is the certainty of a defined health state (*i*) and the other is a gamble with two possible outcomes (Torrance, 1986). The two outcomes in the gamble are defined such that one is more favourable and one is less favourable than the health state in question. Conventionally, the two outcomes are a return to full health (with probability *p*), and immediate death (probability *1-p*).

At the outset the probability of the favourable outcome is set at 100%. At this stage, respondents would be expected to opt for the gamble. As the interview proceeds, the relative probabilities of the two gamble outcomes is altered. The conclusion is the point at which the respondent is indifferent between the certain outcome (the defined health state) and the gamble. At this point, the probability (p) of the favourable gamble outcome is recorded as the utility value for the health state in question.





The inclusion of a gamble, with two possible outcomes, means that respondents make their decisions under uncertainty. As a result, the standard gamble is generally considered as most appropriate to the measurement of vNM utility and thus commonly regarded as the gold standard for cost-utility analysis (Mehrez and Gafni, 1989; Torrance and Feeny, 1989).

This special status is not universally accepted. The strongest challenge relates to the "specific utility associated with risk, which varies between respondents" (Richardson, 1994). Richardson argues that many individuals would associate the process of gambling with anticipation and excitement and for others, it would confer feelings of anxiety and fear. The range of attitudes to risk can be said to introduce an additional factor, unrelated to the respondent's utility for a given health state. Others argue that varying attitudes to risk are no different from varying attitudes towards time (Green *et al.*, 2000).

One practical criticism is that respondents may struggle to understand risk as represented by probabilities. Standard gamble boards have therefore been developed to help visualise the effect of changing probabilities within the gamble outcomes. With the use of a board, good completion rates have been reported (Morss *et al.*, 1993).

1.5.4 Empirical support for measurement tools

The choice-based methods are the focus of the remainder of this section, which considers the practical evidence to support the use of the standard gamble (SG) and the time trade-off (TTO).

Validity

Health state utility can be regarded as a theoretical construct, as preferences are never truly revealed. The absence of a gold-standard makes it difficult to validate the techniques with which utilities are derived. The fact that healthcare expenditure can be determined by the results these techniques generate makes this a significant challenge. The standard gamble, for example, tends to generate higher utility values than other methods (Torrance *et al.*, 1996).

Studies designed to validate the different utility measurement techniques have largely relied on comparison with a predetermined rank ordering. Such a ranking might originate from an individual's stated preferences, or from a logical comparison within a set of health state definitions. Another approach involves concurrent validation, which describes how well two methods agree with each other. If two techniques generate comparable results, they are likely to value similar aspects of health-related quality of life (Torrance, 1976; Read *et al.*, 1984).

In a study of 350 respondents, Dolan et al made use of the EQ5D-3L multi-attribute scale to compare the standard gamble and the time trade-off (Dolan *et al.*, 1996b). EQ5D-3L is a written health-related quality of life survey in which respondents select one of three statements for each of five domains best representing their health at the time of response. The domains relate to generic factors such as pain and mobility. Any combination of five responses can be taken to represent a hypothetical health state. The nature of the statements within EQ5D-3L is such that certain health states are inherently more attractive than others: respondents would be expected to prefer to have "no problems in walking about" than "some problems in walking about". The extent to which the SG and the TTO evaluated the EQ5D-3L health states in accordance with their rational ordering was assessed. Whilst there was no significant difference in the results, TTO performed slightly better: reported logical consistency was 91.7% vs 83.8% for SG. The statistical significance of this result is not reported.

In a more recent study of 96 respondents with irritable bowel syndrome, the construct validity of the SG and TTO were compared through correlation of the derived utilities with the results of disease-specific and generic questionnaires (Puhan *et al.*, 2007). In this analysis, the results of the SG were significantly better correlated with the results of the other tools than were the utilities generated by the TTO.

The convergent validity of the SG and TTO were compared with the results of the Short Form-36 HRQOL scale in another study of 878 subjects, made up of patients under treatment for heart disease and healthy volunteers (Lalonde *et al.*, 1999). Overall, the correlation of the TTO was slightly higher than that of the SG with reference to SF-36 General Health Perception score (0.36 vs 0.30).

In a similar study of 25 patients with the condition systemic lupus erythematosus, Moore et al demonstrated that TTO had better correlation with SF36 subscales than SG (Moore *et al.*, 1999).

When these results are assimilated, there is no clear signal from the published literature that either of the choice-based methods has superior validity.

Reliability

In cost-utility analysis, reliability measures the stability of a tool between two administrations assuming a constant health state. This can be assessed over time or between raters. The majority of studies have focused on test-retest reliability, as summarised in Table 1-3.

Table 1-3. Test-retest reliability of the standard gamble and time trade-off in studies reporting direct comparisons. Test statistic specified as intraclass correlation in studies indicated (*) and unspecified in the remainder.

Test-retest time period	Standard gamble	Time trade-off
≥1-week	0.80 (O'Connor <i>et al.</i> , 1987)	0.87 (O'Connor <i>et al.,</i> 1987)
6- to 16-week	0.63* (Dolan <i>et al.,</i> 1996a)	0.83* (Dolan <i>et al.,</i> 1996a)
1-year	0.53 (Torrance, 1976)	0.62 (Torrance, 1976)
Other (time-specified)	0.82 (Reed <i>et al.,</i> 1993)	0.74 (Reed <i>et al.,</i> 1993)
	0.8* (Gage <i>et al.,</i> 1996)	0.67-0.92* (Gage <i>et al.,</i> 1996)
	0.84* (Kim <i>et al.,</i> 2012)	0.83* (Kim <i>et al.,</i> 2012)

When the test-retest reliability was reported on the group level, as opposed to the individual level as in the studies summarised above, the results are significantly improved (Green *et al.*, 2000).

Overall, comparative studies report slightly higher reliability for the time trade-off than the standard gamble, but it is not possible to choose one method over another based on this criterion.

To date, the majority of studies have employed the TTO but this may relate to the fact that it is quicker and therefore cheaper to administer. In the UK, the National Institute for Clinical Effectiveness published a statement that was mirrored by that of Panel on Costeffectiveness in Health and Medicine in the U.S (Weinstein *et al.*, 1996; National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2008). Both recommend the use of choice-based methods in the measurement of health state utilities, but neither specifies a single technique.

1.5.5 Choice of respondents in health state valuation

Health state utilities have been measured amongst patients, amongst clinicians and amongst sample populations drawn from the general public. Each method is associated with advantages and disadvantages.

Patients who have personal experience of a given condition will have the best understanding of what it means to live with that condition, and the effect that it has on their lifestyle and quality of life. This is reflected in a statement from NICE, suggesting that patients should ideally be used in the generation of utilities (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2008).

One concern with patients as respondents is the so-called disability paradox: many people with serious and persistent disabilities report that they experience a good or excellent quality of life, when to most external observers their quality of life seems poor (Albrecht and Devlieger, 1999). Empirically, the health state utilities reported by patients with first-hand experience of a condition tend to be higher than the values assigned by members of the general public given detailed descriptions of that condition (Sackett and Torrance, 1978; Froberg and Kane, 1989).

Clinicians have been used in cost-utility analysis studies. After direct contact with patients affected by a given condition, clinicians provide a perspective on the range of health states that might be associated with a given disease. In addition, clinicians may be able to frame that perspective within the context of other health problems. Clinicians have been reported to overestimate the gravity of a condition, which may represent efforts to increase its status or resource allocation (Torrance and Feeny, 1989).

Non-patients have also been used to measure utility. In a publicly funded healthcare system, it is the general public whose resources are available for allocation, so their views should be

accounted for (Dolan and Olsen, 2002). As a study population, members of the public will provide aggregated utilities, unconstrained by vested interests (Gold *et al.*, 1996).

In summary, the choice of study subjects boils down to the aims and objectives in hand. For resource allocation, the use of society's preferences have been advocated (Gold *et al.*, 1996). In guideline development and in individual decision-making, the use of utilities obtained from actual patients is generally preferred.

1.6 Unanswered questions about reflux, aspiration and IPF

In recent years, much has been written on the subject of reflux as a potential contributing factor in IPF. Earlier this year the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence identified the treatment of reflux as a research priority in IPF.

Most would agree that the quality and quantity of evidence available remains limited. To date, there has been no convincing demonstration of causality and no prospective data exist on the treatment of reflux in IPF. High quality, prospective studies of the prevalence of reflux in IPF are lacking and microaspiration remains difficult to quantify. When compared to conditions with a similar prognosis, the therapeutic advances in IPF have been modest. In this context, it is doubly important that a potentially treatable aetiology is properly appraised.

How the investigation and management of reflux in IPF might be translated to clinical practice is another topic that has received little attention to date. The widespread use of standard tests and surgery for reflux may be very different amongst the IPF population than it is in an adult surgical clinic. Patient-reported outcome measures may or may not play a role. Furthermore patient attitudes have yet to be explored. It is difficult to predict how patients with varying degrees of respiratory compromise will approach the risks and benefits of aggressive antireflux treatment.

Chapter 2. Hypothesis, Aims and Objectives

2.1 Hypothesis

Hypothesis 1: IPF patients are willing and able to undergo investigation and, in appropriate cases, surgical treatment of gastro-oesophageal reflux and microaspiration.

Hypothesis 2: Gastro-oesophageal reflux and microaspiration are commonly found when state-of-the-art investigative techniques are used.

Hypothesis 3: The investigation and management of reflux in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis may be effectively delivered by a multidisciplinary team.

2.2 Aims

2.2.1 Primary aim

 To characterise the frequency and nature of gastro-oesophageal reflux and aspiration in IPF

2.2.2 Secondary aims

- 1. To evaluate aerodigestive symptomatology and health-related quality of life in IPF
- 2. To evaluate the feasibility of selected clinical and experimental techniques for use in clinical investigation in this patient population
- 3. To explore attitudes towards antireflux surgery within the IPF population
- 4. To assess the feasibility of a novel multi-disciplinary team to investigate and manage reflux in IPF and related conditions

2.3 Objectives

- A. Selection and use of a panel of validated questionnaires with which to assess symptoms and health-related quality of life in IPF
- B. To perform high-resolution manometry and ambulatory impedance/pH monitoring in a consecutive series of IPF patients
- C. Assessment of markers of aspiration and lung inflammation using per bronchoscopic bronchoalveolar lavage providing:
 - a. total cell count
 - b. differential cell count
 - c. presence of lipid-laden macrophages
 - d. presence of haemosiderin-laden macrophages
 - e. in-house quantitative ELISA measurement of pepsin
 - f. quantitation of bile acids by spectrophotometry
- D. To use a standard gamble to measure health state utilities associated with the

burden of IPF and the potential burden of antireflux surgery

Chapter 3. Methods

3.1 Characterisation of reflux and aspiration in IPF

3.1.1 Ethical approval

Ethical permission for the study was granted on 22nd February 2010 by the County Durham & Tees Valley 2 Research Ethics Committee, (reference number 10/H0908/9). The NHS sponsor for the study was the Newcastle-upon-Tyne NHS Hospitals Foundation Trust. Study approval was granted by the Trust Research and Development department on 18th May 2010 (ref 5183).

All participating individuals gave written informed consent after an opportunity to review approved study information sheets.

3.1.2 Recruitment

In an earlier phase of study conducted by a doctoral student within our research group, 20 subjects with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis underwent oesophageal physiology assessment, bronchoscopy and bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) analysis. Study methodology was consistent with the current work. These data were analysed in conjunction with the results from the current group of study participants.

The previous group of 20 subjects also completed the Reflux Symptoms Index questionnaire, the results of which were pooled across the two phases of study.

The recruitment target for the current phase of the study was 15-20 patients. This was a pragmatic target based on the number of patients attending the clinic and the participation rate recorded from the previous phase of research.

IPF patient identification

Consecutive adult patients with a secure diagnosis of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis were identified and recruited from the regional Interstitial Lung Disease (ILD) clinic with the support of clinicians with a specialist interest. Diagnosis was verified through discussion at

the regional ILD multi-disciplinary team, with input from respiratory physicians, thoracic radiologists and histopathologists with an interest in lung disease. The diagnostic criteria proposed jointly by the European Respiratory Society and American Thoracic Society were used, Box 1.

Box 1. Consensus guidelines for the diagnosis of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Reproduced from (Raghu *et al.,* 2011).

1. Exclusion of other known causes of interstitial lung disease (e.g. environmental exposures, connective tissue disease and drug toxicity).

2. The presence of a usual interstitial pneumonia pattern on high-resolution computed tomography (HRCT) in patients not subjected to surgical lung biopsy.

3. Specific combinations of HRCT and surgical lung biopsy pattern in patients subjected to surgical lung biopsy.

Exclusion criteria

Lack of capacity to consent to the study protocol

Use of long-term oxygen therapy

Conditions precluding cessation of proton pump inhibitor medications, including

Zollinger-Ellison syndrome and complicated Barrett's oesophagus

Co-existing respiratory disorder

Overt congestive cardiac failure

Patients regarded unfit for any other reason by their respiratory physician

Control population

A small population of healthy volunteers was recruited from the university staff in order to derive reference data for the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid analysis (one female; median age 39 years, range 32-46 years). All were non-smokers and none had any significant respiratory symptoms or existing respiratory diagnoses.

3.1.3 Study overview

Participants were asked to complete a panel of symptom questionnaires. Those taking proton-pump inhibitors discontinued therapy prior to study and then repeated the questionnaires after two weeks off treatment. On- and off-treatment responses were therefore recorded.

On the first study day written consent was recorded and a stationary oesophageal manometry assessment was performed in a designated oesophageal physiology lab. An oesophageal pH-impedance catheter was then inserted and ambulatory monitoring commenced.

The subject returned the following morning and the pH-impedance catheter was removed. Bronchoscopy and a standardised bronchoalveolar lavage were performed. Lavage samples were transferred to Newcastle University for processing, analysis and storage.

3.1.4 Selection of patient-reported outcome measures

The Ovid-Medline database was searched over the period January 1980 to May 2013 to identify questionnaires suitable for the symptomatic evaluation of gastro-oesophageal reflux disease and extra-oesophageal reflux disease in adults. Questionnaires were evaluated based on their development, psychometric evaluation and ease of completion.

During the study, questionnaires were either handed to patients in clinic or posted out. Questionnaires that were designed to be administered by an interviewer were therefore excluded. Given the two-week cessation period for proton-pump inhibitors, questionnaires that could only be used for longer recall periods were avoided.

Symptoms of gastro-oesophageal reflux disease

The following search string was used within Medline: [gastro-esophageal reflux OR GERD OR gastro-oesophageal reflux OR GORD] AND [questionnaire OR scale OR patient reported outcome OR instrument OR measure OR index] AND [symptoms OR diagnosis OR evaluation] AND [validity OR reliability or responsiveness OR psychometric properties]. The references of relevant review articles were also screened (Stanghellini *et al.*, 2004; Mouli and Ahuja, 2011; Vakil *et al.*, 2013). Instruments designed to assess health-related quality of life and instruments relating to reflux surgery were excluded.

A total of 20 tools were identified and evaluated using a priori selection criteria described in section 3.1.4. As a result, 17 were rejected (Table 3-1). The development and validation of the three remaining questionnaires were then reviewed in further detail (Table 3-2).

Name	Source	Basis for rejection	
Infant gastroesophageal reflux questionnaire	(Orenstein <i>et al.,</i> 1993)	Specifically designed for use in infants	
GERD symptom score	(DeMeester <i>et al.,</i> 1980)	No validation available	
GERD specific questionnaire	(Carlsson <i>et al.,</i> 1998)	Validation incomlete: author-reported specificity of 19% at the chosen diagnostic cut-off	
GERD score	(Allen <i>et al.,</i> 2000)	Administered	
Gastroesophageal Activity Index (GRACI)	(Williford <i>et al.,</i> 1994)	Part-interview	
Leeds Dyspepsia Questionnaire	(Moayyedi <i>et al.,</i> 1998)	Administered	
Dyspepsia symptom score	(Buckley <i>et al.,</i> 1997)	Unvalidated; administered	
Gastrointestinal Symptom Rating Scale	(Talley <i>et al.,</i> 2001)	Designed to assess IBS and peptic ulcer disease. The reflux syndrome scale contains only two items and has not been evaluated in isolation.	
Digestive Health Status Instrument	(Shaw <i>et al.,</i> 2001)	Based on criteria for IBS and dyspepsia	
Dyspepsia Symptom Severity Index	(Leidy <i>et al.,</i> 2000)	Designed to assess dyspepsia	
HK index of dyspepsia	(Hu <i>et al.,</i> 2002)	Designed to assess dyspepsia	
GERD specific esophageal symptom questionnaire	(Greatorex and Thorpe, 1983)	Reliability and responsiveness not assessed	
GERQ	(Locke <i>et al.,</i> 1994)	Lengthy: 60 items	
GERD questionnaire	(Johnsson <i>et al.,</i> 1993)	Heartburn not assessed	
GERD screener	(Ofman <i>et al.,</i> 2002)	Administered	
GSFQ	(Pare <i>et al.</i> , 2003) Regurgitation not assessed		
Hearburn diary card	(Junghard and Wiklund, 2008)	4 week recall period	
GERD Inventory	(Zimmerman, 2004)	4 week recall period	
PASS	(Armstrong <i>et al.,</i> 2005)	Exclusively assesses treatment-resistant symptoms	
ReQuest	(Bardhan <i>et al.,</i> 2004)	Lengthy – over 60 items	

Name	Source	Strengths	Weaknesses	Comments
GERD Symptom Assessment Scale (GSAS)	(Rothman <i>et al.,</i> 2001)	1 week recall Responsiveness tested with a 2 week window Designed to be evaluative	Validity demonstrated against HRQL tools No nocturnal symptoms	15 items
Reflux Disease Questionnaire (RDQ)	(Shaw et al., 2001)	Validity tested against physician diagnosis Previously used in a randomised controlled trial	Originally validated with a 4 week recall Dyspepsia symptoms included	12 items
Gastro- esophageal reflux disease questionnaire (GerdQ)	(Jones <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2009)	Brief: 6 items Includes nocturnal symptoms and treatment response Validity demonstrated against a multimodal diagnostic workup	Reliability not assessed	Assesses symptom frequency alone

Table 3-2. Questionnaires considered for the symptomatic assessment of gastro-oesophageal reflux

Once the search had been narrowed to these three remaining tools, the strengths and limitations of each were reviewed in further detail:

GERD Symptom Assessment Scale (GSAS)

25 core symptoms of reflux disease were established through literature review, focus groups and expert consultation. A questionnaire was designed to assess the frequency, severity and distress of each of these symptoms. 185 patients with GORD were identified from a nationwide population based survey and, after an initial telephone assessment, were asked complete the questionnaire at baseline and two weeks. They were also asked to complete four HRQL scales in addition.

Assessment of the psychometric properties of the GSAS was undertaken. Reliability and responsiveness were acceptable but validity was not assessed against any external standard:

"Validity was demonstrated by testing the hypotheses that first, symptom distress would be associated with lower general perceptions of health, and, second, symptom distress would be more strongly associated with patient perception of functioning and well-being than symptom frequency. Both were supported." (Rothman et al., 2001) Based on the results of the pilot survey, symptoms endorsed by less than 25% of the subjects were dropped from further analysis, yielding a 15-item symptom scale.

Reflux Disease Questionnaire (RDQ)

The RDQ aims to provide a validated patient-reported tool for the purposes of GORD. The domains assessed are regurgitation, heartburn and dyspepsia. The time recall in the original survey was four weeks but in a later validation study, for which the tool was translated into Swedish and Norwegian, a recall of one week was used.

Content validity was informed by literature review, expert opinion and cognitive interviews. Predictive validity analyses of all scales and items used gastroenterologist diagnosis as a gold standard. Good inter-rater agreement between physicians was demonstrated with the use of actors primed with scripts based on confirmed cases of GORD, irritable bowel syndrome and combinations of the two.

Responsiveness was assessed by "observed treatment effect" between two clinic attendances and by analysing those reporting at least moderate change. Stability was assessed by constructing intra-class correlation coefficients in patients with stable symptoms.

Gastro-Esophageal Reflux Disease- Questionnaire (GERD-Q)

The GERD-Q was designed as a tool with which to support accurate, symptoms-based diagnosis of GORD by general practitioners and also to monitor the effect of therapy over time. The development was based on data from the Dutch study on Initial Management Of Newly diagnosed Dyspepsia (DIAMOND), in which GORD was diagnosed on the basis of any one of the following criteria (Dent *et al.*, 2010):

- (i) Oesophageal pH<4 for >5.5% of a 24-h period on ambulatory pH monitoring;
- (ii) Los Angeles grade A-D oesophagitis at endoscopy (Lundell et al., 1999);

(iii) Indeterminate 24-h oesophageal pH in combination with a positive response to 14 days' esomeprazole (proton pump inhibitor) treatment;

(iv) Positive (>95%) Symptom Association Probability.

Based on Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) curve analysis, logistic regression and data from previous studies and qualitative interviews, six items from the different questionnaires were chosen for inclusion in the questionnaire. These included four positive and two negative predictive factors. Further ROC curve analysis indicated that a questionnaire score of 8 points or more provided the highest sensitivity and specificity for diagnosing GORD.

Focus group feedback suggested that patients preferred to score symptoms by frequency rather than severity, as it was easier to recall. In addition, ROC curve analysis suggested that symptom frequency scoring provided equivalent sensitivity and specificity for diagnosis when compared to the use of symptom frequency and severity in combination. As a result, all six items within GerdQ assess symptom frequency.

In order to assess the responsiveness of the GerdQ, the effect size and the standardized response mean of the pre- and post-treatment questionnaire results distributions were compared. Using these techniques, the GerdQ was found to be as responsive as the RDQ, a comparable but lengthier tool.

The evaluation methodology, brevity and reported performance of the GerdQ make it particularly attractive.

Symptoms of extra-oesophageal reflux

A further Medline literature review was undertaken, incorporating the terms "extraoesophageal reflux" and "laryngo-pharyngeal reflux" into the string detailed above. Six tools were identified with which to evaluate the symptoms of extra-oesophageal reflux. Four were deemed unsuitable (Table 3-3).

Table 3-3. Questionnaires	rejected for assessment of	extra-oesophageal reflux symptoms
---------------------------	----------------------------	-----------------------------------

Name	Source	Basis for rejection
Laryngopharyngeal reflux health-related quality of life questionnaire	(Carrau <i>et al.,</i> 2005)	4 week recall period
Extra-oesophageal symptoms questionnaire	(Gisbert <i>et al.,</i> 2009)	Not validated
Supraesophageal Reflux Questionnaire	(Dauer <i>et al.,</i> 2006)	Lengthy – reported median completion time 10 minutes
Hull Airway Reflux Questionnaire	(Morice <i>et al.,</i> 2011)	Majority of items (8/14) relate to cough

The Reflux Symptom Index (RSI) is a brief questionnaire designed to assess laryngeal symptoms secondary to laryngopharyngeal reflux. It is well validated and the normal range of scores has been published (0-13) (Belafsky *et al.*, 2002). The RSI has been used in our research group previously.

Assessing quality of life related to reflux and lung disease

The putative relationship between reflux and lung disease makes it more appropriate to assess health-related quality of life from a respiratory perspective. The St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire is the best validated tool with which to assess respiratory-specific health-related quality of life (Jones *et al.*, 1991). It was originally designed and validated for use in chronic obstructive airways disease. It has now been validated for use in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, bronchiectasis, asthma, and cystic fibrosis and used in numerous clinical trials (Wilson *et al.*, 1997; Sanjuas *et al.*, 2002; Schunemann *et al.*, 2003; Jones, 2005; Padilla *et al.*, 2007; Swigris *et al.*, 2010; Swigris *et al.*, 2014).

A total score is calculated which summarises the impact of the disease on overall health status. Scores are expressed as a percentage of overall impairment where 100 represents worst possible health status and 0 indicates best possible health status. Normal ranges are described.

Summary and selection of questionnaires

For the current study, the Gastro-Esophageal Reflux Disease Questionnaire was used to assess typical symptoms of reflux, the Reflux Symptoms Index to assess extra-oesophageal reflux symptoms and the St George's Respiratory Questionnaire to assess respiratory healthrelated quality of life.

This panel of questionnaires was combined and tested in a sample of five staff from the university. The median time for completion of all four questionnaires was five minutes and free-text feedback suggested that they were acceptable as a group. Questionnaires are reproduced in the appendices.

3.1.5 Clinical data collection

The results of key pulmonary function tests were extracted from clinical correspondence:

- Forced expiratory volume (1 second) = volume exhaled at the end of the first second of forced expiration
- Forced vital capacity = the determination of vital capacity from a maximally forced expiratory effort

3.1.6 Preparation for oesophageal physiology testing

I arranged for the current study subjects to attend the oesophageal physiology lab within the endoscopy department at the Royal Victoria Infirmary. I performed all tests and data analysis.

In preparation for these studies, I completed a programme of training. I began by shadowing the nurse practitioner who ran the physiology lab at the time of the study (Joy Candler). I observed her performing and analysing the tests, and studied the theory and practice of oesophageal manometry and ambulatory oesophageal monitoring. I familiarised myself with practice guidelines published by the British Society of Gastroenterology, the Association of Gastro-Intestinal Physiologists and the International High Resolution Manometry Working Group (Bodger and Trudgill, 2006; Bredenoord *et al.*, 2012; Association of Gastrointestinal Physiologists, 2013).

Over the following six weeks I attended regular lists and performed tests and analysis with progressively greater independence. At the end of this process, I performed four combined manometry/pH-impedance tests independently and received feedback on my reports.

I subsequently travelled to Enschede in The Netherlands for a three-day residential training course on manometry and ambulatory monitoring. Teaching was delivered by Arjan Bredenoord, principal author of the Chicago Classification system of High Resolution Manometry (Bredenoord *et al.*, 2012).

Before recruiting the first patient to this study, I was independently performing and interpreting clinical tests at the Royal Victoria Infirmary in Newcastle upon Tyne.

Once recruited to the study, subjects received instructions as to how to prepare for the tests. This was included within a standard letter (Appendix A).

In summary, participants were asked to:

- discontinue medications that affect the investigations in advance (2 weeks for proton pump inhibitors; 48 hours for H2-receptor blockers and antacid medication)
- fast for a minimum of 4 hours before the study appointments
- arrange to be accompanied home after the visit, in the event that sedation was used for bronchoscopy

3.1.7 Oesophageal manometry

A water-perfused system was used for all manometry recordings (Medical Measurement Systems, Enschede). For the first 11 subjects in the previous phase of study, manometry was assessed using a "conventional" 8-channel manometry system. Following an equipment upgrade in the physiology laboratory, the remaining tests were performed using a highresolution 20-channel system. Investigations were undertaken in line with manufacturers' instructions and in accordance with guidelines published by the Association of Gastro-Intestinal Physiologists (Association of Gastrointestinal Physiologists, 2013).

A single-use catheter was connected to the manometry system, comprising a low compliance pneumo-hydraulic perfusion pump and a manometer corresponding to each channel. Transducers relay the pressure signals to the analysis software (MMS, Enschede, The Netherlands).

The catheter was perfused with sterile water for ten minutes and air bubbles excluded from the system. The system was checked by elevating the catheter above the manometers and confirming a uniform pressure increase across all channels. The catheter tip was introduced through the nose after lubrication. The use of local anaesthetic was avoided, so as not to interfere with pharyngeal sensation. After insertion, the pressure readings are calibrated against the level of the midpoint of the subject's oesophagus.

8-channel manometry - technique

In the 8-channel probe, the four channels closest to the tip are arranged radially at the same level, and the remaining four channels are arranged at intervals of 5cm. The measurement span of the probe is therefore 20cm in total (Figure 3-1).

Figure 3-1. The orientation of side-holes in an 8-channel manometry cather



The catheter tip is inserted to a depth of 70cm. After insertion, the subject was asked to lie in a semi recumbent position, which has been used to derive the normative data for the procedure. Gastric placement is confirmed by observing a pressure rise with inhalation. The assessment is then conducted in two stages. The lower oesophageal sphincter (LOS) is assessed first and the oesophageal body subsequently.

As the tip is withdrawn from the stomach into the oesophagus, the high pressure zone of the lower LOS is demonstrated and may be assessed. With the four radially-orientated channels in the LOS, the subject is asked not to swallow and the mean resting pressure is recorded over a period of 10 seconds (baseline pressure). 5ml water is injected into the subject's mouth and as they swallow, the pressure drop within the LOS is recorded. The mean residual pressure may be expressed in real terms (mmHg) and also as a percentage pressure drop relative to the resting pressure.

The catheter is then withdrawn so that the entire 20cm span is lying within the oesophageal body. The patient is then asked to swallow a 5ml water bolus a further ten times and the propagation of the peristaltic swallow wave is visualised. After ten swallows have been recorded the probe is removed.

8-channel manometry – analysis

The following parameters are calculated for each swallow.

Lower oesophageal sphincter

Location:	from the point of insertion in the nose (cm)
Length:	(cm)
Tone:	Mean resting baseline pressure (mmHg)
Relaxation:	Mean pressure on deglutitive relaxation (mmHg)
% relaxation:	<u>(Deglutitive relaxation pressure – Mean relaxation pressure)</u> Mean relaxation pressure

Oesophageal body

Mean contractile amplitude	relative to baseline pressure (mmHg)
Peak contracticle amplitude	relative to baseline pressure (mmHg)
Conduction velocity	(cm/s)

Based on these metrics, the individual swallows are categorised according to a semiautomated analysis:

- Peristaltic contractions: the proximal oesophagus contracts before the distal oesophagus and contraction peaks are seen in all oesophageal body channels
- Dropped contractions: the proximal oesophagus contracts normally but in there is no contraction in the distal oesophagus
- Interrupted contractions: contractions occur in the proximal and distal oesophagus, but are absent in the channels in between
- Non-transmitted contractions: absence of contractile activity in the oesophagus following a wet swallow

Analysis of the individual swallows was then combined to provide a global classification of oesophageal peristalsis, Table 3-4 (Spechler and Castell, 2001).

Table 3-4. C	Classification o	f oesophageal	peristalsis using	g conventional	manometry assessment
--------------	-------------------------	---------------	-------------------	----------------	----------------------

Normal Peristalsis	Normal peristalsis >70% of the time	
Mild Ineffective Oesophageal Motility	Abnormal peristalsis 30-70% of the time	
Severe Ineffective Oesophageal Motility	Normal peristalsis <30% of the time	
Aperistalsis	Abnormal peristalsis 100% of the time	
Diffuse Oesophageal Spasm	>10% of swallows simultaneous with mean amplitudes over 30mmHg	
Nutcracker Oesophagus	Mean amplitude of peristalsis >180mmHg	
Hypertonic Lower Oesophageal Sphincter	>45mmHg but relaxing	
Hypotonic Lower Oesophageal Sphincter	<10mmHg	
Achalasia	Hypertonic LOS, absent or incomplete relaxations >70-80% of the time. Simultaneous contractions or aperistalsis in the oesophageal body	

High resolution manometry - technique

High-resolution manometry (HRM) was used for the latter patients in the study.

Conventional and high-resolution manometry are compared in Table 3-5.

Technique	Conventional	High resolution
Number of channels	8	20
Calibre of probe	3.9mm	4.9mm
Span of measurement	20cm	35cm
Setup time	Shorter	Longer
Study time	Longer	Shorter
Assessment of LOS and oesophageal body	Sequential	Simultaneous
Oeosphageal body assessment	10 x 5ml swallows	10 x 5ml swallows
Display	Line graphs	Colour density plot

Table 3-5. Comparison of conventional and high resolution oesophageal manometry assessment

The probe was inserted through the nose and positioned at around 55cm, such that the LOS, oesophageal body and upper oesophageal sphinter (UOS) could be visualised simultaneously.

The subject was asked not to swallow for a period of 10 seconds and subsequently, oesophageal function is assessed over the course of 10 x 5ml water swallows. The results of the study are expressed as a colour plot. Different colours represent different pressures. The components of the swallow, as visualised by HRM are illustrated in Figure 3-2. After ten swallows have been recorded the probe is removed.

Figure 3-2. Oesophageal pressure topography illustrating a normal swallow. Colours corresponding to specified pressures are illustrated on the left of the figure. UOS = upper oesophageal sphincter; IBP rise = intra-bolus pressure rise; LOS = lower oesophageal sphincter. Taken from (Fox and Bredenoord, 2008).



High resolution manometry - interpretation

Individual swallows are analysed according to the Chicago classification system (Bredenoord *et al.*, 2012), a semi-automated analysis of the pressure pattern. In the same way that contours on a map link the points of a specified height, isobaric contours can be displayed as a spatiotemporal colour plot and used to demarcate individual components of a swallow. Figure 3-3 illustrates the way in which a swallow is analysed. Two key landmarks are used:

- *Proximal pressure trough* (P): the physiological trough which results from the interdigitation of the striated muscle in the upper oesophagus and the smooth muscle in the lower oesophagus.
- Contractile deceleration point (CDP): the inflection point along the 30 mmHg isobaric contour where propagation velocity slows. This represents the transition between the tubular oesophagus and the stomach.

The following metrics are calculated as per the Chicago classification system, as illustrated in Figure 3-3 (Bredenoord *et al.*, 2012).

Lower oesophageal sphincter (LOS)

Location and length, as measured from the point of nasal insertion of the catheter

Tone: *Resting pressure* = mean resting pressure recorded within the LOS (mmHg)

Relaxation: Integrated relaxation pressure = mean pressure within the oesophagogastric junction during the lowest pressure period of 4 seconds recorded at any time within the 10 seconds after swallow initiation (mmHg)

Oesophageal body

Peristaltic amplitude: *Distal contractile index* = Amplitude x duration x length of the distal oesophageal contraction >20 mmHg from proximal pressure trough and the contractile deceleration point (mmHg.s.cm)

Duration: Distal latency = Interval between UOS relaxation and the contractile deceleration point (s)

Propagation velocity: *Contractile front velocity* = Slope of the tangent approximating the 30 mmHg isobaric contour between P and the CDP (cm/s)

Classification of swallow: Timing of onset as well as velocity and amplitude of contraction are used to classify each swallow, as described in Table 3-6. The algorithm within the Chicago classification can then be used to summarise an individual's swallow function based on the results of the ten recorded swallows (

Figure 3-4).

Figure 3-3. Oesophageal pressure topography plot illustrating a normal water swallow as assessed by highresolution manometry. Pressure scale indicated by the colour bar on the left (mmHg). UES = upper oesophageal sphincter; LES = lower oesophageal sphincter; CFV = contractile front velocity; DCI = distal contractile index (dashed pink box); DL = distal latency; IRP = integrated relaxation pressure; P=proximal pressure trough; CDP=contractile deceleration point. Adapted from (Zerbib and Omari, 2014).



Table 3-6. Defining features of an individual swallow	((Bredenoord et al., 2012))
---	-----------------------------

Integrity of Contraction	Contraction Pattern
Intact – No peristaltic breaks	Premature (DL < 4.5s)
Weak – Large (>5cm) or small (2-5cm) peristaltic breaks	Hypercontractile (DCI > 8000mmHg/cm/s)
Absent – Minimal integrity of contour plot	Rapid Contraction (CFV > 9cm/s)
Absent winning integrity of contour plot	Normal Contraction (none of the above apply)

Figure 3-4. Flow diagram to illustrate the Chicago classification system of high resolution oesophageal manometry (reproduced from (Bredenoord et al., 2012))



Hierarchical Analysis of Esophageal Motility

3.1.8 Ambulatory oesophageal monitoring

After the location of the LOS was determined, gastro-oesophageal reflux was assessed using a multilumen endo-oeosphageal probe. It is a 1.9mm calibre single-use device consisting of six impedance channels and a pH probe, as illustrated in Figure 3-5 (pHersaflex catheter, Medical Measurement Systems, Enschede, The Netherlands). After a 10 minute pre-soak in deionised water, buffer solutions (pH 1 and 7) were used to calibrate the pH probe at room

temperature prior to nasal insertion. The probe is fixed such that the pH probe is located 5cm proximal to the upper border of the LOS.





After insertion, the probe is connected to an Ohmega ambulatory data recorder (MMS, Enschede, The Netherlands). The recorder has buttons for patients to record symptoms, meals and position (upright or supine). They were also given a standardised patient diary to complete. After the 24 hour period, patients returned to the lab and the catheter was removed. The recording box was then connected to the MMS software and the data uploaded. The trace was reviewed manually and the electronic diary was verified with the paper diary and edited appropriately. After the trace was reviewed the MMS software provided an automatic analysis and summary of impedance-pH events and symptoms scores.

pH assessment

pH measurements were recorded over a period of not less than 16 hours. The following parameters were recorded and used to calculate the Demeester score, a composite measure of GOR (Johnson and Demeester, 1974).

- Number of reflux events
- Length of longest reflux
- Number of reflux periods > 5minutes
- Percentage of overall study time pH<4

Impedance assessment

Impedance analysis was compared to published normal ranges (Zerbib *et al.*, 2005). The following parameters are recorded and analysed:

- Reflux events
 - Acid: pH<4
 - Weakly acid: pH 4-7
 - Non-acid: pH>7
- Number of proximal events i.e. recorded at the proximal channel, 17cm from the catheter tip
- % of the total reflux time during which proximal reflux was recorded
- Oesophageal volume exposure: % time for which liquid was detected at the most distal channel
- Bolus clearance time: mean delay between detection of liquid and detection of gas at the most distal channel

Symptom-event correlation analysis

Based on the subject's button presses, the correlation of GORD-related symptoms and reflux events was analysed. Association is determined by the presence of a reflux event in the two minutes preceding symptom onset (Bredenoord *et al.*, 2005). Three measures are used:

- Symptom index (SI): the proportion of symptom episodes associated with a reflux event (Ward *et al.*, 1986).
- Symptom sensitivity index (SSI): the proportion of reflux events associated with a symptom (Breumelhof and Smout, 1991).
- Symptom-associated probability (SAP): a statistical analysis of the degree of association between the symptoms and events. SAP uses a Fisher's exact test which analyses the total duration of the study as divided into in two-minute windows, according to a 2x2 matrix comparing symptoms (positive/negative) and reflux events (positive/negative)(Weusten *et al.*, 1994).

3.1.9 Bronchoscopy

A standardised bronchoscopy and bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) was performed by a single consultant respiratory physician within the Newcastle-upon-Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (IAF). In addition to consent for study participation, consent is also recorded in line with routine clinical practice.

The BAL procedure was performed in line with previous reports from our group (Stovold *et al.*, 2007). Participants are offered the option of premedication with intravenous midazolam. 4% lignocaine was applied topically to the nose, pharynx, larynx and subglottis. Supplemental oxygen was administered and pulse oximetry recorded. Transnasal bronchoscopy was then performed. One or more images of the hypopharynx and vocal cords were captured prior to tracheal intubation.

The tip of the bronchoscope was wedged into a right middle lobe subsegmental bronchus and a standardised 3 x 60ml lavage is performed. The quantity of fluid retrieved was recorded. 5ml of BAL fluid was sent to the hospital laboratory for routine culture.

Visual assessment of laryngopharyngeal reflux

Anonymised images were later reviewed by Mr Julian McGlashan, a Consultant Ear Nose and Throat surgeon with an interest in LPR. Images were scored using the Reflux Finding Score, Table 3-7. Scores greater than seven are said to indicate LPR (Belafsky *et al.*, 2001).

Subglottic oedema	0 = absent
	2 = present
Ventricular	2 = partial
	4 = complete
Erythema/hyperemia	2 = arytenoids only
	4 = diffuse
Vocal fold edema	1 = mild
	2 = moderate
	3 = severe
	4 = polypoid
Diffuse laryngeal edema	1 = mild
	2 = moderate
	3 = severe
	4 = obstructing
Posterior commissure hypertrophy	1 = mild
	2 = moderate
	3 = severe
	4 = obstructing
Granuloma/granulation tissue	0 = absent
	2 = present
Thick endolaryngeal mucus	0 = absent
	2 = present

Table 3-7. Component scoring for the Reflux Finding Score, an instrument validated to assess the severity of laryngopharyngeal reflux (Belafsky *et al.*, 2001)

3.1.10 Bronchoalveolar lavage fluid processing

The BAL fluid sample was transferred on ice for processing at the Newcastle University research laboratories. BAL processing was performed in accordance with an established standard operating procedure (Appendix G). Samples were centrifuged and a total cell count

estimated from the reconstituted cell pellet using a haemocytometer. Cytospin preparations were prepared on glass slides, air-dried and stored at -20°C for later examination. A maximum of 6 x 1ml cell pellets were reconstituted in RNA lysis buffer (Qiagen) and 25 x 600µl aliquots of acellular fluid were stored at -80°C. A single cytospin was stained with Giemsa and a differential cell count determined.

As part of my lab training, I counted archived cytospins. Prior to recruitment, my neutrophil and macrophage counts were within 5% of those recorded by experienced lab personnel (GJ and KJ).

3.1.11 Assessment of aspiration

Cytology

Cells were stained with oil red O to visualise lipid-laden macrophages, according to the method of (Hopkins *et al.*, 2010). Oil red O is a Polyazo dye with higher solubility in lipid than in solvent. The standard operating procedure is established in our lab. Oil red O stain was combined with 60% isopropanol to make up a working solution. Cytospins were fixed in formalin in preparation before oil red O staining and counterstaining with Cilestin counterstain. An aqueous mountant was used.

Using the method of Colombo and Hallberg, a lipid-laden macrophage index was calculated for each slide. 300 macrophages were enumerated as follows (Colombo and Hallberg, 1987):

- 0 = cytoplasm not opacified
- 1 = up to ¼ opacified
- 2 = up to ½ opacified
- 3 = up to ¾ opacified
- 4 = totally opacified cytoplasm

One in four slides was second-read by an independent observer who was blinded to subjects' clinical histories and test results.

Additional cytospins were stained to demonstrate oxidative stress through the release of chemically active iron. The use of Perl's Prussian blue, which stains ferric iron from protein-

bound tissue deposits, is also established within our group (Appendix J). Perl's reagent was constituted with equal volumes of 2% hydrochloric acid and 2% potassium hexacyanoferrate. Cytospins were fixed in acetone before staining with Perl's reagent and counterstaining with 1% Neutral Red. Slides were then dehydrated in alcohol, cleared in xylene and fixed in D.P.X. mountant. For each slide, a haemosiderin score was calculated as described by Kahn *et al.* (1987). 200 macrophages were enumerated as follows:

0 = no colour

- 1 = faint blue in one portion of cytoplasm
- 2 = deep blue in a minor portion of the cell
- 3 = deep blue in most areas of the cytoplasm
- 4 = deep blue throughout the cell

The total value for all cells was calculated and divided by 2 to obtain a score for an average of 100 cells. The percentage of cells staining positively was also recorded. Cell counting and scoring was repeated by a blinded observer.

Pepsin measurement by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay

Pepsin concentrations were measured by a PhD student (GZ) within the research group using a protocol modified from an established, locally developed enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) (Tasker *et al.*, 2002; Stovold *et al.*, 2007).

At each step, wells were washed three times with 0.05% Tween 20 in PBS and incubated at room temperature with vigorous shaking (800rpm on a plate shaker unless specified). 100µl aliquots of unconcentrated sample and standard solution (0-100ng/ml porcine pepsin in PBS, Sigma, Dorset, UK) were incubated overnight in a 96-well plate.

Blocking

1% bovine serum albumin in PBS was added before incubation for 2 hours at 500rpm.

Primary antibody binding

Standards and samples were incubated at room temperature for 2 hours with primary antibody: positive wells were incubated with anti-pepsin antibody (1:100 dilution in 0.1%

BSA/PBS, Biodesign International, TN, USA) and negative wells with 100µl 0.1% BSA solution. (The primary antibody binds both pepsin and pepsinogen.)

Secondary antibody binding

All wells were incubated at room temperature for 2 hours with 1:1000 HRP-conjugated antisheep/goat in 0.01% BSA (Sigma).

Colour development

100µl of 2,2'-Azino-bis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid) (Sigma) was added to each well and allowed to develop for at least 20 minutes at room temperature with light shaking (100rpm). The reaction was stopped with 50µl of 1% sodium dodecyl sulphate in deionised water.

Plate-reading

The plate was measured at 405nm with the Infinite 200 Pro plate reader, using i-control software (Tecan, Männedorf, Switzerland).

Bile salt measurement by spectrophotometry

Bile acid concentration was measured using the Total Bile Acids kit (Alere, Stockport, UK). Three buffers are supplied in stable liquid formulation:

- R1: Thio-NAD >0.1mM, Buffer
- R2: 3-a-HSD >2kU/L, NADH >0.1mM, Buffer
- Calibrator Conjugated cholic acids, Buffer

270 μ l R1 and 4 μ l of sample or calibrator was incubated at 37°C for 3 minutes in triplicate. Blank absorbance was measured at 405nm.

For each sample/calibrator, 90μ l R2 was added to the 2 positive wells and 90μ l heat-killed R2 was added to the single negative well. The absorbance was then measured at 405nm after 1 minute and 10 minutes. Δ A405nm was calculated as the difference between these two readings.

TBA concentrations were determined using the equation:

3.1.12 Formation of a novel aerodigestive multidisciplinary team

The question of how best to investigate micro-aspiration in complex respiratory patients is crucial to the field of aerodigestive medicine. Greater experience of the clinical and experimental techniques used in the current study can help to define their role. At present, data generated in the course of this research must be handled sensitively so that all management decisions are appropriate.

In order to discuss this challenging patient group, we established a cross-site aerodigestive multidisciplinary team in the Newcastle-upon-Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. There is regular input from upper GI surgeons, respiratory physicians, transplant physicians and anaesthetists. Team members' attendance, the results of relevant investigations and decisions regarding further investigation and management were recorded prospectively. To our knowledge this is the first time an aerodigestive MDT has been formally convened.

3.1.13 Statistical analysis

Analysis was performed using Minitab 17 (State College, Pennsylvania, USA). Analysis was largely descriptive. Where necessary, normality of data was assessed using the Anderson-Darling statistic and statistical significance was accepted at α <0.05.

Proportions were compared using the Chi-squared statistic.

For normally distributed continuous data, comparisons were made using paired T-tests and unpaired (Student's) T-tests as appropriate. Correlation was assessed using Pearson's test.

For non-parametric data, continuous datasets were compared using the Mann-Whitney Utest and the Kruskal-Wallis test as appropriate. Correlation was assessed using the Spearman Rank method.

Physiology data were analysed with reference to published data from healthy control populations (Zerbib *et al.*, 2005). Unless otherwise specified, the upper limit of normal was taken as the upper limit of the 95% confidence interval.

Inter-rater agreement was assessed using appropriate correlation coefficients (Pearson r, Spearman and Intraclass) in addition to the Bland-Altman method (Bland and Altman, 1986). This latter method accounts for the mean difference between paired data points and the

standard deviation of the differences. Most of the differences will lie within 2 standard deviations of the mean difference. If the differences are Normally distributed then 95% of the values will lie within this range, termed the "limits of agreement".

Statistical methodology was reviewed with Dr Kim Pearce, Senior Statistician in the Institute of Cellular Medicine, Newcastle University.
3.2 Evaluation of patient attitudes towards the treatment of reflux in IPF

3.2.1 Ethical approval

The study was considered by the Proportionate Review Sub-Committee of the London-Bromley NRES Committee on 18th March 2014 (ref 14/LO/0531). The NHS sponsor for the study was the Newcastle-upon-Tyne NHS Hospitals Foundation Trust. Study approval was granted by Newcastle-upon-Tyne Hospitals R&D on 6th May 2014 (ref 6956) and by Gateshead Health on 23rd April 2014 (ref 928/14).

3.2.2 Study overview

The aim of this analysis was to evaluate the burden of antireflux therapy in the context of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Respondents' valuations of their own quality of life and of a set of written scenarios were recorded. The scenarios described i) health states relating to differing severities of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, and ii) adverse outcomes related to medical and surgical antireflux therapy. (As the respiratory benefit of antireflux therapy has yet to be quantified, good outcomes from antireflux therapy were not evaluated.)

Study participants completed a standardised study interview which included a standard gamble in addition to a validated assessment of their performance status. Pulmonary function tests were extracted from patients' medical records to help define disease severity.

The strengths and weaknesses of the choice-based methods for utility measurement are discussed in section 1.5.3. The standard gamble was selected because it entails a choice between an ongoing health state and an intervention, the outcome of which is uncertain. This framework is consistent with the decision that a patient with IPF would have to make in considering the pros and cons of a specific treatment, such as antireflux therapy.

3.2.3 Study sample and recruitment

Prospective participants were identified from the interstitial lung disease out-patient clinics at the Royal Victoria Infirmary in Newcastle and the Queen Elizabeth Hospital in Gateshead. A letter outlining the study was posted out. At the outset, patients who did not wish to take part were given the opportunity to opt out by email or telephone/voicemail.

81

After a minimum of 72 hours, prospective participants were contacted by phone to discuss the study in more detail. Individuals keen to participate were sent a patient information sheet and offered an appointment for the study interview. The interview was conducted in the outpatient department or as a home visit.

3.2.4 Inclusion criteria

• Diagnosis of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, as defined by international consensus guidelines (Raghu *et al.*, 2011)

Age 18 or over

3.2.5 Exclusion criteria

• Difficulty in understanding written or verbal information in English

• Deterioration in lung function (as defined by change in WHO performance status in the preceding 4 weeks)

• Cognitive impairment such that informed consent could not be given

3.2.6 Sample size

There is no previous work in this area to inform a power calculation. For analysis purposes, participants were divided into mild/moderate disease and moderate/severe disease. Stratification between these two groups was made with reference to the median adjusted total lung capacity for the overall study population. In accordance with published convention for pilot studies where no previous data is available, the recruitment target was 30 patients per group (Lancaster *et al.*, 2004). The overall recruitment target was therefore 60 patients.

3.2.7 Standard gamble method

Standard gamble interviews were conducted with the use of a chance board (Figure 3-6). The chance board illustrates a choice with two alternative options: one option consists of a gamble between two uncertain outcomes; the other option is a single certain outcome. The board is divided into two sections. The top half of the board illustrates the uncertain Choice A (Alternative 1) with probability p of the most preferred health state and 1-p of the least

82

preferred health state. Two small windows in this part of the board indicate the probabilities corresponding to p and 1-p. The probabilities can be changed by turning the wheel on the left of the board. On the bottom part of the board is the certain outcome Choice B (Alternative 2). The chance board thus converts the probabilities into a percentage risk of a specified outcome.

	2
Full health	Death
CHOICE "B" 100 % CHANCE Manage your or Stopping for brin Coughing, which Using supplement	y levels wn washing and dressing eath after about 100m or after a few minutes on the level ch is troublesome for you on most days ental oxygen

Figure 3-6. Chance board used as a prop to illustrate decision-making within the standard gamble. Example vignette featured as "Choice B".

To start, the chance board was set at a 90% chance of the preferred health state (eg returning to full health) and a 10% chance of the least preferred health state (eg immediate death). The individual was asked to make a choice between Choice A and Choice B. The probabilities were then altered using a ping-pong strategy, whereby probabilities are alternated back and forth between a low value and a high value until the individual is indifferent between Choice A and Choice B. The percentages on the chance board convert to the probabilities for p and 1-p. The probability at the point where the individual is indifferent between Choice A and Choice B is the utility value of the health state described in Choice B.

The vignettes were presented to the subjects in random order, to avoid order-of-study bias.

3.2.8 Vignette design

For the purposes of the standard gamble, it was necessary to construct a series of concise descriptions such that study respondents could evaluate the burden of disease associated with both idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis and with adverse outcomes of antireflux treatment.

There is no accepted methodological approach to the generation of vignettes for health state utility analysis. In order for a health state description to provide a useful and authentic representation of the disease state in question, the following factors would seem important:

- Concise description, but with sufficient detail to provide meaningful explanations
- Symptom domains identified by patients affected by the condition
- Symptom severity defined in line with accepted grading systems where appropriate
- Validated by clinicians with specialist experience
- Written in simple language, avoiding the use of jargon

The process through which vignettes were composed and ratified is outlined in Table 3-8.

The final version of the four vignettes is shown in Box 2.

Table 3-8. Iterative process through which health state scenarios were designed for the standard gamble.Superscript figures relate to notes detailed below the table

Step	Description	Antireflux therapy	Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
1	Factor generation	Fortnightly upper gastrointestinal surgery outpatient clinic interviews over 12 months (n≈50) ¹	Following review of a qualitative research study undertaken on behalf of Boehringer-Ingelheim ²
2	Severity correlation	Summary of Product Characteristics, Omeprazole ³	Dyspnoea guidelines ⁴
3	Vignette composition	In collaboration with health economics supervisors at Institute of Health and Society ⁵	In collaboration with health economics supervisors at Institute of Health and Society
4	Clinician ratification	Interviews with consultant oesophago- gastric surgeons (n=4) ⁶	Interviews with consultant respiratory physicians with an interest in interstitial lung disease (n=3) ⁸
		Round table discussion with three senior registrars ⁷	Interview with a senior registrar training in respiratory medicine ⁹

Notes

- 1. Northern Oesophago-Gastric Unit (NOGU), Royal Victoria Infirmary, Newcastle-upon-Tyne.
- 2. Boehringer-Ingelhem commissioned Brains and Cheek, a qualitative research agency, to undertake a piece of qualitative research exploring the impact of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis on quality of life in people living with the condition. The project consisted of in-depth interviews with a total of 18 patients and carers. The results of the study were presented to Boehringer-Ingelheim in a series of slides, to which I was allowed access.
- 3. (Teva UK Limited, 2009)
- 4. (Fletcher et al., 1959)
- Dr Laura Ternent, Senior Lecturer, Institute of Health and Society, Newcastle University

Dr Peter McMeekin, Reader in Health Economics, Northumbria University

6. Professor Michael Griffin, Mr Nick Hayes, Mr Daya Karat, Mr Arul Immanuel; all based

at NOGU

- 7. Mr Sebastian Kwon, Mr Barry Dent, Mr Maziar Navidi; all based at NOGU
- 8. Professor John Simpson, Dr Ian Forrest; Department of Respiratory Medicine, Royal

Victoria Infirmary, Newcastle-upon-Tyne

Dr Rob Allcock; Department of Respiratory Medicine, Queen Elizabeth Hospital,

Gateshead

9. Dr Jit Dutta, Department of Respiratory Medicine, Newcastle-upon-Tyne

Box 2. Health state descriptions used in the standard gamble. Outcome W: mild IPF. Outcome X: moderate IPF. Outcome Y: adverse outcome from antireflux surgery. Outcome Z: adverse outcome from medical antireflux therapy.

Outcome W Good energy levels Manage your own washing and dressing Short of breath when hurrying or walking up a slight hill Coughing, which is troublesome to you one or two days a week No need for oxygen support 	Outcome X Reduced energy levels Manage your own washing ar Stopping for breath after about walking on the level Coughing, which is troublesor Using supplemental oxygen 	nd dressing It 100m or after a few minutes ne for you on most days
Outcome Y Five scars on your stomach, each measuring 1cm in length Not able to belch, leading to bloating and abdominal discomfort Food sticking in your gullet at times Only managing small meals Risk of bleeding, infection and hernias from surgery (A hernia is a bulge at the site of a scar, which may be uncomfortable or painful. Sometimes hernias need to be repaired with an operation.) 	 Outcome Z Taking five extra tablets over the colliquid after meals. You may experience the following p Common Headache Abdominal pain Constipation/diarrhoea which require treatment with tablets Nausea/vomiting 	ourse of the day, plus Gaviscon problems: Rare • Reduced energy levels • Serious gut infections • Increased risk of broken bones

No definition of "Full Health" was volunteered, but if interview subjects asked specifically what Full Health entailed, they were told:

"You can think of Full Health as a scenario where you are entirely free of symptoms and do not require any ongoing medical treatment."

3.2.9 The interview process

An interview manual and a response booklet were prepared so as to standardise instructions and data capture. The manual included an interview script which was read out verbatim.

The following demographic details were recorded:

- Gender
- Date of birth
- Marital status
- Co-habitation
- Employment status
- Educational qualifications
- Ethnicity

Utility values for the four health states detailed above were calculated using standard gamble. The respondent's own current health state was also measured.

Finally, respondents were asked to complete a multidimensional health-related quality of life tool, EuroQOL-5D-3L (0). EuroQOL-5D-3L is brief, self-completed health-related quality of life survey in which respondents select one of three statements in answer to questions relating to five domains. The domains are pain, mobility, mood, level of function and self-care. After registering the study with the EuroQOL group, syntax was provided for use in the statistical program SPSS (IBM, New York, USA). Each respondent's answers to the five questions were mapped to a predefined utility score. These figures were generated through a large time-trade off study (Dolan, 1997).

Euroqol-5D also includes respondents to assess their global quality of life on a visual analogue scale. The validated nature of this tool provides a reference point with which to compare respondents' responses to the standard gamble.

3.2.10 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed as described in section 3.1.13. In line with the convention of the health economics literature, utilities were analysed using parametric methods.

Chapter 4. Results of Characterisation Study

4.1 Study overview

Thirty-seven study subjects were recruited from the regional interstitial lung disease clinic at the Royal Victoria Infirmary, Newcastle-upon-Tyne. The first twenty subjects were recruited and studied by a previous doctoral research student (Amaran Krishnan). I studied the remaining 16 subjects.

Patients had already been screened to confirm their respiratory diagnosis. All had undergone clinical assessment, pulmonary function testing and CT scans. Clinic review was supported by formal multidisciplinary discussion. None of the patients underwent lung biopsy.

After informed consent had been recorded, patients completed a panel of study questionnaires to assess symptoms of gastro-oesophageal reflux, laryngo-pharyngeal reflux and respiratory health. Those individuals who were taking proton pump inhibitors were asked to discontinue their medication. In this group, questionnaires were repeated after a two-week period of cessation. Objective study assessments were performed after this washout period.

There were two study visits, held on consecutive days at the RVI. On the first day, subjects underwent oesophageal manometry and naso-oesophageal intubation with an endooesophageal probe, connected to an electronic data recorder. They were instructed to electronically record their symptoms, meal-times and supine periods over the forthcoming 24 hours of pH-impedance monitoring. One subject was unable to tolerate nasooesophageal intubation and was excluded from all study analyses. The remaining 36 subjects completed all tests.

On the second day the probe was removed and data were transferred to the departmental database for analysis. Subjects then underwent bronchoscopy and bronchoalveolar lavage. Study samples were transferred to the university laboratories for processing and analysis.

A group of four control subjects were recruited from within the university staff and underwent the same bronchoscopy and lavage.

89

4.2 Recruitment and demographics

The recruitment of participants in this study was managed at the regional interstitial lung disease clinic at the Royal Victoria Infirmary in Newcastle-upon-Tyne. This is a weekly clinic which was established in 2010. Suitable patients were identified from clinicians running the clinic, based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria detailed in section 3.1.2. Those willing to discuss the work further were referred to the lead researcher and further information regarding the study was outlined. This was consistently undertaken in a different clinic room from that in which the patient was seen for their clinic appointment. As the clinic became increasingly busy, it was no longer practicable to discuss the research with patients face to face. Latterly, the study was outlined to potential participants by telephone after they had been identified by the clinical team.

Seventy-nine eligible subjects were invited to participate. 36 completed the study protocol. Study recruitment is summarised in Figure 4-1.

Figure 4-1. Recruitment and completion figures for the characterisation study



There were 27 males. Median age was 72.5 and the interquartile range was 64.5-77.7. Two subjects were active smokers at the time of recruitment. Ten patients stated they had never smoked. The majority were ex-smokers who had stopped more than 6 months ago; two had stopped within six months of recruitment.

Ten subjects were taking corticosteroids and eight were taking N-acetylcysteine. 25 subjects were taking a proton-pump inhibitor (PPI) at the time of recruitment.

Eleven patients had pre-existing evidence of GORD documented either in clinical letters or at recent endoscopy within the preceding two years.

As a routine, pulmonary function testing is repeated at each visit to the regional ILD clinic. The spread of vital capacity recordings is illustrated in Figure 4-2. Median percentagepredicted vital capacity was 77.6% (range 47.9-146.4). Figure 4-2. Histogram illustrating the percentage predicted vital capacity readings taken prior to participation in the study



Subjectively, patients are graded in clinic according to the MRC dyspnoea scale. Study subjects were categorised as detailed in Table 4-1.

Grade	Degree of breathlessness related to activities	Number of subjects
1	Not troubled by breathlessness except on strenuous exercise	5
2	Short of breath when hurrying on the level or walking up a slight hill	11
3	Walks slower than most people on the level, stops after a mile or so, or stops after 15 minutes walking at own pace	8
4	Stops for breath after walking about 100 yds or after a few minutes on level ground	9
5	Too breathless to leave the house, or breathless when undressing	3

Table 4-1. Study subjects' breathlessness status at recruitment (Fletcher et al., 1959)

Within the second phase of recruitment, subjects were asked to complete the St George's Respiratory Questionnaire as a measure of respiratory health-related quality of life. Median SGRQ score off PPI was 44.15.

For the small group of subjects who completed these questionnaires both on and off-PPI, there was a significant difference in the scores after PPI therapy was discontinued, Table 4-2. In statistical terms, SGRQ scores decreased significantly after PPI was discontinued (p=0.005). This change is consistent with an improvement in respiratory health-related quality of life following cessation of PPI.

	St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire				
Study ID	On PPI Off PPI				
22	71.07	64.60			
23	45.06	35.86			
25	50.77	42.66			
27	42.33	44.03			
28	66.69	60.68			
30	21.17	7.49			
31	73.07	60.54			
33	59.69	32.24			
34	69.75	61.94			

Table 4-2. Respiratory health-related quality of life score recorded on and off PPI medication

The Minimal Important Difference for SGRQ is most commonly quoted at 4, as determined by a range of distribution and anchor-based methods (Jones, 2002). With respect to this figure, there was a significant improvement in respiratory symptomatology in 89% of subjects.

4.3 Assessment of gastro-oesophageal reflux

4.3.1 Subjective assessment

In the latter group of 16 subjects, the Gastro-esophageal reflux disease questionnaire (GerdQ) was used to assess classical symptoms of reflux disease (Jones *et al.*, 2009)(Figure 4-3). A score of 8 or more supports a diagnosis of gastro-oesophageal reflux disease. On PPI, two patients (22%) recorded positive GerdQ scores. This proportion increased to 29% when subjects were off PPI. The median scores for these groups was 6 and 6.5, respectively. Overall, 25% of respondents recorded GerdQ scores suggestive of reflux disease. All but one had pre-existing evidence of GORD based on their clinical assessment and/or endoscopy.

Paired T-tests revealed there was no significant difference in the on-PPI and off-PPI scores in the subjects who discontinued therapy (Figure 4-3).

Figure 4-3. GORD symptom assessed by GerdQ scores. The individual value plot is overlaid with slope-graphs for those patients who completed GerdQ both on and off PPI therapy. The reference line indicates the score which has been reported as most discriminating as a cut-off in the diagnosis of GORD (Jones *et al.*, 2009).



4.3.2 Oesophageal manometry

Thirty-seven subjects gave informed consent and attended for oesophageal physiology. Thirty-six completed all components of oesophageal physiology. One was unable to tolerate naso-oesophageal intubation so manometric assessment was abandoned. He was excluded from all analyses within the study.

All study participants underwent oesophageal manometry prior to ambulatory pHimpedance monitoring. The first 11 subjects underwent conventional 8-channel manometry and the remaining 25 underwent 20-channel high-resolution manometry. There were no complications arising from these tests.

The analysis of data differs for these two forms of oesophageal manometry. With reference to published normal ranges, it was possible to establish the proportion of normal tests for both (Spechler and Castell, 2001; Bredenoord *et al.*, 2012).

8-channel manometry

Lower oesophageal sphincter (LOS) pressure was within normal limits for 8 of the 11 patients with a mean of 21.9mmHg (range 13-32mmHg). In the remaining three patients the LOS was hypertonic. Only one patient had complete relaxation of the LOS with swallowing. Median percentage relaxation was 32% (range 0-100%).

Seven subjects had normal peristaltic activity. One from this group had no LOS relaxation with swallowing, leaving six who can be described as having normal oesophageal swallows.

The remaining four subjects had evidence of dysmotility. Three had a high proportion of simultaneous contractions and one had a mixture of simultaneous and dropped contractions, denoting non-specific oesophageal dysmotility.

Median peristaltic amplitudes are shown in Table 4-3. Two patients had hypotonic segments and the remainder had proximal and distal amplitudes within the normal range.

Table 4-3. Amplitudes of oesophageal peristalsis recorded at conventional 8-channel manometry. NA=	not
available.	

	Median (mmHg)	Range (mmHg)	Normal values (mmHg)
Minimum Oesophageal Amplitude	23	12-51	NA
Maximum Peristaltic Amplitude	157	104-282	NA
Average Peristaltic Amplitude	65	40-44	30-180
Distal Oesophageal Amplitude (5cm above LOS)	53	32-109	30-180
Proximal Oesophageal Amplitude (15cm above LOS)	68	22-282	30-180

High resolution manometry

Twenty-five patients underwent HRM. In contrast to 8-channel manometry, HRM simultaneously evaluates the LOS and the peristaltic waves within the oesophageal body. Results for the key metrics used to assess oesophageal swallows are detailed in Table 4-4.

	Median	Range	Normal Values
Distal Latency (s)	6.4	4.5 - 8.6	>4.5
Distal Contractile Integral (mmHg.s.cm)	835	14 - 4074	<8000
Contractile front velocity (cm/s)	5.2	<-100 - >100	≤9
Peristaltic Breaks (cm)	1.9	0-13.3	<2cm
Integrated Relaxation Pressure (mmHg)	6.5	-3.8 – 27.6	<15

Table 4-4. Metrics used to evaluate oesophageal swallow integrity using the Chicago classification

These metrics are automatically combined by an algorithm within the manometry software to generate an overall label, as defined by the Chicago classification, Figure 4-4.

Ten of the 25 subjects were categorised as having a normal swallow. A further 10 subjects had abnormalities consistent with hypomotility. The remaining five were categorised as having distal spasm, rapid contractions or OGJ outflow obstruction.

Figure 4-4. Chicago classification of HRM results



In summary, 8-channel manometry and HRM revealed abnormal swallows in 45% and 60% of these respective groups.

4.3.3 Ambulatory monitoring

pH monitoring

All thirty-six study subjects underwent multichannel intraluminal pH-impedance monitoring using an endo-oesophageal probe positioned manometrically. The pH probe is placed 5cm proximal to the lower oesophageal sphincter. The median duration of monitoring was 23 h 4 min (range: 15h 55- 24h 45).

Twenty-five subjects were taking proton pump inhibitors at the time of recruitment to the study. All were asked to discontinue this medication 2 weeks prior to oesophageal physiology assessment. All but one subject (IPF21) discontinued therapy as requested. The patient who did not stated that he had forgotten to do so. (Data from this subject were included for analysis and are highlighted in relevant figures.) Key results are detailed in Table 4-5.

Table 4-5. The results of ambulatory pH monitoring. All figures are scaled so as to represent a 24 hour monitoring period. Long refluxes are defined as those in excess of five minutes.

	Median	Minimum	Maximum	Normal range	Number supranormal	% supranormal
Total number of refluxes	42.7	0	326.7	<50.2	17	47.2
Number of long refluxes	3.1	0	39.4	<3.2	17	47.2
Duration of longest reflux (minutes)	12.1	0	164.3	<9.3	21	58.3
Total reflux time (%)	6.3	0	60	<4.3	20	55.6
DeMeester score	18.5	0.2	201.6	<14.72	20	55.6

The range of values recorded for the reflux index and the DeMeester score are illustrated in Figure 4-5. With reference to either parameter, the same 20 subjects (56%) were identified to have supranormal levels of reflux.



Figure 4-5. Individual value plots for reflux index and DeMeester score. Horizontal reference lines indicate the upper limit of normal for a healthy control population.

Impedance monitoring

The duration of monitoring for the impedance results is identical to that for the pH studies as the same probe is used. As with the pH figures, results were scaled so as to be comparable with the 24-hour normal ranges.

Based on impedance monitoring, the median number of refluxes over 24 hours was 31.0 (range 9.3-119.2).

Impedance and pH monitoring data are combined to evaluate the acidity of refluxate. The breakdown of total, acid (pH<4), weakly acid (pH 4-7) and non-acid (pH 7+) reflux is detailed in Table 4-6. Values for the individual subjects are illustrated in Figure 4-6. Seven individuals recorded high levels of weakly acid reflux; none recorded high levels of non-acid reflux.

Objectively high levels of gastro-oesophageal reflux were defined as a high DeMeester score, a high level of total reflux on impedance monitoring, or both. According to this definition, 22 of 36 study subjects had high levels of reflux (61.1%), Table 4-7. Two subjects with high levels of reflux on impedance monitoring had normal DeMeester scores of 2.0 and 4.0. Both had high levels of weakly acid reflux. Only 29% of the subjects with objectively high levels of reflux had evidence of GORD from

GerdQ questionnaire results.

Table 4-6. Number of acid, weakly acid and non-acid refluxes recorded over a standardised 24 hou
impedance monitoring period.

	Median number of refluxes (in 24h)	Minimum value	Maximum value	Normal range	Number supranormal
Total	31.0	9.3	119.2	<75	4
Acid	17.0	0	86.8	<50	3
Weakly acid	10.5	0	89.8	<33	7
Non-acid	0.0	0	3.8	<15	0

Table 4-7. Number of subjects identified to have high levels of reflux by pH and impedance monitoring

		Level of reflux as assess	ed by pH monitoring
		High	Normal
Level of reflux as assessed	High	2	2
by impedance monitoring	Normal	18	14

The exposure of the oesophagus to gastric refluxate is measured by the average bolus clearance time and the oesophageal volume exposure. Bolus clearance time was prolonged in 11 of 36 study subjects and volume exposure was prolonged in four subjects.

The proximal channel of the oesophageal probe is 17cm up from the tip. When episodes of reflux are recorded at this uppermost level they are described as proximal. A median of 6.4 proximal reflux episodes were recorded in the current study. The upper limit of the 95% confidence interval for a health population was reported as 30. As a proportion of the total number of refluxes recorded, a median of 10.6% were registered at the proximal channel (normal range 12-39). Only three individuals had supranormal levels of reflux over a 24-hour period.

Figure 4-6. 24-hour reflux events recorded at impedance monitoring. 95th centile reference lines indicate the published upper limits of normal for healthy controls (Zerbib *et al.*, 2005). * indicates individuals with pathological levels of reflux on pH monitoring; †indicates individuals with pathological levels of proximal reflux. Subject number 21 was studied on PPI therapy.



4.4 pH-impedance analysis: inter-rater reliability

To protect against reporting bias, one in three pH-impedance studies from the latter cohort were re-reported by a rater blinded to the results of the questionnaires and BAL analysis. The key results of this comparison are detailed in Table 4-8 and Figure 4-7. Pearson r and intraclass correlation coefficients both indicate strong inter-rater reliability.

Table 4-8. Key pH-impedance results as reported by two independent raters. Rater A=Rhys Jones. Rater B=Amaran Krishnan, a surgical registrar and former research fellow who was blinded to the remainder of these individuals' results.

Study number	24h pH reflux episodes (A)	24h pH reflux episodes (B)	24h impedance reflux episodes (A)	24h impedance reflux episodes (B)	24h proximal reflux episodes (A)	24h proximal reflux episodes (B)
21	36.0	36.7	43.7	50	9.8	11.1
24	7.3	9.0	59.7	64.1	7.3	7.4
27	53.2	53.6	16.8	19.7	0	0
31	77.7	74.0	38.7	39	8.5	8.5
36	59.9	59.9	27.5	31.9	12.1	12.1
Pearson r	0.999		0.992		0.993	
Intraclass correlation	0.997		0.995		0.993	

Figure 4-7. Scatterplots to illustrate the level of agreement between key pH-impedance reflux episode counts. Rater details are included in Table 4-8.



4.5 Assessment of laryngopharyngeal reflux and pulmonary aspiration

4.5.1 Subjective assessment

Symptoms of laryngopharyngeal reflux were assessed with the Reflux Symptom Index (RSI). Nine items are graded from 0 (no problem) to 5 (severe problem) to give a maximum score of 45. The normal range in a healthy population was reported as 0-13 (Belafsky *et al.*, 2002).

Twenty-five study subjects were taking a PPI at the time of recruitment. Twenty-three completed the RSI questionnaire before discontinuing their medication. Two subjects failed to answer at least one question and their responses were excluded. The median score for the on-PPI response was 14. Twelve subjects (48%) had scores greater than 13, suggesting evidence of laryngopharyngeal reflux.

Off PPI, the median RSI score was 10. Thirteen patients (37%) had positive RSI scores. The median difference when subjects' on-PPI and off-PPI scores were compared was -1. In summary, the questionnaires suggested slightly higher levels of LPR when subjects were on PPI therapy than when they were off PPI therapy but the difference was small.

On and off-PPI scores are illustrated in Figure 4-8. There was no consistent pattern associated with PPI cessation.

There was no good correlation between the objective measurement of proximal reflux and the symptoms of laryngopharyngeal reflux, as assessed by the RSI questionnaire (Pearson correlation coefficient 0.047),

Figure 4-9. The upper limit for the 95% confidence interval for 24-hour proximal refluxes is 30. Only three subjects had high levels of proximal reflux in the current study.



Figure 4-8. Extra-oesophageal symptoms as assessed by Reflux Symptom Index in patients taking PPI therapy at the time of study recruitment. PPI was discontinued for two weeks prior to physiology testing.

Figure 4-9. Scatterplot to illustrate the relationship between levels of objectively measured proximal reflux and symptoms of laryngopharyngeal reflux



Pharyngeal imaging

Endoscopic appearances of the hypopharynx were recorded at the time of bronchoscopy and later evaluated for evidence of LPR by an external assessor. The Reflux Finding Score (RFS) has been validated for this purpose, with a normal range described as 0-7 (Belafsky *et al.*, 2001).

Representative images are illustrated in Figure 4-10.

Scoring was possible in 35 of 36 subjects. In one, the images were of insufficient quality. RFS and RSI scores are detailed in Table 4-9.

There was no clear association between RFS and RSI scores (Pearson coefficient 0.184, p=0.298). Similarly, there was relationship between RFS and objective measures of reflux (overall or proximal) or aspiration (BAL pepsin concentration).

Figure 4-10. Illustrative bronchoscopy images captured for an external assessor to evaluate evidence of laryngopharyngeal reflux using the Reflux Finding Score (Belafsky *et al.*, 2001)



IPF5



IPF10



IPF15



IPF20



IPF24



IPF35



IPF30

Table 4-9. Bronchoscopic and symptomatic assessment of laryngopharyngeal reflux. Four of the eightcomponents of the reflux findings scale (RFS) are included here for illustration. RSI=Reflux symptom index.Images for subject IPF25 could not be scored due to insufficient image quality.

Patient No	Vocal fold oedema	Diffuse laryngeal oedema	Posterior Commissure hypertrophy	Granuloma/ granulation tissue	RFS Total	RSI Score
IPF1	1	0	0	0	3	10
IPF2	2	2	2	0	9	10
IPF3	1	1	1	0	5	12
IPF4	2	1	1	0	9	9
IPF5	3	2	3	0	11	34
IPF6	2	1	1	0	4	18
IPF7	1	1	1	0	5	7
IPF8	2	0	0	0	4	15
IPF9	2	2	3	0	11	39
IPF10	3	2	2	0	11	23
IPF11	1	1	1	0	5	5
IPF12	0	0	0	0	0	8
IPF13	3	2	1	0	9	7
IPF14	2	1	0	0	6	0
IPF15	1	2	1	0	10	4
IPF16	0	0	1	0	1	19
IPF17	2	1	1	0	7	25
IPF18	0	0	1	0	1	2
IPF19	2	1	1	0	7	10
IPF20	1	1	1	0	6	26
IPF21	1	1	2	0	4	NA
IPF22	2	0	0	0	2	29
IPF23	2	1	2	0	5	2
IPF24	2	2	2	0	6	6
IPF26	1	2	2	0	5	13
IPF27	2	1	2	0	5	8
IPF28	1	1	1	0	3	25
IPF29	2	1	1	0	4	2
IPF30	1	0	0	0	1	13
IPF31	1	0	0	0	1	21
IPF32	2	1	1	0	4	9
IPF33	0	0	0	0	0	23
IPF34	2	2	0	0	4	7
IPF35	1	3	2	0	6	30
IPF36	0	0	0	0	0	6

4.5.2 Bronchoscopy and bronchoalveolar lavage

All subjects underwent a standardised bronchoscopy and bronchoalveolar lavage, using 3 x 60ml instillations of normal saline. Thirty-four experienced no complications. One participant, who was taking the antiplatelet agent clopidogrel, suffered a nosebleed and the procedure was abandoned and repeated after clopidogrel had been suspended. Another participant was admitted to her local hospital the evening of the procedure with symptoms of lethargy and malaise. Her symptoms settled without specific treatment and she was discharged the following day.

Biochemical quantification

Pepsin

Pepsin concentration was measured in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid using a validated inhouse ELISA. Assays were performed in two batches; standard curves are illustrated in Figure 4-11.



Figure 4-11. Standard curves for the ELISA used to quantify pepsin concentrations in BAL fluid



The limit of detection for both experiments was 3ng/ml. The median pepsin concentration for the study subjects was 0ng/ml, which was equivalent to the median value of 1.1ng/ml for the control subjects. The mean pepsin concentration for the IPF subjects and the controls was 12.0ng/ml and 1.1ng/ml, respectively. Seventeen of the thirty-six study subjects (44%) had pepsin concentrations above the levels recorded in the control population. The values for these positive readings ranged from 7-44ng/ml. Pepsin concentrations for each subject are listed in Table 4-10 below.

There was no significant correlation between pepsin concentration and summary reflux parameters, including DeMeester score, reflux index or total number of refluxes. Pepsin concentrations for the IPF patients was significantly higher than those recorded in the control group.

The IPF group was then divided into those with pH-impedance evidence of GOR, and those without. Objective evidence of reflux was defined as a high DeMeester score, a high total number of refluxes at impedance monitoring, or both. The pepsin concentrations for these two groups, in addition to the control group, are illustrated in Figure 4-12.

Figure 4-12. Pepsin concentrations in IPF study subjects and healthy controls. In the IPF study subjects, the presence of gastro-oesophageal reflux was defined at pH-impedance monitoring by a high DeMeester score, a high total number of refluxes, or both.



Table 4-10. pH-impedance monitoring results and BAL pepsin concentrations in all study subjects. Normal values are included in brackets (Jamieson *et al.,* 1992; Zerbib *et al.,* 2013).

Study number	DeMeester score (<14.72)	Impedance-detected refluxes (<75)	Proximal refluxes (1-6)	Pepsin concentration (ng/ml)		
1	55.6	105.6	38.7	<3		
2	37.2	30.5	12.4	25		
3	54.5	23.3	9.5	7		
4	7.8	14.8	4.2	<3		
5	30.3	69.2	4.8	16		
6	128.9	119.2	44.5	14		
7	6.6	24.5	6.4	19		
8	6.8	62.5	14.0	0		
9	2.0	94.2	18.6	11		
10	121.3	29	6.4	<3		
11	201.6	10.8	3.2	<3		
12	45.9	31.2	19.6	35		
13	18.5	52.4	25.7	<3		
14	0.2	71.2	28.3	<3		
15	22.8	38.3	8.7	26		
16	78.2	50.2	5.2	14		
17	13.2	30.8	0.0	11		
18	2.9	17.2	2.2	19		
19	4.0	28.2	5.6	<3		
20	18.5	34.1	14.3	<3		
21	31.3	43.7	9.8	<3		
22	3.6	24.9	2.1	40		
23	1.0	9.3	0.0	<3		
24	1.7	59.7	7.3	39		
25	2.4	13.2	1.0	<3		
26	7.0	28.6	4.8	<3		
27	16.6	16.8	0	29		
28	7.6	22.7	2.8	42		
29	4.0	81.9	2	40		
30	12.8	14.5	5.8	<3		
31	25.8	38.7	8.5	<3		
32	28.0	51.5	14.7	<3		
33	29.5	58.7	35.2	<3		
34	39.4	15.8	4.2	<3		
35	25.0	33.6	5.6	44		
36	25.6	27.5	12.1	<3		

Bile salts: spectrophotometry

BALF bile salt concentrations are detailed in Table 4-11. Only three subjects had detectable levels of bile acids using the TBA assay. An additional subject had only one valid reading generated at spectrophotometry. Samples from these four subjects were verified with a further set of readings.

One of these subjects had high levels of reflux on pH monitoring, and the other two had normal pH-impedance results.

Table 4-11. Bronchoalveolar lavage fluid bile salt concentration measured in all 35 IPF patients using a spectrophotometric total bile salt assay. All measurements are in µmol/l. Three separate runs were initially performed and an average result determined. Positive readings were verified with a further set of readings. Zero values indicate readings lower than the limit of detection.

Numb er	Run 1	Run 2	Run 3	Average	S.D.	Rerun 1	Rerun 2	Rerun 3	Average	S.D.
1	0	0	0	0	0					
2	3	27	5	12	11	2	2	12	6	5
3	0	0	0	0	0					
4	1	2	1	1	0	1	6	4	4	2
5	0	0	0	0	0					
6	1	0	0	0	0					
7	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0
8	0	1	0	0	0					
9	0	0	0	0	0					
10	0	0	0	0	0					
11	1	0	0	0	0					
12	0	0	1	0	1					
13	0	0	0	0	0					
14	0	0	0	0	0					
15	1	0	0	0	0					
16	0	ххх	0	0	0					
17	0	0	0	0	0					
18	0	ххх	0	0	0					
19	0	0	0	0	0					
20	0	0	0	0	0					
21	0	0	0	0	0					
22	0	ххх	0	0	0					
23	xxx	ххх	0	0	0	2	2	0	1	1
24	1	0	ххх	0	0					
25	0	0	0	0	0					
26	0	0	0	0	0					
27	0	0	0	0	0					
28	0	0	0	0	0					
29	0	0	0	0	0					
30	0	0	0	0	0					
31	0	0	0	0	0					
32	0	0	0	0	0					
33	0	0	0	0	0					
34	0	1	0	0	0					
35	0	0	0	0	0					
36	0	0	xxx	0	0					

Cytology

Bronchoalveolar lavage fluid was captured after the tip of the bronchoscope was wedged into a right middle lobe subsegmental bronchus. The median fluid volume retrieved was 82.8ml. After 5ml of fluid was sent for microbiology, the remaining sample was transferred to university laboratories on ice for processing. Processing was undertaken within 1 hour of retrieval in all cases.

The median total BAL cell count was 19.2×10^4 cells/ml. Summary figures for BAL cytology are detailed in Table 4-12 with reference to values recorded in a group of healthy controls (Zheng *et al.*, 2000). The IPF study subjects had higher total cell counts and a higher proportion of neutrophils. There were lower proportions of lymphocytes and eosinophils in the study subjects.

Table 4-12. Differential cell counts for bronchoalveolar lavage fluid retrieved from the 36 study participants. Values are expressed as mean (range). p-values refer to a one-sample T-test comparing the study data to the reference mean.

	IPF study patients	Normal values	p-value
Total BAL cell count (cellsx10 ⁴ /ml)	19.2 (1.8 -236.0)	14 (12-16)	0.006
Macrophages (%)	87.9 (23.4-99.4)	73 (66-80)	0.376
Neutrophils (%)	6.8 (0.2-93)	2.1 (1.6-2.6)	0.001
Lymphocytes (%)	3.0 (0.4-58.0)	20 (14-26)	<0.001
Eosinophils (%)	0.7 (0-12.0)	1.1 (0-2.2)	0.044

Lipid ingestion

Cytospin slides from each subject were stained with Oil Red O for enumeration of a lipidladen macrophage index (LLMI). The cytoplasmic opacification of 300 macrophages was enumerated using a scale from 0-4. In order to improve the consistency of enumeration, a reference chart was produced using images from the current study subjects, Figure 4-13. LLMI scores are listed in Table 4-13.

One in four samples were second read by an experienced biomedical scientist in the research laboratories at the Freeman Hospital (KJ). The Pearson correlation coefficient for the paired readings was 0.913, conventionally regarded as a very strong positive relationship.

In addition, the Bland-Altman method for evaluating inter-rater agreement was used to assess the difference between the reported ORO scores, as described in section 3.1.13 (Bland and Altman, 1986). The mean difference between the two readings was -1.5 and the standard deviation of the differences was 2.7. The limits of agreement were therefore -6.8 to 3.9.



Figure 4-13. Reference chart used to support LLMI grading

Oxidative stress

г

A further 200 macrophages were counted on separate cytospin slides after staining with Perls Prussian Blue. Haemosiderin scores are listed in Table 4-13. Illustrative photomicrographs are shown in Figure 4-14 and Figure 4-15.

Study number	LLMI	Haemosiderin score
1	52	19.5
2	23	236.5
3	6	4.5
4	8	19.5
5	139	9.5
6	0	8
7	13	67
8	57	115.5
9	12	89
10	34	11.5
11	30	109.5
12	0	9
13	73	207.5
14	0	6.5
15	7	44
16	18	3
17	11	46.5
18	5	71.5
19	310	4.5
20	24	74.5
21	5	0
22	3	417
23	19	69
24	0	12
25	18	248
26	73	10
27	11	2
28	10	344
29	0	78
30	0	60
31	2	67
32	5	7
33	8	15
34	0	79
35	0	34
36	5	2

Table 4-13. LLMI and haemosiderin scores enumerated from BAL cytospins
Figure 4-14. Illustrative photomicrographs of cytospin cell staining with Giemsa, Perls Prussian Blue and Oil Red O stains.



IPF5: Giemsa



IPF5: Perls



IPF5: Oil red O



IPF10: Giemsa



IPF10: Perls



IPF10: Oil red O



IPF15: Giemsa



IPF15: Perls



IPF15: Oil red O



IPF20: Giemsa



IPF20: Perls



IPF20: Oil red O

Figure 4-15. Illustrative photomicrographs of cytospin cell staining with Giemsa, Perls Prussian Blue and Oil Red O stains.



IPF25: Giemsa



IPF25: Perls



IPF25: Oil red O



IPF30: Giemsa



IPF30: Perls



IPF30: Oil red O



IPF35: Giemsa



IPF35: Perls



IPF35: Oil red O

Summary values for cell staining are illustrated in Table 4-14. Thirty-three of 36 subjects had haemosiderin scores in excess of the normal range for healthy control subjects (Reid *et al.*, 2001). With respect to Oil Red O staining, a marker of lipid-laden macrophages, only six of the study subjects had values in excess of the normal range.

	Study patients	Published healthy controls (Reid <i>et al.,</i> 2001; Basset-Leobon <i>et al.,</i> 2010)
Haemosiderin score	39 (0-417)	0 (0-2)
Lipid-laden macrophage index	9 (0-310)	5.47 (0-49)

Table 4-14. Summary values for cell staining counts. Results are expressed as median (range).

There was no good correlation between objective markers of reflux and the lipid-laden macrophage index. Figure 4-16 and

Figure 4-17 illustrate the relationship between the DeMeester score and the LLMI, for which the Spearman Rho correlation coefficient was 0.056. The correlation coefficients relating to impedance monitoring parameters (total refluxes and proximal refluxes) were lower still.

As a group, haemosiderin scores for the IPF subjects in the current study were significantly higher than those reported in healthy controls (Reid *et al.*, 2001). Scores in excess of the normal range were calculated in 33 of the 36 study subjects.

The relationship between disease severity and haemosiderin score was assessed by splitting the group into two with respect to the vital capacity. Subjects with percentage predicted vital capacity higher than the median value (77.6%) had lower haemosiderin scores (9.5 vs 71.5, Kruskal-Wallis p=0.038, Figure 4-18). As with the LLMI, haemosiderin scores were not associated with reflux status (Figure 4-19). There was no association with smoking status, age or N-acetyl cysteine use or BALF neutrophilia.



Figure 4-16. The relationship between LLMI and DeMeester scores for the 36 study subjects

Figure 4-17. LLMI calculated for study subjects grouped by DeMeester score; 14.7 is the upper limit of normal in healthy controls and values above this are consistent with a high level of gastro-oesophageal reflux



Figure 4-18. Haemosiderin scores for study subjects stratified by lung disease severity. Subjects were dichotomised with respect to the median figure for % predicted vital capacity.



Figure 4-19. Haemosiderin score calculated for study subjects grouped by DeMeester score



4.6 Multidisciplinary review and subsequent management

The participants in the current study volunteered to undergo invasive clinical testing. The oesophageal physiology data generated are equivalent to those which would guide the clinical management of patients in the upper gastrointestinal surgery clinic. The optimal management of gastro-oesophageal reflux in IPF remains unclear, so the appropriate response to these clinical data was not well defined.

As a result, an aerodigestive multidisciplinary team was convened to discuss the results generated in the current study. The team meets monthly and the core membership comprises oesophago-gastric surgeons, respiratory physicians, anaesthetists and research scientists. To the present day, the MDT continues to run. The majority of the cases discussed relate to:

- Reflux in IPF patients and lung transplant recipients
- Smaller numbers of patients with cystic fibrosis, systemic sclerosis, bronchiectasis
- Management of giant hiatal hernias with suspected pulmonary compromise
- Investigation and management of adult trachea-oesophageal fistula

The management of all 36 patients was formally discussed by the aerodigestive multidisciplinary team. Antireflux surgery was recommended for three patients; to date two have undergone surgery and the third declined surgery for the present time. Of the two that underwent fundoplication, one patient had received a lung transplant prior to fundoplication.

4.7 Summary

In the current study, 36 consecutive patients with a well-characterised diagnosis of IPF were recruited from the regional interstitial lung disease clinic at the Royal Victoria Infirmary in Newcastle upon Tyne.

Of those who were booked into the study, two individuals died before they were due to participate and two more did not attend due to disease progression. All but one subject were able to tolerate both oesophageal physiology monitoring and bronchoalveolar lavage. From existing clinical assessments, 31% of subjects had prior evidence of GORD. Structured questionnaire (GerdQ) assessment suggested GORD in 29% of subjects off-PPI. In the small group of subjects who repeated structured assessments of respiratory HR-QOL questionnaires on-and off-PPI, significantly better scores were recorded after cessation of therapy. Extra-oesophageal reflux was evident from questionnaire assessment in 37% of subjects off-PPI.

The results of oesophageal manometry were normal in 44% and abnormal in 56%. The majority of subjects with abnormal swallows had weak peristalsis.

Ambulatory pH monitoring identified pathological levels of reflux in 56% of subjects and impedance monitoring demonstrated pathological reflux in 11%. In combination, pH-impedance monitoring suggested objectively high levels of reflux in 61% of subjects.

At bronchoalveolar lavage, bile acids were essentially undetectable. High levels of pepsin were detected in 44% of study subjects. The combination of pepsin quantification and oesophageal monitoring identified a subgroup with evidence of reflux and aspiration, but there was no correlation between levels of reflux and pepsin concentrations.

Cytological staining of BAL fluid samples suggested high levels of oxidative stress in 92% of subjects. Abnormal macrophage lipid uptake was only seen in 17%, half of whom had physiological levels of reflux on ambulatory monitoring.

After formal multidisciplinary review, two patients who participated in the current study have undergone fundoplication.

Chapter 5. Results of Patient Attitudes Study

5.1 Interview summary and stratification by disease severity

Subjects with a secure diagnosis of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis were identified from the regional interstitial lung disease clinic and invited to complete a scripted interview. The interview comprised four stages:

- 1. Demographic survey
- 2. Respondents were asked to read six health states (Box 3. Health state descriptions used in the standard gamble. Outcome W: mild IPF. Outcome X: moderate IPF. Outcome Y: adverse outcome from antireflux surgery. Outcome Z: adverse outcome from medical antireflux therapy.) printed on cards and rank them. There were four descriptive health states in addition to the health states "Full health" and "Immediate death"
- Standard gamble utility analysis for the four descriptive health states, in addition to the health state "Own health"
- 4. Euro-QOL 5D-3L

Box 3. Health state descriptions used in the standard gamble. Outcome W: mild IPF. Outcome X: moderate IPF. Outcome Y: adverse outcome from antireflux surgery. Outcome Z: adverse outcome from medical antireflux therapy.

Outcome W Good energy levels Manage your own washing and dressing Short of breath when hurrying or walking up a slight hill Coughing, which is troublesome to you one or two days a week No need for oxygen support 	Outcome X Reduced energy levels Manage your own washing an Stopping for breath after about walking on the level Coughing, which is troublesom Using supplemental oxygen 	d dressing t 100m or after a few minutes ne for you on most days
Outcome Y Five scars on your stomach, each measuring 1cm in length Not able to belch, leading to bloating and abdominal discomfort Food sticking in your gullet at times Only managing small meals Risk of bleeding, infection and hernias from surgery (A hernia is a bulge at the site of a scar, which may be uncomfortable or painful. Sometimes hernias need to be repaired with an operation.) 	Outcome Z Taking five extra tablets over the con- liquid after meals. You may experience the following pur- Common • Headache • Abdominal pain • Constipation/diarrhoea which require treatment with tablets • Nausea/vomiting	urse of the day, plus Gaviscon roblems: Rare • Reduced energy levels • Serious gut infections • Increased risk of broken bones

Pulmonary function tests are routinely recorded at every visit to the interstitial lung disease clinic. At the time of the study interview, the most recent vital capacity (measured and predicted) was recorded from clinic letters. The median interval between interview and pulmonary function testing was 54 days (0-242). The percentage predicted vital capacity ranged from 41.7 to 133.3%. The median percentage predicted vital capacity was 78% (IQR 68.4-86.4). This midpoint was used to dichotomise the group into the "Top half" and "Bottom half", with respect to objective pulmonary function.

5.2 Summary statistics

A total of 59 subjects were interviewed. Fifty-eight patients were able to complete all parts of the interview. One patient did not complete the standard gamble. He was awaiting an outpatient review and explained that he was frustrated about the delay in being seen.

The demographics of the respondents are summarised in Table 5-2. The mean age was 75.1 years, with a range of 51-92 and a standard deviation of 8.5.

The respondents were largely male, in a ratio of approximately 2:1. The overwhelming majority were retired. Half had no formal qualifications. All of the study subjects were White British.

The respondents' assessment of their own functional status was recorded using EQ5D-3L, summarised in Table 5-1.

Domain	Frequency of response					
Mobility	No problems	12	Some problems	45	Confined to bed	1
Self-Care	No problems	45	Some problems	11	Unable to wash/dress	2
Usual Activities	No problems	17	Some problems	34	Unable	7
Pain/Discomfort	None	19	Moderate	32	Extreme	7
Anxiety/Depression	None	37	Moderate	21	Extremely	1

Table 5-1. Summary responses	to the EQ5D-3L survey
------------------------------	-----------------------

Table 5-2.	Demographic	summary	statistics
------------	-------------	---------	------------

Demographic	n
Male	38
Female	21
Marital status	
Married	40
Single	3
Divorced/separated	5
Widowed	11
Employment status	
Employed	4
Retired	52
At home/not looking for work	1
Unable to work	2
Qualifications	
None	28
GCSE (1-4)	2
GCSE (5+)	6
A-level (2+)	2
First Degree	6
Higher degree	3
NVQ level 3	1
NVQ level 4-5	3
Other	8
Ethnicity	
White British	59

5.3 Validation statistics

Of the 59 respondents, 50 returned health state utilities which differentiated between the respective health states. The remaining 9 recorded the same utility values across each of the health states.

All respondents regarded Full health as preferable to all remaining scenarios in both the ranking exercise and the standard gamble utility measurement.

With respect to the specific scenarios, only the mild and moderate IPF disease states had an inherently ordinal relationship. For 53 of 59 respondents, utility measurements indicated that the mild IPF disease state was perceived as preferable to the moderate IPF disease state. Using a restrictive test, 31 of 59 respondents returned higher utility values for the mild IPF disease state than for the moderate IPF disease state. For the group as a whole, the mean utility value for the mild IPF state was higher than that for the moderate IPF disease state.

Test validity can also be assessed by comparing individual respondents' rank preferences with the utility values they recorded through the standard gamble. Two formulae were used in Microsoft Excel:

Permissive test: =IF((HS#1>=HS#2)AND(HS#2>=HS#3)AND(HS#3>=HS#4),"True","False") Restrictive test:

=IF((HS#1>HS#2)AND(HS#2>HS#3)AND(HS#3>HS#4),"True","False")

where HS#1...#4 represent the order of the health states as ranked by the individual respondent.

The permissive test therefore accepts greater than/equal to relationships between health states ranked adjacent to each other. According to this test, health state rankings were concordant with health state utility valuations for 41 respondents and discordant for 18.

According to the restrictive test, rankings and utility valuations were concordant for 2 of the 59 respondents.

5.4 Health state ranking exercise

Respondents were asked to put the four descriptive health states, in addition to the health states "Full health" and "Death", into their personal order of preference. The majority of respondents (33 of 59) ranked the health states in the following order:

- 1. Full health
- 2. Mild IPF
- 3. Moderate IPF
- 4. Antireflux medication
- 5. Antireflux surgery
- 6. Death

Full results of the ranking exercise are illustrated in Figure 5-1.

Figure 5-1. The frequency with which respondents ranked the health states in a specified order. Figures in brackets indicate respondents who ranked death as preferable to one of the descriptive health states.



All respondents ranked the Full health state as preferable to all the remaining health states. Two respondents valued death as preferable to one of the descriptive health states. The majority of respondents (38 of 59) regarded both the mild and moderate IPF disease states as preferable to either of the adverse outcomes from antireflux therapy.

The vignette describing an adverse outcome from medical antireflux therapy was regarded as preferable to that for an adverse outcome from antireflux surgery by 51 of 59 respondents.

Of the descriptive scenarios, 46 respondents ranked antireflux surgery as the least preferable and eight ranked moderate IPF as the least preferable.

5.5 Health state utility analysis

The health state valuations recorded in the current study are detailed in Table 5-3 and Figure

5-2.

Table 5-3. Health state valuations. SD = standard deviation. OSG = own health evaluation by standard gamble. OE = own health evaluation by EQ5D). The terms "Top half" and "Bottom half" refer to a subdivision with respect to objective pulmonary function (section 5.1).

	Mean	SD
Full sample (n)		
Mild IPF (W)	0.862	0.108
Moderate IPF (X)	0.760	0.198
Antireflux surgery (Y)	0.679	0.230
Antireflux medication (Z)	0.759	0.204
Own health (OSG)	0.798	0.188
Own health (OE)	0.613	0.280
Top half (n)		
Mild IPF (W)	0.860	0.108
Moderate IPF (X)	0.752	0.201
Antireflux surgery (Y)	0.686	0.211
Antireflux medication (Z)	0.767	0.202
Own health (OSG)	0.821	0.174
Own health (OE)	0.656	0.236
Bottom half (n)		
Mild IPF (W)	0.864	0.111
Moderate IPF (X)	0.769	0.201
Antireflux surgery (Y)	0.666	0.254
Antireflux medication (Z)	0.752	0.214
Own health (OSG)	0.788	0.196
Own health (OE)	0.590	0.301



Figure 5-2. Mean health state evaluations recorded by standard gamble. P-values relate to 2-sample T-tests. Descriptive health states are as follows: W=mild IPF; X=moderate IPF; Y=surgical antireflux therapy; Z=medical antireflux therapy. Own health was also evaluated using the standard gamble.

Consistent with the results of the ranking exercise, the mean health state utility recorded for mild IPF was significantly higher than that recorded for moderate IPF. The utility values for both of these states were significantly higher than those recorded for the adverse outcome from antireflux surgery. The scenario describing an adverse outcome from medical antireflux therapy was valued as similar to the moderate IPF health state but significantly worse than the mild IPF health state.

On average, respondents' own health was rated worse than the mild IPF health state (p=0.03). The difference between the utility values for respondents' own health and the moderate IPF health state was not significantly different (p=0.28).



Figure 5-3. Mean health state evaluations recorded for respondent's own current health. P-value refers to a 2-sample T-test.

Own health utility values measured by standard gamble were higher than those measured by EQ5D, the utilities for which are generated with reference to the results of time trade-off interviews. The utility values recorded with the visual analogue scale within EQ5D were not significantly different from the values by the tool as a whole.





There were no statistically significant differences between the sub-groups of respondents after stratification by lung function but there were some trends: The mean utility values recorded for the IPF health states were slightly higher in those patients with worse pulmonary function, and the converse was true for the scenarios relating to antireflux therapy, Figure 5-4. The mean utility values that respondents recorded for their own health was slightly higher in those with better lung function. Again, this difference was not statistically significant (p=0.36 for EQ5D ratings).

As with the unstratified analysis, the health state utilities recorded by standard gamble were significantly higher than those recorded by EQ5D. These differences were statistically significant for the Top half and for the Bottom half (p=0.004 and p=0.006, respectively).

5.6 Correlation between lung function and own health utility values

Finally, reported utilities were assessed against physiological disease severity.

To begin, we compared the two subjective measures of own health. There was a weak correlation between the paired valuations for respondents' own health, as measured by standard gamble and EQ5D (Figure 5-5); Pearson co-efficient of correlation 0.366, p=0.005. There were numerous examples of respondents who scored high scores with one assessment and low scores on the other assessment.





Figure 5-6 and Figure 5-7 illustrate the correlation between respondents' vital capacity and own-health valuations. The correlation between standard gamble-derived utilities and vital capacity was weak (Pearson correlation coefficient 0.129, p-value 0.342).

The relationship was marginally closer when the EQ5D scores were analysed (Pearson correlation co-efficient 0.191, p-value 0.16 (Figure 5-7).



Figure 5-6. Scatterplot comparing the percentage predicted vital capacity with respondents' own health valuations as measured by standard gamble

Figure 5-7. Scatterplot comparing the percentage predicted vital capacity with respondents' own health valuations as measured by EQ5D



5.7 Summary

The overwhelming majority of study subjects were able to complete the entirety of the interview, including multiple iterations of the standard gamble exercise.

The face validity of the defined health states was assessed with the use of logical checks. Similarly, the respondents' own health states could be compared to their valuations of the defined IPF health states. On average, respondents' own health was not significantly different to the health state defined as moderate IPF.

The use of Full health and Death as anchor states was largely supported by the respondents' valuations, although this pattern was not universally applicable.

The majority of respondents regarded both IPF health states as preferable to either antireflux therapy outcome. An adverse outcome from antireflux surgery was generally perceived to be the worst of all the health states.

In this study, own health was valued higher by the standard gamble than it was when assessed by EQ5D, or the visual analogue scale that forms part of the EQ5D tool.

Health state valuations were not significantly different after stratification by physiological disease severity.

Vital capacity was poorly correlated with valuations for Own health.

Chapter 6. Discussion

Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis is a progressive and disabling lung disease associated with high rates of mortality and morbidity, for which there are very limited treatment options. Evidence from the epidemiological literature suggests it is increasingly common (Navaratnam *et al.*, 2011). The last decade has seen a significant increase in research efforts. Whilst the disease process is now better characterised, understanding the aetiology and the development of effective therapies has been more difficult.

IPF is largely a disease of the elderly. The association of significant morbidity is partly related to the advanced age of typical sufferers, but there is clear evidence of comorbidities occurring at higher levels than they do in age-matched controls. Coronary heart disease and diabetes are two well-documented examples (Raghu *et al.*, 2015a).

Gastro-oesophageal reflux is common in IPF patients and pulmonary fibrosis is also common in those with reflux disease (El-Serag and Sonnenberg, 1997; Savarino *et al.*, 2013). Whilst reflux may simply represent a comorbidity in IPF, several strands of evidence suggest that reflux may contribute to the parenchymal changes seen in IPF lungs:

- Bronchoalveolar lavage analysis suggests an association between microaspiration and high rates of acute exacerbations in IPF (Lee *et al.*, 2012)
- Retrospective studies have reported a benefit of antireflux therapy in patients with IPF (Lee *et al.*, 2011)
- Imaging studies also suggest a possible link between gastro-oesophageal reflux and disease severity, as evidenced by asymmetrical disease (Tcherakian *et al.*, 2011)

This area of research has proved challenging for a number of reasons. The identification of gastro-oesophageal reflux identifies a risk of microaspiration, but the difficulty of sampling the intrapulmonary environment makes microaspiration more difficult to demonstrate directly. The damaging effect of weakly acid reflux in the lung means that definitive antireflux control can only be achieved mechanically. Given the age and comorbidities of the IPF population, high quality trial data is limited. Low mortality animal models have been developed, but their applicability to IPF in humans has been debated (Brownlee *et al.*, 2010).

To date, a causative role for reflux and microaspiration in IPF has never been convincingly demonstrated.

Traditionally, respiratory and gastrointestinal clinicians work within distinct areas of clinical practice. Respective specialists train in distinct pathways and research efforts have been organised within distinct teams. Developing a better understanding of the interplay between gastro-oesophageal reflux, microaspiration and chronic lung disease demands a multimodality approach to both research and clinical practice. The traditional barriers between these different teams may provide another reason why progress in this area of practice has been modest.

Despite the limitations of the current IPF literature, the possibility that antireflux therapy might stabilise disease progression has been enthusiastically explored. One investigator concludes, "we do know that stopping reflux in IPF patients by a fundoplication can halt the progression of the disease" (Allaix *et al.*, 2014). Unless better evidence can be found to support an aetiological link between reflux and the progression of fibrosis in IPF, this stance will remain contentious. In general, the age and frailty of people with IPF make them poor candidates for major surgery. The links between general anaesthesia, surgery and acute exacerbations indicate that an aggressive, surgical approach can cause more harm than good (Luppi *et al.*, 2015).

In this early phase of research, the aim of the current study was to explore the feasibility of a systematic, multimodal assessment of reflux and aspiration in IPF. In the setting of a prospective research study, a consecutive series of patients with well-characterised IPF were invited to undergo a panel of investigations designed to analyse symptoms, oesophageal physiology and bronchoalveolar environment.

6.1 Recruitment and feasibility

In total, half of the 76 clinic attenders invited to participate in the study were recruited. During recruitment we explained to all patients that this was a research study, with invasive tests associated with a risk of morbidity and mortality. Whilst all participants had their investigations discussed by a dedicated MDT, it was made clear to all that in some cases, no change to clinical management would be made. Given the nature of the study, the 50% accrual rate attests to the enthusiasm that this group of patients have for research

participation, which in turn relates to the paucity of effective treatment options that are currently available.

Of the 44 patients who indicated their preliminary agreement to take part in the study, 36 completed the study protocol. Four patients died from their disease before they were able to participate in the protocol, a figure which demonstrates the unpredictable and potentially rapid decline which may be seen. Clinical trials involving patients with IPF should be designed to reflect this finding; recruitment of these patients will generally be associated with an attrition rate, and the recruitment process must be sensitive to the fact that clinical deterioration can happen quickly.

Of those patients that commenced the study protocol, all but one were able to tolerate both the oesophageal physiology and the bronchoalveolar lavage. The protocol completion rate was 97%, which would be acceptable to any clinical bronchoscopy or oesophageal physiology lab. There were no complications associated with either oesophageal physiology or ambulatory oesophageal monitoring. Bronchoalveolar lavage resulted in one minor nosebleed and one subsequent hospital admission with symptoms of malaise and lethargy.

There were a number of logistical issues related to the study protocol in this group of patients, in whom the median age was 72.5 years and the oldest study participant was 85 years. Many were reliant on friends or family for transport to and from the hospital. One in ten patients remained as in-patients for the night in between the insertion of the oesophageal probe and the bronchoscopy. Those who stayed overnight all lived at least 20 miles from the hospital. Many patients were taking multiple medications at the time of their participation in the study. Cessation of proton pump inhibitors, H2-receptor blockers and over-the-counter antacids were all stipulated by the study protocol. Aside from these drugs, the only group of medications that required any specific consideration were anticoagulants. One patient (IPF22) was taking the antiplatelet agent clopidogrel as secondary prevention following a previous cerebrovascular accident. He suffered a nosebleed at the time of his bronchoalveolar lavage, which was abandoned. After consultation with his own stroke physician, it was deemed safe to discontinue the clopidogrel temporarily and the lavage was repeated without complication.

Overall, therefore, this IPF study population were able to tolerate the invasive protocol. The protocol could be employed amongst the wider IPF population in a larger study.

Subjective and objective assessments suggest that a broad spectrum of individuals participated in the study. Use of long-term oxygen therapy was listed within the study exclusion criteria. It is likely that clinicians involved in recruitment would also have passed over the frailest of individuals, given the invasive nature of the study protocol. Despite this, nearly half of individuals recruited had been classified as grade 3 or 4 on the MRC breathlessness scale (Fletcher *et al.*, 1959).

Off-PPI, the mean score recorded for the St George's Respiratory Questionnaire was 45. In a review study which considered the psychometric properties of SGRQ in IPF, the mean baseline score aggregated from the individual studies was also 45 (Swigris *et al.*, 2014). The respiratory symptomatology of the current study population therefore appears comparable with the broader IPF population.

6.2 Subjective assessment of reflux and aspiration

In patients with IPF in whom gastro-oesophageal reflux can be identified, the typical reflux symptoms (heartburn and reflux) are known to be less common (Tobin *et al.*, 1998). This group of patients will generally see a respiratory physician more commonly than a gastroenterologist or gastro-intestinal surgeon. As a result, the initial identification of gastro-oesophageal reflux can be challenging.

Amongst the 36 patients included in the current study, 11 had pre-existing evidence of GORD based on clinical correspondence or endoscopy findings. In the latter group of patients who completed the structured GerdQ questionnaire, only 4 of 17 patients (24%) returned scores consistent with a diagnosis of GORD disease. With respect to symptoms of extra-oesophageal reflux, 16 of 36 participants (44%) returned scores consistent with pathological laryngo-pharyngeal reflux. When compared with the 60% of participants identified to have pathological levels of reflux on objective testing, these proportions are all very low. If structured symptom questionnaires make any contribution to the diagnosis of gastro-oesophageal reflux disease, there remains a significant proportion of patients in whom high levels of reflux are clinically silent.

This is a significant finding: in an individual with high levels of reflux, microaspiration could still proceed in the absence of symptoms. In this patient population, it seems that objective oesophageal physiology testing should be used liberally, especially if there is any question that an individual might be a candidate for antireflux surgery. Interestingly, the two-week cessation of proton-pump inhibitors had no consistent impact on reflux symptoms in the current study. The same was true for both gastro-oesophageal and extra-oesophageal symptoms. There are several possible explanations for this:

One possibility is that respondents were unable to accurately recall their symptoms over the preceding period and may simply have considered their normal pattern of symptoms. The RSI tool has not been widely validated for a two week recall period. It seems likely, however that respondents would have been mindful of the fact that they discontinued their PPI medication two weeks previously and that this would provide an aide memoire in terms of their symptom chronology.

Another possibility is that a significant proportion of participants continued taking their PPI. This also seems unlikely as our study attrition rate, for an invasive protocol, suggests a motivated group of participants. In addition, the pH traces obtained at ambulatory monitoring suggest that the patients had indeed discontinued PPI therapy: the median reflux index indicates that, on average, oesophageal pH was acidic for over 6% of the monitoring period.

In reality, structured symptom assessment did not identify a high level of symptoms in this patient group, irrespective of PPI status. As a result, cessation of PPI would not be expected to have a big impact on symptoms.

Within the latter cohort of participants, respiratory health-related quality of life was assessed using St George's Respiratory Questionnaire. Individual scores indicated an improvement in quality of life after PPI medication had been discontinued. This is contrary to the pattern of change that would be expected were acid reflux and aspiration contributing to respiratory symptoms.

In a study that made use of contrast-enhanced MRI, PPI use was shown to reduce the volume of gastric contents in the postprandial period (Babaei *et al.*, 2009). It is possible that PPI use may be associated with a refluxate that has a lower volume but also a higher concentration of non-acid elements.

If non-acid elements, such as bile, were a more potent stimulus for respiratory symptoms than acid refluxate, PPI cessation could result in an improvement in symptoms. The association between non-acid reflux and respiratory symptoms has been demonstrated in a pH/impedance study in children with chronic respiratory disease (Rosen and Nurko, 2004).

In the current study, the number of respondents on which these observations are based is small, but further study into the association between PPI therapy and respiratory symptoms is warranted.

6.3 Oesophageal physiology monitoring

All study participants completed ambulatory oesophageal monitoring with a multichannel intraluminal impedance pH catheter, which was sited after formal manometric localisation of the lower oesophageal sphincter. At the time of study design, this technique was the "state of the art" for quantification of gastro-oesophageal reflux. To date, only three published studies have combined pH and impedance techniques to assess gastro-oesophageal reflux disease (Savarino *et al.*, 2013; Kilduff *et al.*, 2014; Gavini *et al.*, 2015). Prior to ambulatory monitoring, all patients underwent oesophageal physiology analysis. In the first 11 patients, this was achieved through conventional 8-channel manometry. In the latter 25, high-resolution manometry was used.

The key difference between these technologies is the number of manometers that are mounted within the catheter. As a result, HRM has a higher sensitivity for subtle dysmotility. The publication of normal ranges for the key study parameters means that subjects may still be dichotomised into normal and abnormal groups, with respect to the upper limits of the 95% confidence interval for respective control populations. To an extent, the manometry results from 8-channel and HRM may therefore be compared.

In those who were assessed using 8-channel manometry the combination of partial or complete LOS relaxation with swallowing and normal peristalsis was seen in 6 of 11 subjects (55%). In those assessed with HRM, ten of 25 subjects were defined as having a normal swallow by Chicago criteria (40%). Irrespective of which technique was used, a high proportion of subjects were demonstrated to have a degree of dysmotility.

Published reference ranges do not provide the ideal data to use for comparison. In the case of manometry, the main concern is that the reference data were measured in a younger group than that recruited to the current study (Zerbib *et al.*, 2005). In routine clinical practice however, it is these generic reference ranges that are used to assess a patient's suitability for antireflux surgery.

When individuals have oesophageal dysmotility, or failure of relaxation of the lower oesophageal sphincter with swallowing, there is a higher risk of complications following

antireflux surgery. Dysphagia and gas bloat are the major problems that result from an excessively tight LOS but malnutrition may also result. Dysmotility is therefore a relative contraindication to surgery. At worst, revisional surgery may be required and the likelihood of a good outcome is reduced with successive operations. In the frail IPF group, reoperation would be associated with significant risk of morbidity, and potentially, mortality.

Many surgeons would now offer a tailored fundoplication in this situation. There is an argument that a 180° or 270° fundoplication causes less of the symptoms that can result from a tight lower sphincter. To date, there is no good evidence that this practice actually results in better outcomes.

In previous IPF studies, the oesophageal manomety has been undertaken with conventional (5-9 channel) catheters and the results are mixed. Raghu reported the "majority" of subjects to be normal, whilst Kilduff reported only 17% to have ineffective oesophageal dysmotility (Raghu *et al.*, 2006a; Kilduff *et al.*, 2014). In contrast, Soares and Patti reported abnormal manometry in 64% and 75%, respectively (Patti *et al.*, 2005; Soares *et al.*, 2011). In a recent study of subjects with IPF, Savarino noted comparable patterns of dysmotility when compared with a group of healthy volunteers, who were only slightly younger (Savarino *et al.*, 2013).

In summary, it seems likely that IPF patients have higher levels of oesophageal dysmotility. It is unclear whether this relates to age, comorbidities or the disease itself. In those considered for antireflux surgery, it would seem appropriate that modern manometry techniques are used and that the results are carefully considered.

All study subjects were asked to discontinue PPI medication prior to the study protocol. All but one complied with this request. In this isolated case (IPF21), the subject reported that he had continued to take his medication because he forgot to stop it, rather than because he was fearful of symptom recurrence. The pH trace from his ambulatory study confirmed an elevated baseline pH, which confirms that he had continued to take his medication. Interestingly, both the pH and impedance readings demonstrate high levels of gastrooesophageal reflux. This case represents an example of GORD refractory to PPI therapy. In the IPF population, many of whom have asymptomatic GORD, it cannot be assumed that lifelong PPI therapy will control reflux effectively.

Ambulatory monitoring was well-tolerated, as evidenced by the duration of monitoring that the study subjects managed. The shortest period captured was 16 hours, which is

conventionally regarded as the minimum required for representative results. The median monitoring period was 23 hours.

Taken in isolation, the pH results identified supranormal levels of gastro-oesophageal reflux in 20 of 36 study subjects (56%). This figure relates purely to acid reflux detected at the distal oesophagus. The single most important reading used to assess the degree of gastrooesophageal reflux is the proportion of time for which the pH at this distal probe was lower than 4, sometimes referred to as the reflux index. In surgical practice this figure is often combined with the total number of refluxes, the number of long refluxes and the length of the longest reflux, to provide a composite marker of disease severity, the DeMeester score. In our study subjects, the reflux index and the DeMeester score identified the same 20 individuals as having high levels of pathological reflux. This finding adds weight to our definition of normal and abnormal results.

When the results of impedance monitoring were considered in addition, two further subjects were found to have objectively high levels of reflux. Both had high levels of weakly acid reflux. In total therefore, 22 of 36 subjects (61%) in the current study had objectively high levels of reflux after combined pH-impedance monitoring.

Overall, impedance monitoring only identified a pathological level of reflux in a small proportion of subjects, despite the high proportion for whom a high pH index was recorded. This relates, in part, to the way we have defined normality with respect to impedance analysis. Until recently, most reports of oesophageal impedance analysis have quoted the 75th centile from a healthy control population as the upper limit of normal. With respect to the broader biomedical literature, this is unconventional. Ordinarily the upper limit of normal for a test result is taken to be 2 standard deviations above the mean, approximating to the upper limit of the 95th centile. Recent publications, in addition to national association guidelines, support the use of the 95th centile as the upper limit of normal (Association of Gastrointestinal Physiologists, 2015). This is the standard used in the current analysis.

With respect to the issue of oesophageal motility, impedance monitoring can be used to assess the efficiency with which the oesophagus clears a bolus of material. In the current study, mean bolus clearance time was prolonged in 11 of the 36 subjects. Eight of these individuals (73%) also had evidence of dysmotility at manometry, which provides some corroborative evidence that dysmotility is a significant issue amongst this patient population.

Proximal reflux was not commonly detected amongst the subjects in the current study. Only seven individuals had a high number of reflux events detected at the proximal channel on impedance. All but one had high levels of reflux overall, as assessed by the combination of pH and impedance.

In the current literature, there is no consensus as to how normality should be defined when pH-impedance data are analysed. Were parameters such as proximal reflux to be included within the definition of abnormality, the proportion of subjects with high levels of reflux would increase. As with many physiological tests, oesophageal monitoring can provide a vast array of data. Oesophageal volume exposure could be taken into account, as could sub-analyses based on supine/upright posture.

On balance it seems reasonable to combine the reflux index, from the pH trace, with the number of reflux events, from impedance monitoring, to provide an objective definition of pathological gastro-oesophageal reflux in the IPF population. Additional parameters may provide further information, without defining a disease state. Few of the papers in the IPF literature specify how pathological levels of reflux were defined at ambulatory monitoring.

Table 6-1 illustrates the prevalence of pathological reflux amongst IPF patients, as represented in the current literature. Whilst the higher prevalence figures are often quoted (Tobin *et al.*, 1998; Raghu *et al.*, 2006a), the figure of 61% in the current study is comparable to most published estimates.

There are other factors that may have influenced the prevalence estimate from this prospective study. The clinic patients who were approached were aware that the protocol involved a series of invasive tests, the results of which would be considered by a multidisciplinary team. The potential for additional therapy may have enticed those with more severe reflux symptoms to participate. This issue is inherent to many prospective clinical studies.

Albeit in a relatively small sample, the unselected, prospective nature of the current study adds validity to our prevalence estimate.

 Table 6-1. Reported prevalence of pathological gastro-oesophageal reflux detected by ambulatory monitoring. N/S=not specified

Reference	n	Recruitment source	Technique	Prevalence of pathological GOR (%)	
(Tobin <i>et al.,</i> 1998)	17	ILD clinic pH		94	
(Raghu <i>et al.,</i> 2006a)	65	ILD clinic	рН	87	
(Salvioli <i>et al.,</i> 2006)	18 N/S		рН	67	
(Sweet <i>et al.,</i> 2007)	30	Pre-transplant swallow assessment	рН	67	
(Bandeira <i>et al.,</i> 2009)	28	ILD clinic	рН	36	
(Soares <i>et al.,</i> 2011)	16	Routine swallow assessment	рН	56	
(Savarino <i>et al.,</i> 2013)	40	N/S	pH-impedance	83	
(Kilduff <i>et al.,</i> 2014)	18	Patients recruited for a study of PPI and cough	pH impedance	44	
(Gavini <i>et al.,</i> 2015)	54	Pre-transplant swallow assessment	pH-impedance	39	

6.4 Bronchoalveolar lavage

In this study ambulatory oesophageal monitoring was combined with a standardised bronchoscopy and bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) in all subjects. To date, this is the first report in which these techniques have been combined.

BAL was performed in accordance with a protocol that is now well established within our research group (Stovold *et al.*, 2007). A volume of 180ml was used consistently. All studies were performed by the same respiratory physician, who has extensive experience in bronchoscopy and BAL (IAF).

For each subject, between 5 and 10ml was sent from the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) and transported to the microbiology lab for processing. Subsequently, the median volume available for analysis was 78ml (range 35-113; IQR 64-87). Our median yield of 43% compares favourably with the recommended minimum yield of 30%, quoted in the American Thoracic Society's guidelines (Meyer *et al.*, 2012).

The control group for bronchoalveolar lavage is one of the key limitations of this study. The controls in the current study were healthy volunteers and younger than the study subjects. It

would have been more informative to compare the markers of aspiration from the study group with a control group of similar size and comparable age range. Ideally, the control group would have been selected from a population with a similar restrictive pattern of lung disease. At this early phase of research, it was difficult to justify a high volume BAL in such a group.

6.4.1 Pepsin

Clinically, the concentration of solutes in BAL fluid is most commonly measured after lung transplantation. The association of pathological reflux and accelerated onset of bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome (BOS) has been investigated using these solutes as a biomarker for microaspiration (Robertson *et al.*, 2012). High levels of pepsin and bile salts have been correlated with adverse outcomes (Stovold *et al.*, 2007). The proposed links between reflux, aspiration and the pathogenesis of IPF has prompted their use in interstitial lung disease, but this literature is less well established.

In the present study, pepsin concentrations were measured using a validated in-house assay with a limit of detection of 3ng/ml. In our small control group, the range of pepsin concentrations reported using the same assay was 0-2.3ng/ml, with a median of 1.1ng/ml. With reference to this upper figure, 17 subjects in the current study had high levels of pepsin measured in BALF. Once the group was dichotomised by reflux status, there was no difference in the proportion of subjects with high levels of reflux: 7 of 14 in the GOR- group vs 11 of 22 in the GOR positive group.

Two previous studies have investigated BALF pepsin concentrations in IPF. Lee et al reported median concentrations of 35ng/ml in 24 cases where BAL was performed around the time of an acute exacerbation and 47ng/ml in 30 "stable" patients (Lee *et al.*, 2012). The authors conclude that aspiration may play a role in some cases of acute exacerbation. The design of this study is initially appealing, but there are some methodological issues. First, there is no objective assessment of gastro-oesophageal reflux. Second, the BAL was performed with "at least 100ml sterile saline" instilled. This variation makes the pepsin concentrations difficult to interpret. Third, there were seven subjects in which BAL was repeated, such that patients featured in both the "stable" and "acute exacerbation" groups. This duplication raises questions about comparisons between two groups. Six of the seven patients had similarly

low BAL pepsin levels at the two time-points, which challenges the validity of the authors conclusions.

Savarino et al used the Peptest lateral flow device to assess the presence or absence of pepsin in saliva/sputum and BAL samples captured from 21 IPF patients (Savarino *et al.*, 2013). Pepsin was detected in BALF in 67% of cases and in saliva/sputum in 61%. Bile acids were also measured. The authors report that all IPF patients with bile acids or pepsin detectable in BALF had abnormal impedance-pH test results. The detail of this statement is unclear from the manuscript, as the proportion of subjects with abnormal bile salts and pepsin within this group is not given.

In the current study the association between high pepsin levels and pathological GOR is less clear. The correlation between these data was low. There were individuals who had detectable pepsin but no pathological reflux, and vice versa. That said, 31% of subjects had pathological reflux and high levels of pepsin. It is possible that this microaspiration might contribute to lung disease in this subgroup. Using pepsin as a marker of aspiration remains attractive therefore, but a number of methodological barriers remain.

The sensitivity of pepsin as a marker of aspiration may be diminished as a result of the dilution inherent to BAL. In addition, a conventional BAL will only sample one subsegmental bronchus and the small airways with which it communicates. HRCT-guided lavage may improve sensitivity, but there is no good evidence base to support this modification.

The significance of ectopic pepsin production has yet to be fully resolved. Pepsin A is known to be specific to the stomach, but type II alveolar epithelial cells have been shown to produce pepsin C (Gerson *et al.*, 2008; Elabiad and Zhang, 2011). These proteins are distinct gene products (Taggart *et al.*, 1985; Hayano *et al.*, 1988). The assay used in the current study is specific for type A pepsin so detectable BALF pepsin levels should accurately reflect gastro-oesophageal reflux and subsequent aspiration.

Once in the lung, the speed of pepsin clearance after an aspiration event is unknown. Internalisation of pepsin within hypopharyngeal epithelial cells has been demonstrated, but internalisation within the pulmonary epithelium has yet to be evaluated (Johnston *et al.*, 2010). In the IPF lung, it is possible that fibrotic changes would influence epithelial permeability. Pepsin remains a promising biomarker for reflux and aspiration, but its behaviour with the lung must be clarified if its detection is to inform clinical practice.

The current data suggest that it is possible to combine oesophageal physiology monitoring and bronchoalveolar lavage analysis to identify a proportion of IPF patients with evidence of aspiration. With further validation of pepsin as a biomarker of aspiration, this combination of tests may provide a clinical insight into the IPF patients for whom aspiration is most significant.

6.4.2 Bile salts

In this study we used a commercially available spectrophotometric assay to quantify the concentration of bile salts in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid. This is the methodology that has been used most often in the studies that have established bile salts as a marker of aspiration, largely in the field of lung transplantation (D'Ovidio *et al.*, 2005; Blondeau *et al.*, 2008). Samples were run in duplicate to generate each measurement. This process was performed three times for each study subject. Three subjects were found to have detectable levels of bile salts. In each case, three further runs were performed so as to improve the reliability of the result. For one additional subject, only one of the readings from the first three runs was valid. Three further runs were performed in this case also. In total, four subjects had positive bile salt readings, of 0.7, 1, 2.3 and 8.5µmol/l. The highest of these readings came from the one BALF sample that was turbid on visual inspection. The accuracy of the assay may be lower in these circumstances.

The results of a previous validation study indicate a lower limit of detection of 5µmol/l for this specific assay. In this context, the current data suggest bile salts were not detectable in the BAL fluid.

The study by Savarino et al. is the first to evaluate BAL and saliva/sputum samples from IPF patients for total bile acids (2013). In keeping with previous attempts to evaluate bile acids as a marker of aspiration, a commercial assay (Bioquant, San Diego, USA) was used (D'Ovidio *et al.*, 2005). *Savarino et al.* concluded that patients with IPF had more bile acids in BAL and saliva than non-IPF patients and controls. This assumes an accurate detection of levels below 1umol/L, which were not reproduced in the validation study (Parikh *et al.*, 2013).

In a head-to-head comparison, Parikh et al reported a superior sensitivity for the TBA assay used in the current study, in comparison with the Bioquant assay used by Savarino et al (Parikh *et al.*, 2013). This is due to the reversible nature of the reaction in the TBA method, which permits enzymatic recycling.

In general, spectrophotometric assays do not appear sensitive enough to detect bile salts in BAL fluid. This is unsurprising given that they were designed to detect far higher levels of bile salts in the serum of patients with liver disease. Lower concentrations of bile salts may be detectable using analytical chemistry techniques such as tandem mass spectrometry, but the physiological relevance of these lower concentrations requires clarification. In contrast to pepsin, aspiration of bile salts would also require duodenogastric reflux.

6.5 Bronchoalveolar cytology

6.5.1 Differential cell counts

In the current study total BAL cell counts were calculated with a haemocytometer. After standardised preparation of cytospins, differential cell counts were estimated by counting 500 cells and recording the number of neutrophils, lymphocytes, macrophages, eosinophils and basophils.

With reference to the values reported for healthy controls, the IPF subjects in this study had elevated levels of macrophages, and markedly elevated levels of neutrophils. These findings are consistent with the reported characterisation of IPF patients using BALF (Meyer *et al.*, 2012).

6.5.2 Cell staining

In previous reports, pulmonary aspiration of gastric contents has been evaluated cytologically through selective staining of bronchoalveolar lavage fluid. Using an oil red stain, lipid uptake into macrophages can reportedly be measured (Colombo and Hallberg, 1987). The lipid-laden macrophage index (LLMI) gives a measure of the density of lipid uptake.

In the current study, only a minority of subjects had cytospins which demonstrated significant lipid uptake within pulmonary macrophages. The limits of agreement for the LLMI figures were -6.9 to +3.8. This inter-rater reliability suggests that the measurement error for the larger, positive LLMI values was acceptable. LLMI values less than 10 were less accurate.

With reference to the lipid-laden macrophage index (LLMI) for healthy controls, only six subjects had evidence of significant lipid uptake. The relationship between reflux and LLMI was assessed through correlation and by GOR status (normals vs refluxers). Neither analysis revealed any evidence of association.

Oil red staining has been used effectively within our research group in the past. I adjusted the standard operating protocol by using Cilestin Blue as a counterstain, in place of Harris Haematoxylin. This provided a more vivid result and enumeration of the requisite 300 macrophages was possible in all cases. To counter enumeration bias, a proportion of the slides were second read by an observer blinded to the physiology and pepsin results. Correlation analysis suggested a high level of inter-observer agreement.

Several authors have also reported negative results. Limited specificity of the test may be explained by the finding of lipid uptake into alveolar macrophages in non-aspiration lung disease, such as pneumonia (Kitz *et al.*, 2012). Theoretically any process which leads to increased lysis of intrapulmonary cell walls, with subsequent release of lipids, could result in an increased LLMI. Conversely, the sensitivity of the LLMI for detection of aspiration relies on thorough sampling of the intrapulmonary environment, which is rarely possible with BAL. The half-life of alveolar macrophages is another area that is poorly understood, with data currently available only in animal models (Colombo *et al.*, 1992). In the paediatric population, LLMI may have a role in identifying reflux and pulmonary aspiration, but the technique appears less useful in adults.

In addition, we assessed haemosiderin uptake in macrophages using a Perls Prussian Blue stain. Macrophage haemosiderin uptake has been used to explore oxidative stress in lung transplant recipients. Reid et al suggested that under inflammatory conditions, activated neutrophils release harmful free iron from ferritin (Reid *et al.*, 2001). Alveolar macrophages sequester free iron as haemosiderin in order to prevent the generation of free radicals and reactive oxygen species.

In contrast to the results of LLMI evaluation, macrophage haemosiderin uptake was visible in the majority of the study subjects. With reference to haemosiderin scores reported for healthy controls, 33 of 36 subjects in the current study had high results (Reid *et al.*, 2001). Haemosiderin scores were not associated with reflux status, but were found to be higher in subjects with more severe lung disease, as assessed by vital capacity.

The significance of iron deposition has been studied in IPF, in relation to putative associations with occult alveolar haemorrhage, angiogenesis and pulmonary hypertension (Kim *et al.*, 2010; Puxeddu *et al.*, 2014).

These issues seem increasingly pertinent in light of positive findings from recent clinical trials. Nintadenib, a tyrosine kinase receptor inhibitor, has potent angiostatic activity in both

in vitro and ex vivo studies (Hilberg *et al.*, 2008). Pirfenidone has been shown to have antioxidant properties (Salazar-Montes *et al.*, 2008). Techniques that characterise oxidative stress may be useful to personalise therapy in the future.

6.6 Multidisciplinary review

This research study was possible due to an ongoing collaboration between respiratory physicians, general surgeons and translational scientists with an interest in reflux and chronic lung disease. Whilst the design was largely observational, it was clear that the data generated could have implications for clinical management. Optimal management has yet to be defined in this area of practice, so we set up a multidisciplinary team to consider the study results and plan future management accordingly. In addition to surgical and respiratory input, the core clinical membership includes anaesthetic support. Only three patients from the current cohort were recommended for antireflux surgery; two have undergone fundoplication to date. One of these two patients was initially being considered for antireflux surgery but underwent urgent lung transplantation first, in light of declining pulmonary function.

In the context of the current literature, this approach to antireflux surgery may be regarded as overly conservative. However, the same MDT has demonstrated a positive approach to the management of reflux and aspiration in chronic lung disease, particularly in the setting of lung transplantation (Griffin *et al.*, 2013; Jones *et al.*, 2013).

Some of the barriers to antireflux surgery have included the risks of anaesthesia and major surgery in a frail elderly population, in addition to concerns about oesophageal dysmotility in many of the study subjects. These issues have been easier to confront in a multidisciplinary setting, where there is a growing awareness of the nuances of the IPF population. The proposed links between anaesthesia, surgery and acute exacerbation is one such example. Individual clinicians also find it easier to counsel patients on conservative therapy when this has been the joint perspective within the MDT.

For some patients, it was clear that the subclinical nature of their reflux meant that patients were reluctant to undergo treatment. Despite acknowledging the potential risks of persistent reflux and aspiration, many subjects were reluctant to consider treatment, medical or surgical, for something that was imperceptible to them.
When this range of attitudes came to light, the decision was taken to investigate this issue more closely. The data from the current study highlight the challenges of characterising reflux and aspiration in IPF. It will take time to clarify the possible role of aspiration in IPF. It is crucially important that we consider patients' views as we continue to research this area and to better define the group of patients that might benefit from antireflux therapy.

6.7 Evaluating patient attitudes: measuring the perceived burden of IPF and antireflux therapy

In the work designed to characterise reflux and aspiration in IPF, around 50% of patients approached were willing to participate in a study which involved two different invasive tests. For an observational study, this represents an impressive proportion. Compliance with the study protocol was also high.

Conversely, around 50% of patients did not wish to take part. This might be consistent with a proportion of patients who were more conservative and risk averse. Such a dichotomy might also be expected for attitudes to treatments with a degrees of risk.

Exploring the patient perspective in IPF involved a very different approach than the work to characterise reflux and aspiration. Evaluating attitudes towards health is a complex area but the theoretical and practical basis is increasingly well established within the health economics literature.

6.7.1 Study design

For the current study, the standard gamble was identified as the most appropriate tool to use. The impact of reflux on lung disease and the outcomes from antireflux therapy will always be associated with a degree of uncertainty. It was felt that the standard gamble was the best technique with which to frame that uncertainty.

Health state utility analysis has not been undertaken in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis or any other interstitial lung disease previously. The unprecedented nature of this work made for some specific challenges. Whilst health state vignettes are available for many other chronic lung diseases, this is not the case in IPF. Therefore, the first step was to construct appropriate health states. These vignettes needed to be easily understood, provide a valid reflection of the disease and be concise enough to be incorporated into a standard gamble interview. Using longer vignettes may have provided a richer and more realistic account of living with the disease, but the concise nature of our health state cards made them accessible to the interview participants.

The most difficult aspect of designing the study came in integrating the diverse considerations of lung disease and antireflux therapy. The use of utilities made this comparison possible, but the standard techniques will only generate a utility for one health

state at a time. Colleagues from our own unit have described a chained standard gamble technique, in which health state vignettes are successively used within the gamble (McNamee *et al.*, 2004). This technique is feasible because the utility recorded for each health state can be used to provide the anchor for the next standard gamble. In the current study, it was felt that a chained standard gamble would have introduced another, unwelcome layer of complexity and added burden for participants. Instead, four health states were measured consecutively using separate, conventional standard gambles.

Ideally, this study would have been designed to compare the burden of IPF with the range of possible outcomes associated with antireflux therapy. In time, this may provide an insight into patient perceptions of the risks and benefits of treating reflux in IPF. At present, the data on the pulmonary benefit of antireflux therapy in patients with IPF are essentially anecdotal. In the absence of high-quality study data with which to quantify potential benefit, the focus of the analysis shifted. The four rounds of the standard gamble were designed to compare the burden of disease in IPF with the potential burden of antireflux therapy. This latter concept can be readily derived from the experience of clinicians and patients in the upper GI surgery clinic. These groups informed the design and revision of the health state vignettes that were eventually used.

There is no accepted process for the design of health state vignettes in utility analysis. Some studies simply use the name of the condition or treatment outcome to characterise the scenario in question (Laccourreye *et al.*, 2012). It is increasingly accepted that this is not the most robust technique as the details of the health state are left entirely to the imagination of the respondent, introducing a high degree of subjectivity. Alternatively it has been shown that study methodology becomes more reproducible if "word pictures" can be used (Hamilton *et al.*, 2014).

This approach was utilised in the current study. Where possible, validated descriptors of disability were used. Qualitative study data were also incorporated where possible. Most importantly, the process was iterative, with successive rounds of input from patients and clinicians, until the vignettes became stable and acceptable.

The accuracy with which vignettes reflect a health state is difficult to prove but their validity is enhanced by the inclusion of explicit detail. As with more traditional biomedical studies, there are a number of techniques that can be used to assess validity, both of the vignette and the standard gamble process. In the current study, two key validation steps were the

inclusion of the ranking exercise and the comparison with EQ5D, which provides an indirect comparison with health state utilities derived from time trade-off.

6.7.2 Study subjects

The selection of interview respondents was another important decision in the design of the current study. At this early stage of research, the aim of this work was to capture the patient perspective, so IPF patients were chosen as the target audience. Almost all subjects preferred to participate in their interviews through home visits. Given the relative rarity of the disease, completing the interviews involved travelling across a large geographical area, including Greater Newcastle, North and South Tyneside, Northumberland and Gateshead. There are therefore resource implications for future studies of this type.

The study subjects appear to be representative of the broader IPF population in the North East of England. Median percentage predicted vital capacity was equivalent to that in the characterisation study population (78% in both studies). They were largely elderly, male, retired and with a relatively low level of formal qualifications; 11 of 59 participants had completed either A-levels or degrees and a further three had NVQ level 4-5. They were universally White British by ethnicity. Given the age and level of formal qualification within the group, the ease with which the interview could be completed would seem to be an important consideration.

In a previous postal study of diabetic subjects a standard gamble was administered both at interview and by post (Hammerschmidt *et al.*, 2004). While the results showed good consistency, only about two-thirds of the completed postal forms were usable. The results of the current study demonstrate that a standard gamble is feasible in the IPF population. Telephone interviews or postal formats would have been more challenging as additional explanation was required at times.

6.7.3 Key findings

The majority of respondents rated both of the IPF health states as preferable to either of the antireflux therapy outcomes. A significant minority, however, regarded either one of the antireflux therapy outcomes as preferable (36% of respondents). This split indicates a genuine division of opinion across the group as a whole.

Almost all respondents (54 of 59) regarded either an adverse outcome from antireflux therapy or the moderate IPF health state as the least preferable health state.

Interestingly, five people in the study regarded the antireflux medication scenario as worse than moderately severe IPF and an adverse outcome from antireflux surgery. In the absence of any qualitative analysis, it is unclear from the present data whether respondents were more concerned about the prospect of having to take supplementary medication or about the risk of side effects.

The average utilities for the health states suggest that respondents rated mild IPF as the most preferable health state and an adverse outcome from antireflux surgery as the least preferable. The utilities recorded for the mild IPF state and for medical antireflux therapy were equivalent.

By the end of the interview, each respondent had evaluated his or her own health using three different techniques: standard gamble, EQ5D and the visual analogue scale, which is included within EQ5D. The mean utilities recorded by these latter techniques were equivalent (0.613 vs 0.611) but the utility recorded by the standard gamble was significantly higher (0.798).

The precise reason for these differences cannot be established from these data, but the subject of bias has been extensively discussed within the healthcare measurement literature. Bias occurs when responses result in a systematic departure from true values under consideration. When subjects are questioned about health, factors related to one's own circumstances often have an influence. From my own observations, interview respondents would sometimes try to understand the vignettes by thinking about which elements they could relate to, or which were consistent with their own current health.

Bias can occur due to personality traits, attitudes, behaviours or might be more associated with the use of a specific measurement tool (McDowell, 2011). One respondent might exaggerate disability in an bid to delay their return to work, whilst another might play down their problems in a bid to return more quickly.

In the current study, there are several factors that could account for the observed pattern of results.

Stoicism is a personality trait that would be expected to inflate utility scores which were recorded for an individual's own health. Defensiveness may have the same effect.

Hypochondriasm or a tendency towards attention-seeking behaviour would have the opposite effect.

Response shift is a phenomenon that has been described in individuals with chronic, progressive disease. Individuals have been shown to reframe their perceptions of disease severity as it progresses (Sprangers and Schwartz, 1999). Similarly, it has been shown that individuals living with a significant disability tend to report higher utilities for their situation than respondents considering the same health state objectively (Albrecht and Devlieger, 1999). This would explain the trend towards higher utilities recorded by the respondents with worse pulmonary function for the IPF health states.

Bias has also been reported for the use of devices where the middle section and end points are clearly visible, such as a visual analogue scale. End-scale aversion describes how some individuals will preferentially record responses at the extremes of the scale, whilst more conservative individuals will be drawn to respond in the mid-section of the scale (Parkin and Devlin, 2006).

Another explanation relates more specifically to the methodology of the standard gamble. At each stage, the respondent is asked to choose between the certainty of a defined health state, and the uncertainty of a gamble. Risk-averse individuals will be less happy to gamble, which has been shown to result in higher utility scores. The converse would apply to risktakers. It is tempting to conclude that the issue of risk aversion might explain why the utilities from the standard gambler were higher. With respect to the figures generated by the visual analogue scale, this may be true.

The same argument is less applicable when the results of the standard gamble and EQ5D are compared. As discussed in section 3.2.9, EQ5D works by mapping a multi-dimensional assessment of health to a set of pre-calculated utility scores. The utility scores that have been calculated for the various permutations of EQ5D were derived from a time-trade off study. As discussed previously, the time trade-off can be thought of as simplified version of a standard gamble rather than a distinct technique. In the time-trade off, there is a group of people who are reluctant to trade, in a way that is analogous to the risk averse respondents in a standard gamble (Hamilton *et al.*, 2014).

It seems more likely therefore, that the respondents in the current study displayed other behaviours which would give rise to inflated utilities for their own health state. Based on my experience of conducting the interviews, I was struck by the stoical nature of the group.

Various attempts have been made to measure and correct for bias in utility assessments, but no single approach has gained widespread support (McDowell, 2011). There is a counterargument that the combined effects of different biases form an integral part of the health beliefs that are being studied.

Either way, utilities derived from a standard gamble have generally been shown to be higher than equivalent utilities derived from a time trade-off or visual analogue scale (Torrance, 1986). Conversion factors can be used to correct between the different tools.

6.7.4 Validity, strengths and limitations

In conventional biomedical research, the quality of data can often be assessed through direct comparison with pre-existing reference points. Physical data points might be compared to normal ranges, or assessed statistically to assess validity, reliability or responsiveness.

In health economics, many concepts are abstract so "true" values are never revealed. Scaling procedures and validated tools can provide more meaningful results, but the extent to which a measurement reflects the concept it is designed to reflect to will generally remain elusive.

In the absence of any previous utility analysis in interstitial lung disease, a number of internal checks were incorporated into the study design. These provide some logical reference points against which the validity of the data can be appraised.

With respect to the standard gamble, the anchor points "Full Health" and "Immediate Death" were defined as the extremes health states. The most important of these was Full Health, as this was set up as a "perfect" state. All 59 of the respondents ranked Full Health as the most preferable of all the states.

Interestingly, two of the respondents classed one of the descriptive health states as worse than Immediate Death. The concept of a state worse than death appears repeatedly in the literature and does not inherently challenge the fitness of the individual in question to complete the interview. In the current study, however, the standard gamble was predicated on extreme health states as the anchor points in the gamble. For this reason, the standard gamble-derived utilities for these two individuals were excluded from the analysis.

In the overwhelming majority of respondents, the utilities generated by the standard gamble differentiated between the respective health states. This demonstrates two points: Firstly,

the technique appears sufficiently sensitive to distinguish between the perceived quality of life associated with the different states. Secondly, it suggests that the respondents were able to express opinions as to their preferences between the different states.

This pattern is not universally reported in the literature. In a study of rhinoconjunctivitis, patients faced the choice of remaining in their current state for ten years or a gamble, where the possible outcomes were symptom relief and death. The utility values did not correlate well with other quality of life indices, as patients were unwilling to accept anything other than a minimal risk of death (Juniper *et al.*, 2002).

There was also a reasonable degree of consistency between the opinions expressed in the ranking exercise and in the standard gamble. In 41 respondents (70%), health state rankings were concordant with utility estimates.

There were two further logical checks, both of which were satisfied. Firstly, the results of the ranking exercise and the standard gamble both indicated the mild IPF health state to be preferable to the moderate IPF health state. Secondly, the mean utility recorded for respondents' own health was comparable to that for moderate IPF and worse than the mild IPF. This result is consistent with the inclusive nature of the study recruitment criteria.

Health state utilities are now available for an increasing number of diseases. The main use for these data is in health economics strategy, but they are increasingly used to provide an insight into individual patient preferences. The largest repository is the Cost-Effectiveness Analysis Registry, based at Tufts University in Massachusetts. With reference to this database, it appears that the current study reports IPF utility estimates for the first time. The disease burden associated with this condition can now be compared with that for some of the commoner pulmonary diseases, which will provide an opportunity to raise the profile of the condition.

In lung cancer, for example, health state utilities have been extensively reported, Table 6-2. Chouaid et al reports on EQ5D interviews with 263 patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer (Chouaid *et al.*, 2013). The study by Sturza et al is a meta-analysis of 23 original reports with varied measurement techniques and varied respondent groups. By comparison, the mean EQ5D utility of 0.613 in the current study demonstrates the significant burden of IPF disease.

Author	Condition	Tool	Severity grading		Mean utility
(Chouaid et al.,	NSCLC	EQ5D	Line of	First	0.71
2013)			treatment	Second	0.74
				Third/Fourth	0.62
(Sturza, 2010)	Lung cancer	Mixed	Stage	Metastatic	0.57
				Mixed	0.77
				Non-metastatic	0.87

Table 6-2. Published health state utilities for lung cancer.

Given utility estimates and prevalence data, pharmaceutical companies can start to calculate the cost per QALY and the potential returns which research and development can be weighed against in IPF.

There are significant limitations in the current study. Firstly, there was no clear reference point with which to say how bad the outcomes of the antireflux therapy should be. Patients who have an adverse outcome from a given treatment represent a broad spectrum. With respect to the medical vignette, it was possible to incorporate the conventional definitions of "rare" and "common" with reference to omeprazole's product characteristics. Both clinicians and patients felt that the vignettes used gave a convincing account of a bad outcome, but this was not possible to quantify in any meaningful way.

Secondly, we made no assessment of reproducibility in the current study. This would seem particularly relevant to the standard gamble, with its relatively complex methodology. As discussed in section 1.5.4, several previous reports have included high levels of reproducibility for the standard gamble. This would seem to be an important area for future health state utility research in the IPF population.

Chapter 7. Summary and Recommendations for Future Research

In this study, I have completed a panel of assessments in order to characterise the nature of gastro-oesophageal reflux and pulmonary aspiration in 36 individuals with IPF. The findings suggest that a significant proportion of patients experience pathological levels of reflux, although reflux may not be as universal as previously reported in this group. In the majority, pathological levels of gastro-oesophageal reflux were clinically silent.

In addition to gastro-oesophageal reflux, there were high levels of oesophageal dysmotility. This finding is relevant because weak peristalsis is a risk factor for bloating, dysphagia and malnutrition after fundoplication. Dysmotility is regarded as a relative contraindication to antireflux surgery. Individuals with IPF must therefore undergo careful manometric assessment if they are to be considered for antireflux surgery.

In our study population, we used biochemical and cytological methods to look for direct evidence of aspiration in fluid retrieved at bronchoalveolar lavage. Of the techniques under review, pepsin provided the best evidence of aspiration in the study population, with high levels detected in the BAL fluid of 47% of subjects. There was no convincing correlation between markers of gastro-oesophageal reflux and any marker of aspiration. Whilst there was a reflux-positive, pepsin-positive subgroup, there were also groups who were refluxpositive, pepsin-negative and vice versa.

In a series of interviews with another 59 IPF patients, a standard gamble was used to generate health state utilities relating to IPF and to the treatment of gastro-oesophageal reflux disease. Data analysis indicated that respondents were comfortable with the methodology, engaged in the process and able to express clear opinions in the answers they gave. The own-health valuations confirmed, for the first time, the relative burden of disease that is associated with IPF. Comparable utility scores were also recorded for the descriptive IPF health states, indicating the validity of these vignettes.

Respondents were also asked to evaluate health states constructed to represent the adverse outcomes of antireflux surgery. The use of utility scores as a marker of preference enabled a direct comparison between the health states related to the burden of disease in IPF and to the outcomes of antireflux therapy. The majority of respondents regarded both the mild and

moderate IPF disease states as preferable to either of the antireflux therapy outcomes, whilst a significant minority (21 of 59 respondents) did not.

These findings do not allow for conclusions as to the level of risk and benefit that patients with IPF would accept before going ahead with antireflux surgery. There is a clear suggestion, however, that different individuals within a group have very different ideas on the subject. This finding is especially important in an area of medical practice where the balance of risk and benefit has yet to be defined.

At present, the literature on reflux and aspiration in IPF is difficult to interpret. Microaspiration may contribute to the aetiology of IPF but this remains unproven. With respect to clinical practice, some commentators assert that reflux is almost universal in IPF and antireflux surgery could help to stabilise lung disease.

The current findings do not support that statement: significant reflux and aspiration was only evident in the minority of patients, the group that would benefit from antireflux surgery are difficult to identify and a proportion of patients regard the potential burden of surgical complications as worse than that of living with IPF.

The aggregated results of this study demonstrate the importance of multidisciplinary team working and shared decision-making. In time we will develop a better understanding of the risks and benefits of treatment options in reflux and IPF. As clinicians we must communicate this information clearly to patients and listen carefully as they share their values and preferences.

From a research perspective further efforts must be made to identify the group of patients in whom reflux and aspiration may be contributing to the trajectory of lung disease. pHimpedance monitoring is now well established in clinical practice, but far less is known about the markers of aspiration that can be detected in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid.

In the absence of major developments with alternative biomarkers, the results of this study suggest that pepsin may be the most promising option available. An improved understanding of pepsin in the lungs would help to clarify discordant results from a given patient's reflux and aspiration tests.

One approach to this would be to assess the pepsin subtypes found in gastric juice and BAL fluid. High-pressure liquid chromatography could be used to quantify the relative proportion

of pepsin subtypes in these two compartments. The same technique could be used to confirm the extent of cross-reactivity of pepsin subtypes when measured at BAL.

Secondly, it would be helpful to clarify the rate at which pepsin is cleared from the lungs. At present the relationships between pepsin, chronic micro-aspiration and acute exacerbations of IPF are poorly understood. Serial measurements in a low-mortality animal model would help to clarify the significance of detectable pepsin in BAL. This would be a more difficult study, but the current data suggest that oesophageal physiology alone is unlikely to identify those with IPF for whom aggressive antireflux therapy will be of most use.

Lastly, the results of BAL cytology suggested a negative correlation between objective lung function and oxidative stress: individuals with lower percentage-predicted vital capacity had higher levels of oxidative stress. Perls staining, as a simple marker of oxidative stress, could be used to inform studies of IPF pathophysiology and pharmacological therapy in the future.

Appendices

Appendix A Characterisation study appointment letter

Appendix B GerdQ questionnaire

Appendix C Reflux Symptom Index questionnaire

Appendix D St George's Respiratory Questionnaire

Appendix E Patient attitudes study - Demographic survey

Appendix F EuroQOL-5D-3L

Appendix G Standard operating procedure: Bronchoalveolar lavage processing

Appendix H Standard operating procedure: Geimsa staining
Appendix I Standard operating procedure: Oil Red O staining

Appendix J Standard operating procedure: Perls Prussian Blue staining

References

Ahrens, P., Noll, C., Kitz, R., Willigens, P., Zielen, S. and Hofmann, D. (1999) 'Lipid-laden alveolar macrophages (LLAM): A useful marker of silent aspiration in children', *Pediatric Pulmonology*, 28(2), pp. 83-88.

Albrecht, G.L. and Devlieger, P.J. (1999) 'The disability paradox: high quality of life against all odds', *Soc Sci Med*, 48(8), pp. 977-88.

Allaix, M.E., Fisichella, P.M., Noth, I., Herbella, F.A., Borraez Segura, B. and Patti, M.G. (2014) 'Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis and gastroesophageal reflux. Implications for treatment', *J Gastrointest Surg*, 18(1), pp. 100-4; discussion 104-5.

Allen, C.J., Parameswaran, K., Belda, J. and Anvari, M. (2000) 'Reproducibility, validity, and responsiveness of a disease-specific symptom questionnaire for gastroesophageal reflux disease', *Dis Esophagus*, 13(4), pp. 265-70.

Amigoni, M., Bellani, G., Scanziani, M., Masson, S., Bertoli, E., Radaelli, E., Patroniti, N., Di Lelio, A., Pesenti, A. and Latini, R. (2008) 'Lung injury and recovery in a murine model of unilateral acid aspiration: functional, biochemical, and morphologic characterization', *Anesthesiology*, 108(6), pp. 1037-46.

Andersson-Sjoland, A., de Alba, C.G., Nihlberg, K., Becerril, C., Ramirez, R., Pardo, A., Westergren-Thorsson, G. and Selman, M. (2008) 'Fibrocytes are a potential source of lung fibroblasts in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 40(10), pp. 2129-40.

Appel, J.Z., 3rd, Lee, S.M., Hartwig, M.G., Li, B., Hsieh, C.C., Cantu, E., 3rd, Yoon, Y., Lin, S.S., Parker, W. and Davis, R.D. (2007) 'Characterization of the innate immune response to chronic aspiration in a novel rodent model', *Respir Res*, 8, p. 87.

Armstrong, D., Zanten, S.J.v., Chung, S.A., Shapiro, C.M. and et al. (2005) 'Validation of a short questionnaire in English and French for use in patients with persistent upper gastrointestinal symptoms despite proton pump inhibitor therapy: The PASS (Proton pump inhibitor Acid Suppression Symptom) test', *Canadian Journal of Gastroenterology & Hepatology*, 19(6), pp. 350 - 358.

Association of Gastrointestinal Physiologists (2013) *Agreed AGIP Guidelines for Oesophageal High Resolution Manometry*. [Online]. Available at:

http://www.bsg.org.uk/images/stories/docs/sections/agip/agip hrm guidelines.pdf.

Association of Gastrointestinal Physiologists (2015) <u>http://www.bsq.orq.uk/sections/aqip-</u> <u>committee/index.html</u>.

Atkinson, M. and Sumerling, M.D. (1959) 'The competence of the cardia after cardiomyotomy', *Gastroenterologia*, 92, pp. 123-34.

Ayazi, S., Lipham, J.C., Hagen, J.A., Tang, A.L., Zehetner, J., Leers, J.M., Oezcelik, A., Abate, E., Banki, F., DeMeester, S.R. and DeMeester, T.R. (2009) 'A new technique for measurement of pharyngeal pH: normal values and discriminating pH threshold', *J Gastrointest Surg*, 13(8), pp. 1422-9.

Babaei, A., Bhargava, V., Aalam, S., Scadeng, M. and Mittal, R.K. (2009) 'Effect of proton pump inhibition on the gastric volume: assessed by magnetic resonance imaging', *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*, 29(8), pp. 863-70.

Bandeira, C.D., Rubin, A.S., Cardoso, P.F., Moreira Jda, S. and Machado Mda, M. (2009) 'Prevalence of gastroesophageal reflux disease in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *J Bras Pneumol*, 35(12), pp. 1182-9.

Bardhan, K.D., Stanghellini, V., Armstrong, D., Berghofer, P., Gatz, G. and Monnikes, H. (2004) 'International validation of ReQuest in patients with endoscopy-negative gastrooesophageal reflux disease', *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*, 20(8), pp. 891-8.

Baron, R.M., Choi, A.J., Owen, C.A. and Choi, A.M. (2012) 'Genetically manipulated mouse models of lung disease: potential and pitfalls', *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*, 302(6), pp. L485-97.

Basset-Leobon, C., Lacoste-Collin, L., Aziza, J., Bes, J.C., Jozan, S. and Courtade-Saidi, M. (2010) 'Cut-off values and significance of Oil Red O-positive cells in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid', *Cytopathology*, 21(4), pp. 245-50.

Baumgartner, K.B., Samet, J.M., Stidley, C.A., Colby, T.V. and Waldron, J.A. (1997) 'Cigarette smoking: a risk factor for idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine*, 155(1), pp. 242-8.

Beaumont, H., Bennink, R.J., de Jong, J. and Boeckxstaens, G.E. (2010) 'The position of the acid pocket as a major risk factor for acidic reflux in healthy subjects and patients with GORD', *Gut*, 59(4), pp. 441-51.

Becker, V., Graf, S., Schlag, C., Schuster, T., Feussner, H., Schmid, R.M. and Bajbouj, M. (2012) 'First agreement analysis and day-to-day comparison of pharyngeal pH monitoring with pH/impedance monitoring in patients with suspected laryngopharyngeal reflux', *J Gastrointest Surg*, 16(6), pp. 1096-101.

Beers, M.F., Lomax, C.A. and Russo, S.J. (1998) 'Synthetic processing of surfactant protein C by alevolar epithelial cells. The COOH terminus of proSP-C is required for post-translational targeting and proteolysis', *J Biol Chem*, 273(24), pp. 15287-93.

Belafsky, P.C., Postma, G.N. and Koufman, J.A. (2001) 'The validity and reliability of the reflux finding score (RFS)', *The Laryngoscope*, 111(8), pp. 1313-7.

Belafsky, P.C., Postma, G.N. and Koufman, J.A. (2002) 'Validity and reliability of the reflux symptom index (RSI)', *J Voice*, 16(2), pp. 274-7.

Bergeron, A., Soler, P., Kambouchner, M., Loiseau, P., Milleron, B., Valeyre, D., Hance, A.J. and Tazi, A. (2003) 'Cytokine profiles in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis suggest an important role for TGF-beta and IL-10', *Eur Respir J*, 22(1), pp. 69-76.

Bibi, H., Khvolis, E., Shoseyov, D., Ohaly, M., Ben Dor, D., London, D. and Ater, D. (2001) 'The prevalence of gastroesophageal reflux in children with tracheomalacia and laryngomalacia', *Chest*, 119(2), pp. 409-413.

Bland, J.M. and Altman, D.G. (1986) 'Statistical methods for assessing agreement between two methods of clinical measurement', *Lancet*, 1(8476), pp. 307-10.

Blondeau, K., Dupont, L.J., Mertens, V., Verleden, G., Malfroot, A., Vandenplas, Y., Hauser, B. and Sifrim, D. (2008) 'Gastro-oesophageal reflux and aspiration of gastric contents in adult patients with cystic fibrosis', *Gut*, 57(8), pp. 1049-1055.

Bodger, K. and Trudgill (2006) *Guidelines for oesophageal manometry and pH monitoring*. British Society of Gastroenterology.

Boesch, R.P., Shah, P., Vaynblat, M., Marcus, M., Pagala, M., Narwal, S. and Kazachkov, M. (2005) 'Relationship between upper airway obstruction and gastroesophageal reflux in a dog model', *Journal of investigative surgery : the official journal of the Academy of Surgical Research*, 18(5), pp. 241-5.

Bohman, J.K., Kor, D.J., Kashyap, R., Gajic, O., Festic, E., He, Z. and Lee, A.S. (2013) 'Airway pepsin levels in otherwise healthy surgical patients receiving general anesthesia with endotracheal intubation', *Chest*, 143(5), pp. 1407-13.

Bombeck, C.T., Dillard, D.H. and Nyhus, L.M. (1966) 'Muscular anatomy of the gastroesophageal junction and role of phrenoesophageal ligament; autopsy study of sphincter mechanism', *Ann Surg*, 164(4), pp. 643-54.

Bonavina, L., DeMeester, T., Fockens, P., Dunn, D., Saino, G., Bona, D., Lipham, J., Bemelman, W. and Ganz, R.A. (2010) 'Laparoscopic sphincter augmentation device eliminates reflux symptoms and normalizes esophageal acid exposure: one- and 2-year results of a feasibility trial', *Annals of surgery*, 252(5), pp. 857-62.

Booth, A.J., Hadley, R., Cornett, A.M., Dreffs, A.A., Matthes, S.A., Tsui, J.L., Weiss, K., Horowitz, J.C., Fiore, V.F., Barker, T.H., Moore, B.B., Martinez, F.J., Niklason, L.E. and White, E.S. (2012) 'Acellular normal and fibrotic human lung matrices as a culture system for in vitro investigation', *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 186(9), pp. 866-876.

Borrelli, O., Battaglia, M., Galos, F., Aloi, M., De Angelis, D., Moretti, C., Mancini, V., Cucchiara, S. and Midulla, F. (2010) 'Non-acid gastro-oesophageal reflux in children with suspected pulmonary aspiration', *Digestive and Liver Disease*, 42(2), pp. 115-121.

Bradley, B., Branley, H.M., Egan, J.J., Greaves, M.S., Hansell, D.M., Harrison, N.K., Hirani, N., Hubbard, R., Lake, F., Millar, A.B., Wallace, W.A., Wells, A.U., Whyte, M.K., Wilsher, M.L., British Thoracic Society Interstitial Lung Disease Guideline Group, B.T.S.S.o.C.C., Thoracic Society of, A., New Zealand Thoracic, S. and Irish Thoracic, S. (2008) 'Interstitial lung disease guideline: the British Thoracic Society in collaboration with the Thoracic Society of Australia and New Zealand and the Irish Thoracic Society', *Thorax*, 63 Suppl 5, pp. v1-58.

Brazier, J. (2008) 'Valuing health States for use in cost-effectiveness analysis', *Pharmacoeconomics*, 26(9), pp. 769-79.

Bredenoord, A.J., Fox, M., Kahrilas, P.J., Pandolfino, J.E., Schwizer, W. and Smout, A.J. (2012) 'Chicago classification criteria of esophageal motility disorders defined in high resolution esophageal pressure topography', *Neurogastroenterology and motility : the official journal of the European Gastrointestinal Motility Society*, 24 Suppl 1, pp. 57-65.

Bredenoord, A.J., Pandolfino, J.E. and Smout, A.J. (2013) 'Gastro-oesophageal reflux disease', *Lancet*, 381(9881), pp. 1933-42.

Bredenoord, A.J., Weusten, B.L.A.M. and Smout, A.J.P.M. (2005) 'Symptom association analysis in ambulatory gastro-oesophageal reflux monitoring', *Gut*, 54(12), pp. 1810-1817.

Breumelhof, R. and Smout, A.J. (1991) 'The symptom sensitivity index: a valuable additional parameter in 24-hour esophageal pH recording', *Am J Gastroenterol*, 86(2), pp. 160-4.

Bridges, J.P., Xu, Y., Na, C.L., Wong, H.R. and Weaver, T.E. (2006) 'Adaptation and increased susceptibility to infection associated with constitutive expression of misfolded SP-C', *J Cell Biol*, 172(3), pp. 395-407.

Broeders, J.A., Roks, D.J., Ahmed Ali, U., Watson, D.I., Baigrie, R.J., Cao, Z., Hartmann, J. and Maddern, G.J. (2013) 'Laparoscopic anterior 180-degree versus nissen fundoplication for gastroesophageal reflux disease: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials', *Annals of surgery*, 257(5), pp. 850-9.

Brownlee, I.A., Aseeri, A., Ward, C. and Pearson, J.P. (2010) 'From gastric aspiration to airway inflammation', *Monaldi Arch Chest Dis*, 73(2), pp. 54-63.

Buckley, M.J., Scanlon, C., McGurgan, P. and O'Morain, C.A. (1997) 'A validated dyspepsia symptom score', *Ital J Gastroenterol Hepatol*, 29(6), pp. 495-500.

Bulmer, D.M., Ali, M.S., Brownlee, I.A., Dettmar, P.W. and Pearson, J.P. (2010) 'Laryngeal mucosa: its susceptibility to damage by acid and pepsin', *Laryngoscope*, 120(4), pp. 777-82.

Carlsson, R., Dent, J., Bolling-Sternevald, E., Johnsson, F., Junghard, O., Lauritsen, K., Riley, S. and Lundell, L. (1998) 'The usefulness of a structured questionnaire in the assessment of symptomatic gastroesophageal reflux disease', *Scand J Gastroenterol*, 33(10), pp. 1023-9.

Carrau, R.L., Khidr, A., Gold, K.F., Crawley, J.A., Hillson, E.M., Koufman, J.A. and Pashos, C.L. (2005) 'Validation of a quality-of-life instrument for laryngopharyngeal reflux', *Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg*, 131(4), pp. 315-20.

Carrington, C.B. and Gaensler, E.A. (1978) 'Clinical-pathologic approach to diffuse infiltrative lung disease', *Monogr Pathol*, 19, pp. 58-87.

Chheda, N.N., Seybt, M.W., Schade, R.R. and Postma, G.N. (2009) 'Normal values for pharyngeal pH monitoring', *Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol*, 118(3), pp. 166-71.

Chilosi, M., Poletti, V., Zamò, A., Lestani, M., Montagna, L., Piccoli, P., Pedron, S., Bertaso, M., Scarpa, A., Murer, B., Cancellier, A., Maestro, R., Semenzato, G. and Doglioni, C. (2003) 'Aberrant Wnt/β-catenin pathway activation in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *American Journal of Pathology*, 162(5), pp. 1495-1502.

Chouaid, C., Agulnik, J., Goker, E., Herder, G.J., Lester, J.F., Vansteenkiste, J., Finnern, H.W., Lungershausen, J., Eriksson, J., Kim, K. and Mitchell, P.L. (2013) 'Health-related quality of life and utility in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer: a prospective crosssectional patient survey in a real-world setting', *J Thorac Oncol*, 8(8), pp. 997-1003.

Christie, J.D., Edwards, L.B., Aurora, P., Dobbels, F., Kirk, R., Rahmel, A.O., Stehlik, J., Taylor, D.O., Kucheryavaya, A.Y. and Hertz, M.I. (2009) 'The Registry of the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation: Twenty-sixth Official Adult Lung and Heart-Lung Transplantation Report-2009', *J Heart Lung Transplant*, 28(10), pp. 1031-49.

Cohen, S. and Harris, L.D. (1971) 'Does Hiatus Hernia Affect Competence of the Gastroesophageal Sphincter?', *New England Journal of Medicine*, 284(19), pp. 1053-1056.

Collard, H., Raghu, G. and Anstrom, K. (2013a) 'Clinical Trial registration', *Treatment of IPF* with Laparoscopic Anti-Reflux Surgery (WRAP-IPF). Available at: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01982968 (Accessed: 12/01/2016).

Collard, H.R., Moore, B.B., Flaherty, K.R., Brown, K.K., Kaner, R.J., King, T.E., Lasky, J.A., Loyd, J.E., Noth, I., Olman, M.A., Raghu, G., Roman, J., Ryu, J.H., Zisman, D.A., Hunninghake, G.W., Colby, T.V., Egan, J.J., Hansell, D.M., Johkoh, T., Kaminski, N., Kim, D.S., Kondoh, Y., Lynch, D.A., Müller-Quernheim, J., Myers, J.L., Nicholson, A.G., Selman, M., Toews, G.B., Wells, A.U., Martinez, F.J. and Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis Clinical Research Network, I. (2007) 'Acute Exacerbations of Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis', *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine*, 176(7), pp. 636-643.

Collard, H.R., Yow, E., Richeldi, L., Anstrom, K.J., Glazer, C. and investigators, I.P. (2013b) 'Suspected acute exacerbation of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis as an outcome measure in clinical trials', *Respir Res*, 14, p. 73.

Colombo, J.L. and Hallberg, T.K. (1987) 'Recurrent aspiration in children: lipid-laden alveolar macrophage quantitation', *Pediatr Pulmonol*, 3(2), pp. 86-9.

Colombo, J.L., Hallberg, T.K. and Sammut, P.H. (1992) 'Time course of lipid-laden pulmonary macrophages with acute and recurrent milk aspiration in rabbits', *Pediatr Pulmonol*, 12(2), pp. 95-8.

Committee on Safety of Medicines (2000) Cisapride (Prepulsid) Withdrawn.

Conte, E., Gili, E., Fagone, E., Fruciano, M., Iemmolo, M. and Vancheri, C. (2014) 'Effect of pirfenidone on proliferation, TGF-beta-induced myofibroblast differentiation and fibrogenic activity of primary human lung fibroblasts', *Eur J Pharm Sci*, 58, pp. 13-9.

Corwin, R.W. and Irwin, R.S. (1985) 'The lipid-laden alveolar macrophage as a marker of aspiration in parenchymal lung disease', *American Review of Respiratory Disease*, 132(3), pp. 576-581.

Coultas, D.B., Zumwalt, R.E., Black, W.C. and Sobonya, R.E. (1994) 'The epidemiology of interstitial lung diseases', *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 150(4), pp. 967-72.

Crapo, J.D., Barry, B.E., Gehr, P., Bachofen, M. and Weibel, E.R. (1982) 'Cell number and cell characteristics of the normal human lung', *Am Rev Respir Dis*, 126(2), pp. 332-7.

D'Ovidio, F., Mura, M., Tsang, M., Waddell, T.K., Hutcheon, M.A., Singer, L.G., Hadjiliadis, D., Chaparro, C., Gutierrez, C., Pierre, A., Darling, G., Liu, M. and Keshavjee, S. (2005) 'Bile acid aspiration and the development of bronchiolitis obliterans after lung transplantation', *Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery*, 129(5), pp. 1144-1152.

Dauer, E., Thompson, D., Zinsmeister, A.R., Dierkhising, R., Harris, A., Zais, T., Alexander, J., Murray, J.A., Wise, J.L., Lim, K., Locke, G.R., 3rd and Romero, Y. (2006) 'Supraesophageal reflux: validation of a symptom questionnaire', *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg*, 134(1), pp. 73-80.

De Baets, F., Aarts, C., Van Daele, S., Haerynck, F., De Wachter, E., De Schutter, I., Malfroot, A. and Schelstraete, P. (2010) 'Milk protein and Oil-Red-O staining of alveolar macrophages in chronic respiratory disease of infancy', *Pediatr Pulmonol*, 45(12), pp. 1213-9.

de Bortoli, N., Savarino, E., Manuele, F., Irene, M., Salvatori, R., Patrizia, Z., Lorenzo, B., Massimo, B., Santino, M. and Vincenzo, S. (2012) 'Use of a non-invasive pepsin diagnostic test to detect GERD: correlation with MII-pH evaluation in a series of suspected NERD patients. A pilot study.'. Demedts, M., Behr, J., Buhl, R., Costabel, U., Dekhuijzen, R., Jansen, H.M., MacNee, W., Thomeer, M., Wallaert, B., Laurent, F., Nicholson, A.G., Verbeken, E.K., Verschakelen, J., Flower, C.D., Capron, F., Petruzzelli, S., De Vuyst, P., van den Bosch, J.M., Rodriguez-Becerra, E., Corvasce, G., Lankhorst, I., Sardina, M. and Montanari, M. (2005) 'High-dose acetylcysteine in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *N Engl J Med*, 353(21), pp. 2229-42.

DeMeester, T.R., Wang, C.I., Wernly, J.A., Pellegrini, C.A., Little, A.G., Klementschitsch, P., Bermudez, G., Johnson, L.F. and Skinner, D.B. (1980) 'Technique, indications, and clinical use of 24 hour esophageal pH monitoring', *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg*, 79(5), pp. 656-70.

Dent, J., Dodds, W.J., Friedman, R.H., Sekiguchi, T., Hogan, W.J., Arndorfer, R.C. and Petrie, D.J. (1980) 'Mechanism of gastroesophageal reflux in recumbent asymptomatic human subjects', *J Clin Invest*, 65(2), pp. 256-67.

Dent, J., El-Serag, H.B., Wallander, M.A. and Johansson, S. (2005) 'Epidemiology of gastrooesophageal reflux disease: a systematic review', *Gut*, 54(5), pp. 710-7.

Dent, J., Holloway, R.H., Toouli, J. and Dodds, W.J. (1988) 'Mechanisms of lower oesophageal sphincter incompetence in patients with symptomatic gastrooesophageal reflux', *Gut. 1988 Aug;29(8):1020-8.*

Dent, J., Vakil, N., Jones, R., Bytzer, P., Schoning, U., Halling, K., Junghard, O. and Lind, T. (2010) 'Accuracy of the diagnosis of GORD by questionnaire, physicians and a trial of proton pump inhibitor treatment: the Diamond Study', *Gut*, 59(6), pp. 714-21.

Derakhshan, M.H., Robertson, E.V., Fletcher, J., Jones, G.R., Lee, Y.Y., Wirz, A.A. and McColl, K.E. (2012) 'Mechanism of association between BMI and dysfunction of the gastrooesophageal barrier in patients with normal endoscopy', *Gut*, 61(3), pp. 337-43.

Diamond, P.A. and Hausman, J.A. (1994) 'Contingent Valuation: Is Some Number better than No Number?', *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 8(4), pp. 45-64.

Dolan, P. (1997) 'Modeling valuations for EuroQol health states', *Med Care*, 35(11), pp. 1095-108.

Dolan, P., Gudex, C., Kind, P. and Williams, A. (1996a) 'The time trade-off method: Results from a general population study', *Health Economics*, 5(2), pp. 141-154.

Dolan, P., Gudex, C., Kind, P. and Williams, A. (1996b) 'Valuing health states: a comparison of methods', *J Health Econ*, 15(2), pp. 209-31.

Dolan, P. and Olsen, J.A. (2002) *Distributing healthcare: Economic and ethical issues*. Oxford: Oxford Medical Publications.

Downing, T.E., Sporn, T.A., Bollinger, R.R., Davis, R.D., Parker, W. and Lin, S.S. (2008) 'Pulmonary histopathology in an experimental model of chronic aspiration is independent of acidity', *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)*, 233(10), pp. 1202-12.

du Bois, R.M. (2012) 'An earlier and more confident diagnosis of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *Eur Respir Rev*, 21(124), pp. 141-6.

El-Serag, H., Hill, C. and Jones, R. (2009) 'Systematic review: the epidemiology of gastrooesophageal reflux disease in primary care, using the UK General Practice Research Database', *Alimentary pharmacology & therapeutics*, 29(5), pp. 470-80.

El-Serag, H.B. and Sonnenberg, A. (1997) 'Comorbid occurrence of laryngeal or pulmonary disease with esophagitis in United States military veterans', *Gastroenterology*, 113(3), pp. 755-60.

Elabiad, M.T. and Zhang, J. (2011) 'Detection of pepsinogen in the neonatal lung and stomach by immunohistochemistry', *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr*, 53(4), pp. 401-3.

Farrell, S., McMaster, C., Gibson, D., Shields, M.D. and McCallion, W.A. (2006) 'Pepsin in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid: A specific and sensitive method of diagnosing gastrooesophageal reflux-related pulmonary aspiration', *Journal of Pediatric Surgery*, 41(2), pp. 289-293.

Fawcett, H.D., Hayden, C.K., Adams, J.C. and Swischuk, L.E. (1988) 'How useful is gastroesophageal reflux scintigraphy in suspected childhood aspiration?', *Pediatric Radiology*, 18(4), pp. 311-313.

Fehrenbach, H. (2001) 'Alveolar epithelial type II cell: defender of the alveolus revisited', *Respir Res*, 2(1), pp. 33-46.

Fell, C.D., Martinez, F.J., Liu, L.X., Murray, S., Han, M.K., Kazerooni, E.A., Gross, B.H., Myers, J., Travis, W.D., Colby, T.V., Toews, G.B. and Flaherty, K.R. (2010) 'Clinical predictors of a diagnosis of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 181(8), pp. 832-7.

Fernandez Perez, E.R., Daniels, C.E., Schroeder, D.R., St Sauver, J., Hartman, T.E., Bartholmai, B.J., Yi, E.S. and Ryu, J.H. (2010) 'Incidence, prevalence, and clinical course of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: a population-based study', *Chest*, 137(1), pp. 129-37.

Fletcher, C.M., Elmes, P.C., Fairbairn, A.S. and Wood, C.H. (1959) 'The significance of respiratory symptoms and the diagnosis of chronic bronchitis in a working population', *Br Med J*, 2(5147), pp. 257-66.

Florkin, M. (1957) '[Discovery of pepsin by Theodor Schwann]', *Rev Med Liege*, 12(5), pp. 139-44.

Fox, M.R. and Bredenoord, A.J. (2008) 'Oesophageal high-resolution manometry: moving from research into clinical practice', *Gut*, 57(3), pp. 405-23.

Froberg, D.G. and Kane, R.L. (1989) 'Methodology for measuring health-state preferences--II: Scaling methods', *J Clin Epidemiol*, 42(5), pp. 459-71.

Gage, B.F., Cardinalli, A.B. and Owens, D.K. (1996) 'The effect of stroke and stroke prophylaxis with aspirin or warfarin on quality of life', *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 156(16), pp. 1829-1836.

Galmiche, J., Hatlebakk, J., Attwood, S. and et al. (2011) 'Laparoscopic antireflux surgery vs esomeprazole treatment for chronic gerd: The lotus randomized clinical trial', *JAMA*, 305(19), pp. 1969-1977.

Gavini, S., Finn, R.T., Lo, W.K., Goldberg, H.J., Burakoff, R., Feldman, N. and Chan, W.W. (2015) 'Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis is associated with increased impedance measures of reflux compared to non-fibrotic disease among pre-lung transplant patients', *Neurogastroenterol Motil*, 27(9), pp. 1326-32.

Gerson, K.D., Foster, C.D., Zhang, P., Zhang, Z., Rosenblatt, M.M. and Guttentag, S.H. (2008) 'Pepsinogen C proteolytic processing of surfactant protein B', *J Biol Chem*, 283(16), pp. 10330-8.

Ghaed, N. and Stein, M.R. (1979) 'Assessment of a technique for scintigraphic monitoring of pulmonary aspiration of gastric contents in asthmatics with gastroesophageal reflux', *Annals of Allergy*, 42(5), pp. 306-308.

Ghatol, A., Ruhl, A.P. and Danoff, S.K. (2012) 'Exacerbations in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis triggered by pulmonary and nonpulmonary surgery: a case series and comprehensive review of the literature', *Lung*, 190(4), pp. 373-80.

Gillen, P., Keeling, P., Byrne, P.J. and Hennessy, T.P. (1987) 'Barrett's oesophagus: pH profile', *Br J Surg*, 74(9), pp. 774-6.

Gisbert, J.P., Cooper, A., Karagiannis, D., Hatlebakk, J., Agreus, L., Jablonowski, H. and Zapardiel, J. (2009) 'Impact of gastroesophageal reflux disease on patients' daily lives: a European observational study in the primary care setting', *Health Qual Life Outcomes*, 7, p. 60.

Gold, M.R., Siegel, J.E., Russell, L.B. and Weinstein, M.C. (1996) *Cost-Effectiveness in Health and Medicine*. New York: Oxford University Press.

Gotley, D.C., Morgan, A.P., Ball, D., Owen, R.W. and Cooper, M.J. (1991) 'Composition of gastro-oesophageal refluxate', *Gut*, 32(10), pp. 1093-9.

Greatorex, R. and Thorpe, J.A. (1983) 'Clinical assessment of gastro-oesophageal reflux by questionnaire', *Br J Clin Pract*, 37(4), pp. 133-5.

Green, C., Brazier, J. and Deverill, M. (2000) 'Valuing health-related quality of life. A review of health state valuation techniques', *PharmacoEconomics*, 17(2), pp. 151-65.

Greenfield, L.J., Singleton, R.P., McCaffree, D.R. and Coalson, J.J. (1969) 'Pulmonary effects of experimental graded aspiration of hydrochloric acid', *Annals of surgery*, 170(1), pp. 74-86.

Grenier, P., Valeyre, D., Cluzel, P., Brauner, M.W., Lenoir, S. and Chastang, C. (1991) 'Chronic diffuse interstitial lung disease: diagnostic value of chest radiography and high-resolution CT', *Radiology*, 179(1), pp. 123-32.

Gribbin, J., Hubbard, R.B., Le Jeune, I., Smith, C.J., West, J. and Tata, L.J. (2006) 'Incidence and mortality of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis and sarcoidosis in the UK', *Thorax*, 61(11), pp. 980-5.

Griffin, S.M., Robertson, A.G., Bredenoord, A.J., Brownlee, I.A., Stovold, R., Brodlie, M., Forrest, I., Dark, J.H., Pearson, J.P. and Ward, C. (2013) 'Aspiration and allograft injury secondary to gastroesophageal reflux occur in the immediate post-lung transplantation period (prospective clinical trial)', *Ann Surg*, 258(5), pp. 705-11; discussion 711-2.

Halter, F., Staub, P., Hammer, B., Guyot, J. and Miazza, B.M. (1997) 'Study with two prokinetics in functional dyspepsia and GORD: domperidone vs. cisapride', *J Physiol Pharmacol*, 48(2), pp. 185-92.

Hamilton, D., Hulme, C., Flood, L. and Powell, S. (2014) 'Cost-utility analysis and otolaryngology', *J Laryngol Otol*, 128(2), pp. 112-8.

Hammerschmidt, T., Zeitler, H.P., Gulich, M. and Leidl, R. (2004) 'A comparison of different strategies to collect standard gamble utilities', *Med Decis Making*, 24(5), pp. 493-503.

Harrell, S.P., Koopman, J., Woosley, S. and Wo, J.M. (2007) 'Exclusion of pH artifacts is essential for hypopharyngeal pH monitoring', *Laryngoscope*, 117(3), pp. 470-4.

Hartwig, M.G., Appel, J.Z., Li, B., Hsieh, C.C., Yoon, Y.H., Lin, S.S., Irish, W., Parker, W. and Davis, R.D. (2006) 'Chronic aspiration of gastric fluid accelerates pulmonary allograft dysfunction in a rat model of lung transplantation', *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg*, 131(1), pp. 209-17.

Hayano, T., Sogawa, K., Ichihara, Y., Fujii-Kuriyama, Y. and Takahashi, K. (1988) 'Primary structure of human pepsinogen C gene', *J Biol Chem*, 263(3), pp. 1382-5.

Hayat, J.O., Gabieta-Somnez, S., Yazaki, E., Kang, J.Y., Woodcock, A., Dettmar, P., Mabary, J., Knowles, C.H. and Sifrim, D. (2014a) 'Pepsin in saliva for the diagnosis of gastro-oesophageal reflux disease', *Gut*.

Hayat, J.O., Yazaki, E., Moore, A.T., Hicklin, L., Dettmar, P., Kang, J.Y. and Sifrim, D. (2014b) 'Objective detection of esophagopharyngeal reflux in patients with hoarseness and endoscopic signs of laryngeal inflammation', *J Clin Gastroenterol*, 48(4), pp. 318-27.

He, Z.P., O'Reilly, R.C., Bolling, L., Soundar, S., Shah, M., Cook, S., Schmidt, R.J., Bloedon, E. and Mehta, D.I. (2007) 'Detection of gastric pepsin in middle ear fluid of children with otitis media', *Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery*, 137(1), pp. 59-64.

Hemmink, G.J., Bredenoord, A.J., Weusten, B.L., Monkelbaan, J.F., Timmer, R. and Smout, A.J. (2008) 'Esophageal pH-impedance monitoring in patients with therapy-resistant reflux symptoms: 'on' or 'off' proton pump inhibitor?', *Am J Gastroenterol*, 103(10), pp. 2446-53.

Hetzel, D.J., Dent, J., Reed, W.D., Narielvala, F.M., Mackinnon, M., McCarthy, J.H., Mitchell, B., Beveridge, B.R., Laurence, B.H., Gibson, G.G. and et al. (1988) 'Healing and relapse of severe peptic esophagitis after treatment with omeprazole', *Gastroenterology*, 95(4), pp. 903-12.

Hetzel, M., Bachem, M., Anders, D., Trischler, G. and Faehling, M. (2005) 'Different effects of growth factors on proliferation and matrix production of normal and fibrotic human lung fibroblasts', *Lung*, 183(4), pp. 225-37.

Hicks, D.M., Ours, T.M., Abelson, T.I., Vaezi, M.F. and Richter, J.E. (2002) 'The prevalence of hypopharynx findings associated with gastroesophageal reflux in normal volunteers', *J Voice*, 16(4), pp. 564-79.

Hilberg, F., Roth, G.J., Krssak, M., Kautschitsch, S., Sommergruber, W., Tontsch-Grunt, U., Garin-Chesa, P., Bader, G., Zoephel, A., Quant, J., Heckel, A. and Rettig, W.J. (2008) 'BIBF 1120: Triple Angiokinase Inhibitor with Sustained Receptor Blockade and Good Antitumor Efficacy', *Cancer Research*, 68(12), pp. 4774-4782.

Hill, L.D., Kozarek, R.A., Kraemer, S.J., Aye, R.W., Mercer, C.D., Low, D.E. and Pope, C.E., 2nd (1996) 'The gastroesophageal flap valve: in vitro and in vivo observations', *Gastrointestinal endoscopy*, 44(5), pp. 541-7.

Hinz, B., Phan, S.H., Thannickal, V.J., Galli, A., Bochaton-Piallat, M.L. and Gabbiani, G. (2007) 'The myofibroblast: one function, multiple origins', *Am J Pathol*, 170(6), pp. 1807-16.

Hodgson, U., Laitinen, T. and Tukiainen, P. (2002) 'Nationwide prevalence of sporadic and familial idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: evidence of founder effect among multiplex families in Finland', *Thorax*, 57(4), pp. 338-42.

Hofmann, A.F. (1999) 'The continuing importance of bile acids in liver and intestinal disease', *Arch Intern Med*, 159(22), pp. 2647-58.

Holland, A.E., Hill, C.J., Conron, M., Munro, P. and McDonald, C.F. (2008) 'Short term improvement in exercise capacity and symptoms following exercise training in interstitial lung disease', *Thorax*, 63(6), pp. 549-54.

Hopkins, P.M., Kermeen, F., Duhig, E., Fletcher, L., Gradwell, J., Whitfield, L., Godinez, C., Musk, M., Chambers, D., Gotley, D. and McNeil, K. (2010) 'Oil red O stain of alveolar macrophages is an effective screening test for gastroesophageal reflux disease in lung transplant recipients', *The Journal of heart and lung transplantation : the official publication of the International Society for Heart Transplantation*, 29(8), pp. 859-64.

Hoppo, T., Jarido, V., Pennathur, A., Morrell, M., Crespo, M., Shigemura, N., Bermudez, C., Hunter, J.G., Toyoda, Y., Pilewski, J., Luketich, J.D. and Jobe, B.A. (2011) 'Antireflux surgery preserves lung function in patients with gastroesophageal reflux disease and end-stage lung disease before and after lung transplantation', *Arch Surg*, 146(9), pp. 1041-7.

Horan, G.S., Wood, S., Ona, V., Dan, J.L., Lukashev, M.E., Weinreb, P.H., Simon, K.J., Hahm, K., Allaire, N.E., Rinaldi, N.J., Goyal, J., Feghali-Bostwick, C.A., Matteson, E.L., O'Hara, C.,

Lafyatis, R., Davis, G.S., Huang, X., Sheppard, D. and Violette, S.M. (2008) 'Partial inhibition of integrin $\alpha\nu\beta6$ prevents pulmonary fibrosis without exacerbating inflammation', *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 177(1), pp. 56-65.

Hu, W.H., Lam, K.F., Wong, Y.H., Lam, C.L., WM, H.U., Lai, K.C., Wong, B.C. and Lam, S.K. (2002) 'The Hong Kong index of dyspepsia: a validated symptom severity questionnaire for patients with dyspepsia', *J Gastroenterol Hepatol*, 17(5), pp. 545-51.

Hutton, D.A., Pearson, J.P., Allen, A. and Foster, S.N. (1990) 'Mucolysis of the colonic mucus barrier by faecal proteinases: inhibition by interacting polyacrylate', *Clin Sci (Lond)*, 78(3), pp. 265-71.

Iyer, S.N., Hyde, D.M. and Giri, S.N. (2000) 'Anti-inflammatory effect of pirfenidone in the bleomycin-hamster model of lung inflammation', *Inflammation*, 24(5), pp. 477-91.

Iyer, S.N., Wild, J.S., Schiedt, M.J., Hyde, D.M., Margolin, S.B. and Giri, S.N. (1995) 'Dietary intake of pirfenidone ameliorates bleomycin-induced lung fibrosis in hamsters', *J Lab Clin Med*, 125(6), pp. 779-85.

Jamieson, J.R., Stein, H.J., DeMeester, T.R., Bonavina, L., Schwizer, W., Hinder, R.A. and Albertucci, M. (1992) 'Ambulatory 24-h esophageal pH monitoring: normal values, optimal thresholds, specificity, sensitivity, and reproducibility', *Am J Gastroenterol*, 87(9), pp. 1102-11.

Jenkins, R.G., Su, X., Su, G., Scotton, C.J., Camerer, E., Laurent, G.J., Davis, G.E., Chambers, R.C., Matthay, M.A. and Sheppard, D. (2006) 'Ligation of protease-activated receptor 1 enhances α v β 6 integrin-dependent TGF- β activation and promotes acute lung injury', *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 116(6), pp. 1606-1614.

Joelsson, B.E., DeMeester, T.R., Skinner, D.B., LaFontaine, E., Waters, P.F. and O'Sullivan, G.C. (1982) 'The role of the esophageal body in the antireflux mechanism', *Surgery*, 92(2), pp. 417-24.

Johnson, L.F. and Demeester, T.R. (1974) 'Twenty-four-hour pH monitoring of the distal esophagus. A quantitative measure of gastroesophageal reflux', *Am J Gastroenterol*, 62(4), pp. 325-32.

Johnsson, F., Roth, Y., Damgaard Pedersen, N.E. and Joelsson, B. (1993) 'Cimetidine improves GERD symptoms in patients selected by a validated GERD questionnaire', *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*, 7(1), pp. 81-6.

Johnston, N., Bulmer, D., Gill, G.A., Panetti, M., Ross, P.E., Pearson, J.P., Pignatelli, M., Axford, S.E., Dettmar, P.W. and Koufman, J.A. (2003) 'Cell biology of laryngeal epithelial defenses in health and disease: further studies', *Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol*, 112(6), pp. 481-91.

Johnston, N., Wells, C.W., Samuels, T.L. and Blumin, J.H. (2010) 'Rationale for targeting pepsin in the treatment of reflux disease', *Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol*, 119(8), pp. 547-58.

Jones, P.W. (2002) 'Interpreting thresholds for a clinically significant change in health status in asthma and COPD', *Eur Respir J*, 19(3), pp. 398-404.

Jones, P.W. (2005) 'St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire: MCID', *COPD*, 2(1), pp. 75-9. Jones, P.W., Quirk, F.H. and Baveystock, C.M. (1991) 'The St George's Respiratory

Questionnaire', Respir Med, 85 Suppl B, pp. 25-31; discussion 33-7.

Jones, R., Junghard, O., Dent, J., Vakil, N., Halling, K., Wernersson, B. and Lind, T. (2009) 'Development of the GerdQ, a tool for the diagnosis and management of gastro-oesophageal reflux disease in primary care', *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*, 30(10), pp. 1030-8.

Jones, R.T., Krishnan, A., Forrest, I., Ward, C., Pearson, J., Simpson, J., Immanuel, A. and Griffin, S.M. (2013) 'Initial experience of an aerodigestive MDT', *British Journal of Surgery*, 100(Suppl 8), p. 50.

Joniau, S., Bradshaw, A., Esterman, A. and Carney, A.S. (2007) 'Reflux and laryngitis: a systematic review', *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg*, 136(5), pp. 686-92.

Junghard, O. and Wiklund, I. (2008) 'Validation of a four-graded scale for severity of heartburn in patients with symptoms of gastroesophageal reflux disease', *Value Health*, 11(4), pp. 765-70.

Juniper, E.F., Thompson, A.K. and Roberts, J.N. (2002) 'Can the standard gamble and rating scale be used to measure quality of life in rhinoconjunctivitis? Comparison with the RQLQ and SF-36', *Allergy*, 57(3), pp. 201-6.

Kage, H. and Borok, Z. (2012) 'EMT and interstitial lung disease: a mysterious relationship', *Curr Opin Pulm Med*, 18(5), pp. 517-23.

Kahn, F.W., Jones, J.M. and England, D.M. (1987) 'Diagnosis of pulmonary hemorrhage in the immunocompromised host', *Am Rev Respir Dis*, 136(1), pp. 155-60.

Kahrilas, P.J., Dodds, W.J., Dent, J., Haeberle, B., Hogan, W.J. and Arndorfer, R.C. (1987) 'Effect of sleep, spontaneous gastroesophageal reflux, and a meal on upper esophageal sphincter pressure in normal human volunteers', *Gastroenterology*, 92(2), pp. 466-71.

Kahrilas, P.J., Dodds, W.J. and Hogan, W.J. (1988) 'Effect of peristaltic dysfunction on esophageal volume clearance', *Gastroenterology*, 94(1), pp. 73-80.

Kahrilas, P.J., Fennerty, M.B. and Joelsson, B. (1999) 'High- versus standard-dose ranitidine for control of heartburn in poorly responsive acid reflux disease: a prospective, controlled trial', *Am J Gastroenterol*, 94(1), pp. 92-7.

Kakugawa, T., Mukae, H., Hayashi, T., Ishii, H., Abe, K., Fujii, T., Oku, H., Miyazaki, M., Kadota, J. and Kohno, S. (2004) 'Pirfenidone attenuates expression of HSP47 in murine bleomycininduced pulmonary fibrosis', *Eur Respir J*, 24(1), pp. 57-65.

Kalluri, R. and Neilson, E.G. (2003) 'Epithelial-mesenchymal transition and its implications for fibrosis', *J Clin Invest*, 112(12), pp. 1776-84.

Kaltenbach, T., Crockett, S. and Gerson, L.B. (2006) 'Are lifestyle measures effective in patients with gastroesophageal reflux disease? An evidence-based approach', *Archives of internal medicine*, 166(9), pp. 965-71.

Karakatsani, A., Papakosta, D., Rapti, A., Antoniou, K.M., Dimadi, M., Markopoulou, A., Latsi,
P., Polychronopoulos, V., Birba, G., Ch, L., Bouros, D. and Hellenic Interstitial Lung Diseases,
G. (2009) 'Epidemiology of interstitial lung diseases in Greece', *Respir Med*, 103(8), pp. 11229.

Katzenstein, A.-L.A., Mukhopadhyay, S. and Myers, J.L. (2008) 'Diagnosis of usual interstitial pneumonia and distinction from other fibrosing interstitial lung diseases', *Human Pathology*, 39(9), pp. 1275-1294.

Katzenstein, A.L. and Myers, J.L. (1998) 'Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: clinical relevance of pathologic classification', *American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine*, 157(4 Pt 1), pp. 1301-15.

Kauer, W.K., Peters, J.H., DeMeester, T.R., Ireland, A.P., Bremner, C.G. and Hagen, J.A. (1995) 'Mixed reflux of gastric and duodenal juices is more harmful to the esophagus than gastric juice alone. The need for surgical therapy re-emphasized', *Annals of surgery*, 222(4), pp. 525-31; discussion 531-3. Kawamura, O., Aslam, M., Rittmann, T., Hofmann, C. and Shaker, R. (2004) 'Physical and pH properties of gastroesophagopharyngeal refluxate: a 24-hour simultaneous ambulatory impedance and pH monitoring study', *Am J Gastroenterol*, 99(6), pp. 1000-10.

Kawamura, O., Bajaj, S., Aslam, M., Hofmann, C., Rittmann, T. and Shaker, R. (2007)
'Impedance signature of pharyngeal gaseous reflux', *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol*, 19(1), pp. 65-71.

Keating, D., Levvey, B., Kotsimbos, T., Whitford, H., Westall, G., Williams, T. and Snell, G. (2009) 'Lung transplantation in pulmonary fibrosis: challenging early outcomes counterbalanced by surprisingly good outcomes beyond 15 years', *Transplantation proceedings*, 41(1), pp. 289-91.

Keogh, B.A. and Crystal, R.G. (1982) 'Alveolitis: the key to the interstitial lung disorders', *Thorax*, 37(1), pp. 1-10.

Kilduff, C.E., Counter, M.J., Thomas, G.A., Harrison, N.K. and Hope-Gill, B.D. (2014) 'Effect of acid suppression therapy on gastroesophageal reflux and cough in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: an intervention study', *Cough*, 10, p. 4.

Kim, K.H., Maldonado, F., Ryu, J.H., Eiken, P.W., Hartman, T.E., Bartholmai, B.J., Decker, P.A. and Yi, E.S. (2010) 'Iron deposition and increased alveolar septal capillary density in nonfibrotic lung tissue are associated with pulmonary hypertension in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *Respir Res*, 11, p. 37.

Kim, K.K., Kugler, M.C., Wolters, P.J., Robillard, L., Galvez, M.G., Brumwell, A.N., Sheppard,
D., Chapman, H.A., Kim, K.K., Kugler, M.C., Wolters, P.J., Robillard, L., Galvez, M.G.,
Brumwell, A.N., Sheppard, D. and Chapman, H.A. (2006) 'Alveolar epithelial cell
mesenchymal transition develops in vivo during pulmonary fibrosis and is regulated by the
extracellular matrix', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 103(35), pp. 13180-5.

Kim, K.K., Wei, Y., Szekeres, C., Kugler, M.C., Wolters, P.J., Hill, M.L., Frank, J.A., Brumwell, A.N., Wheeler, S.E., Kreidberg, J.A. and Chapman, H.A. (2009) 'Epithelial cell α 3 β 1 integrin links β -catenin and Smad signaling to promote myofibroblast formation and pulmonary fibrosis', *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 119(1), pp. 213-224.

Kim, S.H., Lee, S.I. and Jo, M.W. (2012) 'Feasibility, Comparability, and Reliability of the Standard Gamble Compared with the Rating Scale and Time Trade-Off Techniques in the Eq-5d-5l Valuation Study', *Value in Health*, 15(7), pp. A650-A650.

King, T.E., Jr., Bradford, W.Z., Castro-Bernardini, S., Fagan, E.A., Glaspole, I., Glassberg, M.K., Gorina, E., Hopkins, P.M., Kardatzke, D., Lancaster, L., Lederer, D.J., Nathan, S.D., Pereira, C.A., Sahn, S.A., Sussman, R., Swigris, J.J., Noble, P.W. and Group, A.S. (2014) 'A phase 3 trial of pirfenidone in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *N Engl J Med*, 370(22), pp. 2083-92.

Kitz, R., Boehles, H.J., Rosewich, M. and Rose, M.A. (2012) 'Lipid-laden alveolar macrophages and pH monitoring in gastroesophageal reflux-related respiratory symptoms', *Pulmonary Medicine*.

Klokkenburg, J.J., Hoeve, H.L., Francke, J., Wieringa, M.H., Borgstein, J. and Feenstra, L. (2009) 'Bile acids identified in middle ear effusions of children with otitis media with effusion', *Laryngoscope*, 119(2), pp. 396-400.

Korfei, M., Ruppert, C., Mahavadi, P., Henneke, I., Markart, P., Koch, M., Lang, G., Fink, L., Bohle, R.M., Seeger, W., Weaver, T.E., Guenther, A., Korfei, M., Ruppert, C., Mahavadi, P., Henneke, I., Markart, P., Koch, M., Lang, G., Fink, L., Bohle, R.-M., Seeger, W., Weaver, T.E. and Guenther, A. (2008) 'Epithelial endoplasmic reticulum stress and apoptosis in sporadic idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine*, 178(8), pp. 838-46.

Korman, M.G., Hofmann, A.F. and Summerskill, W.H.J. (1974) 'Assessment of Activity in Chronic Active Liver Disease', *New England Journal of Medicine*, 290(25), pp. 1399-1402.

Kottmann, R.M., Hogan, C.M., Phipps, R.P., Sime, P.J., Kottmann, R.M., Hogan, C.M., Phipps, R.P. and Sime, P.J. (2009) 'Determinants of initiation and progression of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *Respirology*, 14(7), pp. 917-33.

Krein, P.M. and Winston, B.W. (2002) 'Roles for insulin-like growth factor I and transforming growth factor-beta in fibrotic lung disease', *Chest*, 122(6 Suppl), pp. 289s-293s.

Laccourreye, O., Malinvaud, D., Holsinger, F.C., Consoli, S., Menard, M. and Bonfils, P. (2012) 'Trade-off between survival and laryngeal preservation in advanced laryngeal cancer: the otorhinolaryngology patient's perspective', *Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol*, 121(9), pp. 570-5. Lalonde, L., Clarke, A.E., Joseph, L., Mackenzie, T. and Grover, S.A. (1999) 'Comparing the psychometric properties of preference-based and nonpreference-based health-related quality of life in coronary heart disease. Canadian Collaborative Cardiac Assessment Group', *Qual Life Res*, 8(5), pp. 399-409.

Lancaster, G.A., Dodd, S. and Williamson, P.R. (2004) 'Design and analysis of pilot studies: recommendations for good practice', *J Eval Clin Pract*, 10(2), pp. 307-12.

Lawson, W.E., Cheng, D.S., Degryse, A.L., Tanjore, H., Polosukhin, V.V., Xu, X.C., Newcomb, D.C., Jones, B.R., Roldan, J., Lane, K.B., Morrisey, E.E., Beers, M.F., Yull, F.E. and Blackwell, T.S. (2011) 'Endoplasmic reticulum stress enhances fibrotic remodeling in the lungs', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108(26), pp. 10562-7.

Lawson, W.E., Crossno, P.F., Polosukhin, V.V., Roldan, J., Cheng, D.S., Lane, K.B., Blackwell, T.R., Xu, C., Markin, C., Ware, L.B., Miller, G.G., Loyd, J.E. and Blackwell, T.S. (2008) 'Endoplasmic reticulum stress in alveolar epithelial cells is prominent in IPF: association with altered surfactant protein processing and herpesvirus infection', *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*, 294(6), pp. L1119-26.

Lee, J.M., Dedhar, S., Kalluri, R. and Thompson, E.W. (2006) 'The epithelial-mesenchymal transition: new insights in signaling, development, and disease', *J Cell Biol*, 172(7), pp. 973-81.

Lee, J.S., Ryu, J.H., Elicker, B.M., Lydell, C.P., Jones, K.D., Wolters, P.J., King, T.E., Jr. and Collard, H.R. (2011) 'Gastroesophageal reflux therapy is associated with longer survival in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 184(12), pp. 1390-4.

Lee, J.S., Song, J.W., Wolters, P.J., Elicker, B.M., King, T.E., Jr., Kim, D.S. and Collard, H.R. (2012) 'Bronchoalveolar lavage pepsin in acute exacerbation of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *Eur Respir J*, 39(2), pp. 352-8.

Leidy, N.K., Farup, C., Rentz, A.M., Ganoczy, D. and Koch, K.L. (2000) 'Patient-based assessment in dyspepsia: development and validation of Dyspepsia Symptom Severity Index (DSSI)', *Dig Dis Sci*, 45(6), pp. 1172-9.

Li, R., Liang, J., Ni, S., Zhou, T., Qing, X., Li, H., He, W., Chen, J., Li, F., Zhuang, Q., Qin, B., Xu, J., Li, W., Yang, J., Gan, Y., Qin, D., Feng, S., Song, H., Yang, D., Zhang, B., Zeng, L., Lai, L., Esteban, M.A. and Pei, D. (2010) 'A mesenchymal-to-epithelial transition initiates and is required for the nuclear reprogramming of mouse fibroblasts', *Cell Stem Cell*, 7(1), pp. 51-63.

Li, Y., Jiang, D., Liang, J., Meltzer, E.B., Gray, A., Miura, R., Wogensen, L., Yamaguchi, Y. and Noble, P.W. (2011) 'Severe lung fibrosis requires an invasive fibroblast phenotype regulated by hyaluronan and CD44', *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 208(7), pp. 1459-1471.

Linden, P.A., Gilbert, R.J., Yeap, B.Y., Boyle, K., Deykin, A., Jaklitsch, M.T., Sugarbaker, D.J. and Bueno, R. (2006) 'Laparoscopic fundoplication in patients with end-stage lung disease awaiting transplantation', *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg*, 131(2), pp. 438-46.

Liu, F., Mih, J.D., Shea, B.S., Kho, A.T., Sharif, A.S., Tager, A.M. and Tschumperlin, D.J. (2010) 'Feedback amplification of fibrosis through matrix stiffening and COX-2 suppression', *Journal of Cell Biology*, 190(4), pp. 693-706.

Locke, G.R., Talley, N.J., Weaver, A.L. and Zinsmeister, A.R. (1994) 'A new questionnaire for gastroesophageal reflux disease', *Mayo Clin Proc*, 69(6), pp. 539-47.

Lundell, L.R., Dent, J., Bennett, J.R., Blum, A.L., Armstrong, D., Galmiche, J.P., Johnson, F., Hongo, M., Richter, J.E., Spechler, S.J., Tytgat, G.N. and Wallin, L. (1999) 'Endoscopic assessment of oesophagitis: clinical and functional correlates and further validation of the Los Angeles classification', *Gut*, 45(2), pp. 172-80.

Luppi, F., Cerri, S., Taddei, S., Ferrara, G. and Cottin, V. (2015) 'Acute exacerbation of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: a clinical review', *Intern Emerg Med*, 10(4), pp. 401-11.

Ma, S., Qian, B., Shang, L., Shi, R. and Zhang, G. (2012) 'A meta-analysis comparing laparoscopic partial versus Nissen fundoplication', *ANZ journal of surgery*, 82(1-2), pp. 17-22.

Maitra, M., Cano, C.A. and Garcia, C.K. (2012) 'Mutant surfactant A2 proteins associated with familial pulmonary fibrosis and lung cancer induce TGF-beta1 secretion', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 109(51), pp. 21064-9.

Mandel, K.G., Daggy, B.P., Brodie, D.A. and Jacoby, H.I. (2000) 'Review article: alginate-raft formulations in the treatment of heartburn and acid reflux', *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*, 14(6), pp. 669-90.

Marinkovic, A., Liu, F. and Tschumperlin, D.J. (2012) 'Matrices of physiologic stiffness potently inactivate IPF fibroblasts', *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.*, 48, pp. 422-430.

Marmai, C., Sutherland, R.E., Kim, K.K., Dolganov, G.M., Fang, X., Kim, S.S., Jiang, S., Golden, J.A., Hoopes, C.W., Matthay, M.A., Chapman, H.A. and Wolters, P.J. (2011) 'Alveolar

epithelial cells express mesenchymal proteins in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 301(1), pp. L71-8.

Mattox, H.E., 3rd, Richter, J.E., Sinclair, J.W., Price, J.E. and Case, L.D. (1992) 'Gastroesophageal pH step-up inaccurately locates proximal border of lower esophageal sphincter', *Dig Dis Sci*, 37(8), pp. 1185-91.

Mays, E.E., Dubois, J.J. and Hamilton, G.B. (1976) 'Pulmonary fibrosis associated with tracheobronchial aspiration. A study of the frequency of hiatal hernia and gastroesophageal reflux in interstitial pulmonary fibrosis of obscure etiology', *Chest*, 69(4), pp. 512-5.

Mazzoleni, G., Vailati, C., Lisma, D.G., Testoni, P.A. and Passaretti, S. (2014) 'Correlation between oropharyngeal pH-monitoring and esophageal pH-impedance monitoring in patients with suspected GERD-related extra-esophageal symptoms', *Neurogastroenterol Motil*, 26(11), pp. 1557-64.

McCallum, R.W., Prakash, C., Campoli-Richards, D.M. and Goa, K.L. (1988) 'Cisapride. A preliminary review of its pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic properties, and therapeutic use as a prokinetic agent in gastrointestinal motility disorders', *Drugs*, 36(6), pp. 652-81.

McDowell, I. (2011) Measuring Health. Oxford University Press.

McNamee, P., Glendinning, S., Shenfine, J., Steen, N., Griffin, S.M. and Bond, J. (2004) 'Chained time trade-off and standard gamble methods. Applications in oesophageal cancer', *Eur J Health Econ*, 5(1), pp. 81-6.

Mehrad, B., Burdick, M.D., Zisman, D.A., Keane, M.P., Belperio, J.A. and Strieter, R.M. (2007) 'Circulating peripheral blood fibrocytes in human fibrotic interstitial lung disease', *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 353(1), pp. 104-8.

Mehrez, A. and Gafni, A. (1989) 'Quality-adjusted life years, utility theory, and healthy-years equivalents', *Med Decis Making*, 9(2), pp. 142-9.

Mendelson, C.L. (1946) 'The aspiration of stomach contents into the lungs during obstetric anesthesia', *Am J Obstet Gynecol*, 52, pp. 191-205.

Merati, A.L., Lim, H.J., Ulualp, S.O. and Toohill, R.J. (2005) 'Meta-analysis of upper probe measurements in normal subjects and patients with laryngopharyngeal reflux', *Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol*, 114(3), pp. 177-82.

Metheny, N.A., Chang, Y.H., Ye, J.S., Edwards, S.J., Defer, J., Dahms, T.E., Stewart, B.J., Stone, K.S. and Clouse, R.E. (2002) 'Pepsin as a marker for pulmonary aspiration', *American Journal of Critical Care*, 11(2), pp. 150-154.

Meyer, K.C., Raghu, G., Baughman, R.P., Brown, K.K., Costabel, U., du Bois, R.M., Drent, M., Haslam, P.L., Kim, D.S., Nagai, S., Rottoli, P., Saltini, C., Selman, M., Strange, C. and Wood, B. (2012) 'An official American Thoracic Society clinical practice guideline: the clinical utility of bronchoalveolar lavage cellular analysis in interstitial lung disease', *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine*, 185(9), pp. 1004-14.

Mittal, R.K. and Fisher, M.J. (1990) 'Electrical and mechanical inhibition of the crural diaphragm during transient relaxation of the lower esophageal sphincter', *Gastroenterology*, 99(5), pp. 1265-8.

Mittal, R.K., Holloway, R.H., Penagini, R., Blackshaw, L.A. and Dent, J. (1995) 'Transient lower esophageal sphincter relaxation', *Gastroenterology*, 109(2), pp. 601-10.

Moayyedi, P., Duffett, S., Braunholtz, D., Mason, S., Richards, I.D., Dowell, A.C. and Axon, A.T. (1998) 'The Leeds Dyspepsia Questionnaire: a valid tool for measuring the presence and severity of dyspepsia', *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*, 12(12), pp. 1257-62.

Moore, A.D., Clarke, A.E., Danoff, D.S., Joseph, L., Belisle, P., Neville, C. and Fortin, P.R. (1999) 'Can health utility measures be used in lupus research? A comparative validation and reliability study of 4 utility indices', *J Rheumatol*, 26(6), pp. 1285-90.

Morice, A.H., Faruqi, S., Wright, C.E., Thompson, R. and Bland, J.M. (2011) 'Cough hypersensitivity syndrome: a distinct clinical entity', *Lung*, 189(1), pp. 73-9.

Morrison, D.A. and Stovall, J.R. (1992) 'Increased exercise capacity in hypoxemic patients after long-term oxygen therapy', *Chest*, 102(2), pp. 542-50.

Morss, S.E., Lenert, L.A. and Faustman, W.O. (1993) 'The side effects of antipsychotic drugs and patients' quality of life: patient education and preference assessment with computers and multimedia', *Proc Annu Symp Comput Appl Med Care*, pp. 17-21.

Mouli, V.P. and Ahuja, V. (2011) 'Questionnaire based gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD) assessment scales', *Indian J Gastroenterol*, 30(3), pp. 108-17.

Mulugeta, S., Nguyen, V., Russo, S.J., Muniswamy, M. and Beers, M.F. (2005) 'A surfactant protein C precursor protein BRICHOS domain mutation causes endoplasmic reticulum stress,

proteasome dysfunction, and caspase 3 activation', *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, 32(6), pp. 521-30.

Munger, J.S., Huang, X., Kawakatsu, H., Griffiths, M.J.D., Dalton, S.L., Wu, J., Pittet, J.F., Kaminski, N., Garat, C., Matthay, M.A., Rifkin, D.B. and Sheppard, D. (1999) 'The integrin $\alpha\nu\beta6$ binds and activates latent TGF $\beta1$: A mechanism for regulating pulmonary inflammation and fibrosis', *Cell*, 96(3), pp. 319-328.

Murray, J.F. and Nadel, J.A. (2005) *Murray and Nadel's textbook of respiratory medicine*. 4th edn (2 vols). Philadelphia, PA.: Saunders.

Musellim, B., Okumus, G., Uzaslan, E., Akgun, M., Cetinkaya, E., Turan, O., Akkoclu, A., Hazar, A., Kokturk, N., Calisir, H.C. and Turkish Interstitial Lung Diseases, G. (2014) 'Epidemiology and distribution of interstitial lung diseases in Turkey', *Clin Respir J*, 8(1), pp. 55-62.

Nakayama, S., Mukae, H., Sakamoto, N., Kakugawa, T., Yoshioka, S., Soda, H., Oku, H., Urata, Y., Kondo, T., Kubota, H., Nagata, K. and Kohno, S. (2008) 'Pirfenidone inhibits the expression of HSP47 in TGF-beta1-stimulated human lung fibroblasts', *Life Sci*, 82(3-4), pp. 210-7.

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (2008) *Guide to the Methods for Technology Appraisal*. London.

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (2012) *Methods for the development of NICE public health guidance (third edition)*. London.

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (2013) 'Guide to the methods of technology appraisal 2013'.

Navaratnam, V., Fleming, K.M., West, J., Smith, C.J., Jenkins, R.G., Fogarty, A. and Hubbard, R.B. (2011) 'The rising incidence of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis in the U.K', *Thorax*, 66(6), pp. 462-7.

Neuner, A., Schindel, M., Wildenberg, U., Muley, T., Lahm, H. and Fischer, J.R. (2001) 'Cytokine secretion: clinical relevance of immunosuppression in non-small cell lung cancer', *Lung Cancer*, 34 Suppl 2, pp. S79-82.

NICE (2013a) *CG163 Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: NICE guidance*. National Institute of Clinical Excellence.

NICE (2013b) *Pirfenidone for treating idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis*. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence.

Nilsson, M., Johnsen, R., Ye, W., Hveem, K. and Lagergren, J. (2004) 'Lifestyle related risk factors in the aetiology of gastro-oesophageal reflux', *Gut*, 53(12), pp. 1730-5.

Nissen, R. (1956) '[A simple operation for control of reflux esophagitis]', *Schweiz Med Wochenschr*, 86(Suppl 20), pp. 590-2.

Noble, P.W., Albera, C., Bradford, W.Z., Costabel, U., Glassberg, M.K., Kardatzke, D., King, T.E., Jr., Lancaster, L., Sahn, S.A., Szwarcberg, J., Valeyre, D. and du Bois, R.M. (2011) 'Pirfenidone in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (CAPACITY): two randomised trials', *Lancet*, 377(9779), pp. 1760-9.

Nocturnal Oxygen Therapy Trial Group (1980) 'Continuous or nocturnal oxygen therapy in hypoxemic chronic obstructive lung disease: a clinical trial.', *Annals of internal medicine*, 93(3), pp. 391-8.

Nogee, L.M., Dunbar, A.E., 3rd, Wert, S.E., Askin, F., Hamvas, A. and Whitsett, J.A. (2001) 'A mutation in the surfactant protein C gene associated with familial interstitial lung disease', *N Engl J Med*, 344(8), pp. 573-9.

Noth, I., Zangan, S.M., Soares, R.V., Forsythe, A., Demchuk, C., Takahashi, S.M., Patel, S.B., Strek, M.E., Krishnan, J.A., Patti, M.G. and Macmahon, H. (2012) 'Prevalence of hiatal hernia by blinded multidetector CT in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *Eur Respir J*, 39(2), pp. 344-51.

Nussbaum, E., Maggi, J.C., Mathis, R. and Galant, S.P. (1987) 'Association of lipid-laden alveolar macrophages and gastroesophageal reflux in children', *J Pediatr*, 110(2), pp. 190-4.

Nusse, R. (2003) 'Wnts and Hedgehogs: Lipid-modified proteins and similarities in signaling mechanisms at the cell surface', *Development*, 130(22), pp. 5297-5305.

O'Connor, A.M.C., Boyd, N.F., Warde, P., Stolbach, L. and Till, J.E. (1987) 'Eliciting preferences for alternative drug therapies in oncology: Influence of treatment outcome description, elicitation technique and treatment experience on preferences', *Journal of Chronic Diseases*, 40(8), pp. 811-818.

Ofman, J.J., Shaw, M., Sadik, K., Grogg, A., Emery, K., Lee, J., Reyes, E. and Fullerton, S. (2002) 'Identifying patients with gastroesophageal reflux disease: validation of a practical screening tool', *Dig Dis Sci*, 47(8), pp. 1863-9. Oku, H., Shimizu, T., Kawabata, T., Nagira, M., Hikita, I., Ueyama, A., Matsushima, S., Torii, M. and Arimura, A. (2008) 'Antifibrotic action of pirfenidone and prednisolone: different effects on pulmonary cytokines and growth factors in bleomycin-induced murine pulmonary fibrosis', *Eur J Pharmacol*, 590(1-3), pp. 400-8.

Orenstein, S.R., Cohn, J.F., Shalaby, T.M. and Kartan, R. (1993) 'Reliability and validity of an infant gastroesophageal reflux questionnaire', *Clin Pediatr (Phila)*, 32(8), pp. 472-84.

Padilla, A., Olveira, G., Olveira, C., Dorado, A., Plata, A.J., Gaspar, I. and Perez-Frias, J. (2007) '[Validity and reliability of the St George's Respiratory Questionnaire in adults with cystic fibrosis]', *Arch Bronconeumol*, 43(4), pp. 205-11.

Pandit, K.V., Corcoran, D., Yousef, H., Yarlagadda, M., Tzouvelekis, A., Gibson, K.F., Konishi, K., Yousem, S.A., Singh, M., Handley, D., Richards, T., Selman, M., Watkins, S.C., Pardo, A., Ben-Yehudah, A., Bouros, D., Eickelberg, O., Ray, P., Benos, P.V. and Kaminski, N. (2010) 'Inhibition and role of let-7d in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 182(2), pp. 220-229.

Pare, P., Meyer, F., Armstrong, D., Pyzyk, M. and et al. (2003) 'Validation of the GSFQ, a selfadministered symptom frequency questionnaire for patients with gastroesophageal reflux disease', *Canadian Journal of Gastroenterology & Hepatology*, 17(5), pp. 307 - 312.

Parikh, S., Brownlee, I.A., Robertson, A.G., Manning, N.T., Johnson, G.E., Brodlie, M., Corris, P.A., Ward, C. and Pearson, J.P. (2013) 'Are the enzymatic methods currently being used to measure bronchoalveolar lavage bile salt levels fit for purpose?', *J Heart Lung Transplant*, 32(4), pp. 418-23.

Park, K.S. (2013) 'Observable Laryngopharyngeal Lesions during the Upper Gastrointestinal Endoscopy', *Clin Endosc*, 46(3), pp. 224-9.

Parkin, D. and Devlin, N. (2006) 'Is there a case for using visual analogue scale valuations in cost-utility analysis?', *Health Econ*, 15(7), pp. 653-64.

Patti, M.G., Tedesco, P., Golden, J., Hays, S., Hoopes, C., Meneghetti, A., Damani, T. and Way, L.W. (2005) 'Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: how often is it really idiopathic?', *J Gastrointest Surg*, 9(8), pp. 1053-6; discussion 1056-8.

Pauwells, L.W., Akesson, E.J. and Stewart, P.A. (1998) *Cranial nerves*. B. C. Decker Incorporated.

Pearson, J.E. and Wilson, R.S. (1971) 'Diffuse pulmonary fibrosis and hiatus hernia', *Thorax*, 26(3), pp. 300-5.

Pearson, J.P., Parikh, S., Orlando, R.C., Johnston, N., Allen, J., Tinling, S.P., Johnston, N., Belafsky, P., Arevalo, L.F., Sharma, N., Castell, D.O., Fox, M., Harding, S.M., Morice, A.H., Watson, M.G., Shields, M.D., Bateman, N., McCallion, W.A., van Wijk, M.P., Wenzl, T.G., Karkos, P.D. and Belafsky, P.C. (2011) 'Review article: reflux and its consequences--the laryngeal, pulmonary and oesophageal manifestations. Conference held in conjunction with the 9th International Symposium on Human Pepsin (ISHP) Kingston-upon-Hull, UK, 21-23 April 2010', *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*, 33 Suppl 1, pp. 1-71.

Peters, M.J., Mukhtar, A., Yunus, R.M., Khan, S., Pappalardo, J., Memon, B. and Memon, M.A. (2009) 'Meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials comparing open and laparoscopic antireflux surgery', *Am J Gastroenterol*, 104(6), pp. 1548-61; quiz 1547, 1562.

Pilotto, A., Franceschi, M., Leandro, G., Scarcelli, C., D'Ambrosio, L.P., Seripa, D., Perri, F., Niro, V., Paris, F., Andriulli, A. and Di Mario, F. (2006) 'Clinical features of reflux esophagitis in older people: a study of 840 consecutive patients', *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 54(10), pp. 1537-42.

Pison, U., Max, M., Neuendank, A., Weissbach, S. and Pietschmann, S. (1994) 'Host defence capacities of pulmonary surfactant: evidence for 'non-surfactant' functions of the surfactant system', *Eur J Clin Invest*, 24(9), pp. 586-99.

Popper, H., Juettner, F. and Pinter, J. (1986) 'The gastric juice aspiration syndrome (Mendelson syndrome). Aspects of pathogenesis and treatment in the pig', *Virchows Arch A Pathol Anat Histopathol*, 409(1), pp. 105-17.

Porembka, D.T., Kier, A., Sehlhorst, S., Boyce, S., Orlowski, J.P. and Davis, K., Jr. (1993) 'The pathophysiologic changes following bile aspiration in a porcine lung model', *Chest*, 104(3), pp. 919-24.

Puhan, M.A., Schunemann, H.J., Wong, E., Griffith, L. and Guyatt, G.H. (2007) 'The standard gamble showed better construct validity than the time trade-off', *J Clin Epidemiol*, 60(10), pp. 1029-33.

Puxeddu, E., Comandini, A., Cavalli, F., Pezzuto, G., D'Ambrosio, C., Senis, L., Paci, M., Curradi, G., Sergiacomi, G.L. and Saltini, C. (2014) 'Iron laden macrophages in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: The telltale of occult alveolar hemorrhage?', *Pulmonary Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 28(1), pp. 35-40.

Quan, T.E., Cowper, S.E. and Bucala, R. (2006) 'The role of circulating fibrocytes in fibrosis', *Curr Rheumatol Rep*, 8(2), pp. 145-50.

Rabinovich, E.I., Kapetanaki, M.G., Steinfeld, I., Gibson, K.F., Pandit, K.V., Yu, G., Yakhini, Z. and Kaminski, N. (2012) 'Global methylation patterns in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *PLoS ONE*, 7(4).

Raghu, G., Amatto, V.C., Behr, J. and Stowasser, S. (2015a) 'Comorbidities in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis patients: a systematic literature review', *Eur Respir J*, 46(4), pp. 1113-30.

Raghu, G., Amatto, V.C., Behr, J. and Stowasser, S. (2015b) 'Comorbidities in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis patients: a systematic literature review', *European Respiratory Journal*, 46(4), pp. 1113-1130.

Raghu, G., Anstrom, K.J., King, T.E., Jr., Lasky, J.A. and Martinez, F.J. (2012) 'Prednisone, azathioprine, and N-acetylcysteine for pulmonary fibrosis', *The New England journal of medicine*, 366(21), pp. 1968-77.

Raghu, G., Collard, H.R., Egan, J.J., Martinez, F.J., Behr, J., Brown, K.K., Colby, T.V., Cordier, J.F., Flaherty, K.R., Lasky, J.A., Lynch, D.A., Ryu, J.H., Swigris, J.J., Wells, A.U., Ancochea, J., Bouros, D., Carvalho, C., Costabel, U., Ebina, M., Hansell, D.M., Johkoh, T., Kim, D.S., King, T.E., Jr., Kondoh, Y., Myers, J., Muller, N.L., Nicholson, A.G., Richeldi, L., Selman, M., Dudden, R.F., Griss, B.S., Protzko, S.L., Schunemann, H.J., Fibrosis, A.E.J.A.C.o.I.P., Raghu, G., Collard, H.R., Egan, J.J., Martinez, F.J., Behr, J., Brown, K.K., Colby, T.V., Cordier, J.-F., Flaherty, K.R., Lasky, J.A., Lynch, D.A., Ryu, J.H., Swigris, J.J., Wells, A.U., Ancochea, J., Bouros, D., Carvalho, C., Costabel, U., Ebina, M., Hansell, D.M., Johkoh, T., Kim, D.S., King, T.E., Jr., Kondoh, Y., Myers, J., Muller, N.L., Nicholson, A.G., Richeldi, L., Selman, M., Dudden, R.F., Griss, B.S.,
Protzko, S.L. and Schunemann, H.J. (2011) 'An official ATS/ERS/JRS/ALAT statement: idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: evidence-based guidelines for diagnosis and management', *American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine*, 183(6), pp. 788-824.

Raghu, G., Freudenberger, T.D., Yang, S., Curtis, J.R., Spada, C., Hayes, J., Sillery, J.K., Pope, C.E., 2nd and Pellegrini, C.A. (2006a) 'High prevalence of abnormal acid gastro-oesophageal reflux in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *Eur Respir J*, 27(1), pp. 136-42.

Raghu, G., Weycker, D., Edelsberg, J., Bradford, W.Z. and Oster, G. (2006b) 'Incidence and prevalence of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 174(7), pp. 810-6.
Raghu, G., Yang, S.T., Spada, C., Hayes, J. and Pellegrini, C.A. (2006c) 'Sole treatment of acid gastroesophageal reflux in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: a case series', *Chest*, 129(3), pp. 794-800.

Ramos, R.F., Lustosa, S.A., Almeida, C.A., Silva, C.P. and Matos, D. (2011) 'Surgical treatment of gastroesophageal reflux disease: total or partial fundoplication? systematic review and meta-analysis', *Arquivos de gastroenterologia*, 48(4), pp. 252-60.

Ravelli, A.M., Panarotto, M.B., Verdoni, L., Consolati, V. and Bolognini, S. (2006) 'Pulmonary aspiration shown by scintigraphy in gastroesophageal reflux-related respiratory disease', *Chest*, 130(5), pp. 1520-6.

Read, J.L., Quinn, R.J., Berwick, D.M., Fineberg, H.V. and Weinstein, M.C. (1984) 'Preferences for health outcomes. Comparison of assessment methods', *Med Decis Making*, 4(3), pp. 315-29.

Reed, W.W., Herbers Jr, J.E. and Noel, G.L. (1993) 'Cholesterol-lowering therapy: What patients expect in return', *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 8(11), pp. 591-596.

Reid, D., Snell, G., Ward, C., Krishnaswamy, R., Ward, R., Zheng, L., Williams, T. and Walters, H. (2001) 'Iron overload and nitric oxide-derived oxidative stress following lung transplantation', *The Journal of heart and lung transplantation : the official publication of the International Society for Heart Transplantation*, 20(8), pp. 840-9.

Reulbach, T.R., Belafsky, P.C., Blalock, P.D., Koufman, J.A. and Postma, G.N. (2001) 'Occult laryngeal pathology in a community-based cohort', *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg*, 124(4), pp. 448-50.

Richardson, J. (1994) 'Cost utility analysis: what should be measured?', *Soc Sci Med*, 39(1), pp. 7-21.

Richeldi, L. (2013) 'Clinical trials of investigational agents for IPF: a review of a Cochrane report', *Respir Res*, 14 Suppl 1, p. S4.

Richeldi, L., Costabel, U., Selman, M., Kim, D.S., Hansell, D.M., Nicholson, A.G., Brown, K.K., Flaherty, K.R., Noble, P.W., Raghu, G., Brun, M., Gupta, A., Juhel, N., Kluglich, M. and du Bois, R.M. (2011) 'Efficacy of a tyrosine kinase inhibitor in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *N Engl J Med*, 365(12), pp. 1079-87. Richeldi, L., Davies, H.R., Ferrara, G. and Franco, F. (2003) 'Corticosteroids for idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, (3), p. CD002880.

Richeldi, L., du Bois, R.M., Raghu, G., Azuma, A., Brown, K.K., Costabel, U., Cottin, V., Flaherty, K.R., Hansell, D.M., Inoue, Y., Kim, D.S., Kolb, M., Nicholson, A.G., Noble, P.W., Selman, M., Taniguchi, H., Brun, M., Le Maulf, F., Girard, M., Stowasser, S., Schlenker-Herceg, R., Disse, B., Collard, H.R. and Investigators, I.T. (2014) 'Efficacy and safety of nintedanib in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *N Engl J Med*, 370(22), pp. 2071-82.

Roberts, N.B. (2006) 'Review article: human pepsins - their multiplicity, function and role in reflux disease', *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*, 24 Suppl 2, pp. 2-9.

Robertson, A.G., Krishnan, A., Ward, C., Pearson, J.P., Small, T., Corris, P.A., Dark, J.H., Karat, D., Shenfine, J. and Griffin, S.M. (2012) 'Anti-reflux surgery in lung transplant recipients: outcomes and effects on quality of life', *Eur Respir J*, 39(3), pp. 691-7.

Rodriguez, L., Rodriguez, P., Neto, M.G., Ayala, J.C., Saba, J., Berel, D., Conklin, J. and Soffer,
E. (2012) 'Short-term electrical stimulation of the lower esophageal sphincter increases
sphincter pressure in patients with gastroesophageal reflux disease', *Neurogastroenterology*and motility : the official journal of the European Gastrointestinal Motility Society, 24(5), pp.
446-50, e213.

Rosen, R. and Nurko, S. (2004) 'The importance of multichannel intraluminal impedance in the evaluation of children with persistent respiratory symptoms', *Am J Gastroenterol*, 99(12), pp. 2452-8.

Rothman, M., Farup, C., Stewart, W., Helbers, L. and Zeldis, J. (2001) 'Symptoms associated with gastroesophageal reflux disease: development of a questionnaire for use in clinical trials', *Dig Dis Sci*, 46(7), pp. 1540-9.

Ryerson, C.J., Cottin, V., Brown, K.K. and Collard, H.R. (2015) 'Acute exacerbation of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: shifting the paradigm', *Eur Respir J*, 46(2), pp. 512-20.

Sacco, O., Fregonese, B., Silvestri, M., Sabatini, F., Mattioli, G. and Rossi, G.A. (2000) 'Bronchoalveolar lavage and esophageal pH monitoring data in children with "difficult to treat" respiratory symptoms', *Pediatr Pulmonol*, 30(4), pp. 313-9.

Sacco, O., Silvestri, M., Sabatini, F., Sale, R., Moscato, G., Pignatti, P., Mattioli, G. and Rossi, G.A. (2006) 'IL-8 and airway neutrophilia in children with gastroesophageal reflux and asthma-like symptoms', *Respiratory medicine*, 100(2), pp. 307-315.

Sackett, D.L. and Torrance, G.W. (1978) 'The utility of different health states as perceived by the general public', *J Chronic Dis*, 31(11), pp. 697-704.

Salazar-Montes, A., Ruiz-Corro, L., López-Reyes, A., Castrejón-Gómez, E. and Armendáriz-Borunda, J. (2008) 'Potent antioxidant role of Pirfenidone in experimental cirrhosis', *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 595(1–3), pp. 69-77.

Salvioli, B., Belmonte, G., Stanghellini, V., Baldi, E., Fasano, L., Pacilli, A.M., De Giorgio, R., Barbara, G., Bini, L., Cogliandro, R., Fabbri, M. and Corinaldesi, R. (2006) 'Gastro-oesophageal reflux and interstitial lung disease', *Dig Liver Dis*, 38(12), pp. 879-84.

Samareh Fekri, M., Poursalehi, H.R., Najafipour, H., Shahouzahi, B. and Bazargan Harandi, N. (2014) 'Chronic aspiration of gastric and duodenal contents and their effects on inflammatory cytokine production in respiratory system of rats', *Iran J Allergy Asthma Immunol*, 13(1), pp. 40-6.

Sanjuas, C., Alonso, J., Prieto, L., Ferrer, M., Broquetas, J.M. and Anto, J.M. (2002) 'Healthrelated quality of life in asthma: a comparison between the St George's Respiratory Questionnaire and the Asthma Quality of Life Questionnaire', *Qual Life Res*, 11(8), pp. 729-38.

Saritas Yuksel, E., Hong, S.K., Strugala, V., Slaughter, J.C., Goutte, M., Garrett, C.G., Dettmar, P.W. and Vaezi, M.F. (2012) 'Rapid salivary pepsin test: blinded assessment of test performance in gastroesophageal reflux disease', *Laryngoscope*, 122(6), pp. 1312-6.

Savarino, E., Carbone, R., Marabotto, E., Furnari, M., Sconfienza, L., Ghio, M., Zentilin, P. and Savarino, V. (2013) 'Gastro-oesophageal reflux and gastric aspiration in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis patients', *ERJ express*.

Schaefer, C.J., Ruhrmund, D.W., Pan, L., Seiwert, S.D. and Kossen, K. (2011) 'Antifibrotic activities of pirfenidone in animal models', *European respiratory review : an official journal of the European Respiratory Society*, 20(120), pp. 85-97.

Schunemann, H.J., Griffith, L., Jaeschke, R., Goldstein, R., Stubbing, D. and Guyatt, G.H. (2003) 'Evaluation of the minimal important difference for the feeling thermometer and the St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire in patients with chronic airflow obstruction', *J Clin Epidemiol*, 56(12), pp. 1170-6. Schwartz, D.J., Wynne, J.W., Gibbs, C.P., Hood, C.I. and Kuck, E.J. (1980) 'The pulmonary consequences of aspiration of gastric contents at pH values greater than 2.5', *Am Rev Respir Dis*, 121(1), pp. 119-26.

Scotton, C.J. and Chambers, R.C. (2007) 'Molecular targets in pulmonary fibrosis: The myofibroblast in focus', *Chest*, 132(4), pp. 1311-1321.

Seibold, M.A., Wise, A.L., Speer, M.C., Steele, M.P., Brown, K.K., Loyd, J.E., Fingerlin, T.E., Zhang, W., Gudmundsson, G., Groshong, S.D., Evans, C.M., Garantziotis, S., Adler, K.B., Dickey, B.F., du Bois, R.M., Yang, I.V., Herron, A., Kervitsky, D., Talbert, J.L., Markin, C., Park, J., Crews, A.L., Slifer, S.H., Auerbach, S., Roy, M.G., Lin, J., Hennessy, C.E., Schwarz, M.I. and Schwartz, D.A. (2011) 'A common MUC5B promoter polymorphism and pulmonary fibrosis', *N Engl J Med*, 364(16), pp. 1503-12.

Selman, M., King, T.E., Pardo, A., American Thoracic, S., European Respiratory, S. and American College of Chest, P. (2001) 'Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: prevailing and evolving hypotheses about its pathogenesis and implications for therapy', *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 134(2), pp. 136-51.

Shaw, M.J., Talley, N.J., Beebe, T.J., Rockwood, T., Carlsson, R., Adlis, S., Fendrick, A.M., Jones, R., Dent, J. and Bytzer, P. (2001) 'Initial validation of a diagnostic questionnaire for gastroesophageal reflux disease', *Am J Gastroenterol*, 96(1), pp. 52-7.

Singh, P., Adamopoulos, A., Taylor, R.H. and Colin-Jones, D.G. (1992) 'Oesophageal motor function before and after healing of oesophagitis', *Gut*, 33(12), pp. 1590-6.

Sloan, S., Rademaker, A.W. and Kahrilas, P.J. (1992) 'Determinants of gastroesophageal junction incompetence: hiatal hernia, lower esophageal sphincter, or both?', *Annals of internal medicine*, 117(12), pp. 977-82.

Soares, R.V., Forsythe, A., Hogarth, K., Sweiss, N.J., Noth, I. and Patti, M.G. (2011) 'Interstitial lung disease and gastroesophageal reflux disease: key role of esophageal function tests in the diagnosis and treatment', *Arq Gastroenterol*, 48(2), pp. 91-7.

Spagnolo, P., Del Giovane, C., Luppi, F., Cerri, S., Balduzzi, S., Walters, E.H., D'Amico, R. and Richeldi, L. (2010) 'Non-steroid agents for idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, (9), p. CD003134.

Spechler, S.J. and Castell, D.O. (2001) 'Classification of oesophageal motility abnormalities', *Gut*, 49(1), pp. 145-51.

Sprangers, M.A.G. and Schwartz, C.E. (1999) 'Integrating response shift into health-related quality of life research: a theoretical model', *Social Science & Medicine*, 48(11), pp. 1507-1515.

Stanghellini, V., Armstrong, D., Monnikes, H. and Bardhan, K.D. (2004) 'Systematic review: do we need a new gastro-oesophageal reflux disease questionnaire?', *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*, 19(5), pp. 463-79.

Stovold, R., Forrest, I.A., Corris, P.A., Murphy, D.M., Smith, J.A., Decalmer, S., Johnson, G.E., Dark, J.H., Pearson, J.P. and Ward, C. (2007) 'Pepsin, a biomarker of gastric aspiration in lung allografts: a putative association with rejection', *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 175(12), pp. 1298-303.

Strieter, R.M., Keeley, E.C., Hughes, M.A., Burdick, M.D. and Mehrad, B. (2009) 'The role of circulating mesenchymal progenitor cells (fibrocytes) in the pathogenesis of pulmonary fibrosis', *J Leukoc Biol*, 86(5), pp. 1111-8.

Strugala, V., McGlashan, J.A., Watson, M.G., Morice, A.H., Calderone, G. and Dettmar, P.W. (2007) 'Evaluation of a non-invasive pepsin dipstick test for the diagnosis of extraoesophageal reflux - results of a pilot study'. Gut, pp. A99-A100.

Sturza, J. (2010) 'A review and meta-analysis of utility values for lung cancer', *Med Decis Making*, 30(6), pp. 685-93.

Su, K.C., Wu, Y.C., Chen, C.S., Hung, M.H., Hsiao, Y.H., Tseng, C.M., Chang, S.C., Lee, Y.C. and Perng, D.W. (2013) 'Bile acids increase alveolar epithelial permeability via mitogen-activated protein kinase, cytosolic phospholipase A2, cyclooxygenase-2, prostaglandin E2 and junctional proteins', *Respirology*, 18(5), pp. 848-56.

Sueblinvong, V., Neujahr, D.C., Mills, S.T., Roser-Page, S., Ritzenthaler, J.D., Guidot, D., Rojas, M. and Roman, J. (2012) 'Predisposition for disrepair in the aged lung', *Am J Med Sci*, 344(1), pp. 41-51.

Sun, G., Muddana, S., Slaughter, J.C., Casey, S., Hill, E., Farrokhi, F., Garrett, C.G. and Vaezi, M.F. (2009) 'A new pH catheter for laryngopharyngeal reflux: Normal values', *Laryngoscope*, 119(8), pp. 1639-43.

Sweet, M.P., Patti, M.G., Leard, L.E., Golden, J.A., Hays, S.R., Hoopes, C. and Theodore, P.R. (2007) 'Gastroesophageal reflux in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis referred for lung transplantation', *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg*, 133(4), pp. 1078-84.

Swigris, J.J., Brown, K.K., Behr, J., du Bois, R.M., King, T.E., Raghu, G. and Wamboldt, F.S. (2010) 'The SF-36 and SGRQ: validity and first look at minimum important differences in IPF', *Respir Med*, 104(2), pp. 296-304.

Swigris, J.J., Esser, D., Conoscenti, C.S. and Brown, K.K. (2014) 'The psychometric properties of the St George's Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ) in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: a literature review', *Health Qual Life Outcomes*, 12, p. 124.

Taggart, R.T., Mohandas, T.K., Shows, T.B. and Bell, G.I. (1985) 'Variable numbers of pepsinogen genes are located in the centromeric region of human chromosome 11 and determine the high-frequency electrophoretic polymorphism', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 82(18), pp. 6240-4.

Talley, N.J., Fullerton, S., Junghard, O. and Wiklund, I. (2001) 'Quality of life in patients with endoscopy-negative heartburn: reliability and sensitivity of disease-specific instruments', *Am J Gastroenterol*, 96(7), pp. 1998-2004.

Tang, Y.W., Johnson, J.E., Browning, P.J., Cruz-Gervis, R.A., Davis, A., Graham, B.S., Brigham, K.L., Oates, J.A., Jr., Loyd, J.E. and Stecenko, A.A. (2003) 'Herpesvirus DNA is consistently detected in lungs of patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *J Clin Microbiol*, 41(6), pp. 2633-40.

Taniguchi, H., Ebina, M., Kondoh, Y., Ogura, T., Azuma, A., Suga, M., Taguchi, Y., Takahashi, H., Nakata, K., Sato, A., Takeuchi, M., Raghu, G., Kudoh, S. and Nukiwa, T. (2010) 'Pirfenidone in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *The European respiratory journal*, 35(4), pp. 821-9.

Tanjore, H., Cheng, D.S., Degryse, A.L., Zoz, D.F., Abdolrasulnia, R., Lawson, W.E. and Blackwell, T.S. (2011) 'Alveolar epithelial cells undergo epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in response to endoplasmic reticulum stress', *J Biol Chem*, 286(35), pp. 30972-80.

Tasker, A., Dettmar, P.W., Panetti, M., Koufman, J.A., J, P.B. and Pearson, J.P. (2002) 'Is gastric reflux a cause of otitis media with effusion in children?', *Laryngoscope*, 112(11), pp. 1930-4.

Tcherakian, C., Cottin, V., Brillet, P.Y., Freynet, O., Naggara, N., Carton, Z., Cordier, J.F., Brauner, M., Valeyre, D. and Nunes, H. (2011) 'Progression of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: lessons from asymmetrical disease', *Thorax*, 66(3), pp. 226-31.

Teabeaut, J.R., 2nd (1952) 'Aspiration of gastric contents; an experimental study', *The American journal of pathology*, 28(1), pp. 51-67.

Teva UK Limited (2009) *Summary of Product Characteristics, Omeprazole 20mg gastroresistant tablets*. Teva UK Limited.

Thabut, G., Mal, H., Castier, Y., Groussard, O., Brugiere, O., Marrash-Chahla, R., Leseche, G. and Fournier, M. (2003) 'Survival benefit of lung transplantation for patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *The Journal of thoracic and cardiovascular surgery*, 126(2), pp. 469-75.

The Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis Clinical Research Network 366 (2012) 'Prednisone, Azathioprine, and N-Acetylcysteine for Pulmonary Fibrosis' *New England Journal of Medicine*. pp. 1968-1977 21. Available at:

http://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMoa1113354.

Thomas, E.J., Kumar, R., Dasan, J.B., Kabra, S.K., Bal, C.S., Menon, S. and Malhothra, A. (2003) 'Gastroesophageal reflux in asthmatic children not responding to asthma medication: A scintigraphic study in 126 patients with correlation between scintigraphic and clinical findings of reflux', *Clinical Imaging*, 27(5), pp. 333-336.

Thomeer, M., Demedts, M., Vandeurzen, K. and Diseases, V.W.G.o.I.L. (2001) 'Registration of interstitial lung diseases by 20 centres of respiratory medicine in Flanders', *Acta Clin Belg*, 56(3), pp. 163-72.

Tobin, R.W., Pope, C.E., 2nd, Pellegrini, C.A., Emond, M.J., Sillery, J. and Raghu, G. (1998) 'Increased prevalence of gastroesophageal reflux in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 158(6), pp. 1804-8.

Torrance, G.W. (1976) 'Social preferences for health states: An empirical evaluation of three measurement techniques', *Socio-Economic Planning Sciences*, 10(3), pp. 129-136.

Torrance, G.W. (1986) 'Measurement of health state utilities for economic appraisal', *Journal* of health economics, 5(1), pp. 1-30.

Torrance, G.W. and Feeny, D. (1989) 'Utilities and quality-adjusted life years', *Int J Technol Assess Health Care*, 5(4), pp. 559-75.

Torrance, G.W., Feeny, D.H., Furlong, W.J., Barr, R.D., Zhang, Y. and Wang, Q. (1996) 'Multiattribute utility function for a comprehensive health status classification system. Health Utilities Index Mark 2', *Med Care*, 34(7), pp. 702-22. Tsakiri, K.D., Cronkhite, J.T., Kuan, P.J., Xing, C., Raghu, G., Weissler, J.C., Rosenblatt, R.L., Shay, J.W. and Garcia, C.K. (2007) 'Adult-onset pulmonary fibrosis caused by mutations in telomerase', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 104(18), pp. 7552-7.

U.S. Food and Drug Administration (2014) *FDA News Release*. Available at: http://www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Newsroom/PressAnnouncements/ucm418991.htm (Accessed: 02/02/2015).

Ulualp, S.O., Roland, P.S., Toohill, R.J. and Shaker, R. (2005) 'Prevalence of gastroesophagopharyngeal acid reflux events: an evidence-based systematic review', *Am J Otolaryngol*, 26(4), pp. 239-44.

Ummarino, D., Vandermeulen, L., Roosens, B., Urbain, D., Hauser, B. and Vandenplas, Y. (2013) 'Gastroesophageal reflux evaluation in patients affected by chronic cough: Restech versus multichannel intraluminal impedance/pH metry', *Laryngoscope*, 123(4), pp. 980-4.

UPMC (2015). Available at: <u>http://www.upmc.com/patients-</u> visitors/education/gastro/Pages/ercp.aspx (Accessed: 20/01/2015).

Vakil, N., van Zanten, S.V., Kahrilas, P., Dent, J. and Jones, R. (2006) 'The Montreal definition and classification of gastroesophageal reflux disease: a global evidence-based consensus', *The American journal of gastroenterology*, 101(8), pp. 1900-20; quiz 1943.

Vakil, N.B., Halling, K., Becher, A. and Ryden, A. (2013) 'Systematic review of patientreported outcome instruments for gastroesophageal reflux disease symptoms', *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol*, 25(1), pp. 2-14.

Vela, M.F., Camacho-Lobato, L., Srinivasan, R., Tutuian, R., Katz, P.O. and Castell, D.O. (2001) 'Simultaneous intraesophageal impedance and pH measurement of acid and nonacid gastroesophageal reflux: Effect of omeprazole', *Gastroenterology*, 120(7), pp. 1599-1606.

Veldhuyzen van Zanten, S.J., Jones, M.J., Verlinden, M. and Talley, N.J. (2001) 'Efficacy of cisapride and domperidone in functional (nonulcer) dyspepsia: a meta-analysis', *Am J Gastroenterol*, 96(3), pp. 689-96.

Vivero, R. (2015). Available at: <u>http://viveromd.com/what-we-treat/granuloma/</u> (Accessed: 24/01/2016).

von Neumann, J. and Morgenstern, O. (1944) *Theory of Games and Economic Behaviour*. 1st edn. Princeton University Press.

von Plessen, C., Grinde, O. and Gulsvik, A. (2003) 'Incidence and prevalence of cryptogenic fibrosing alveolitis in a Norwegian community', *Respir Med*, 97(4), pp. 428-35.

Wallace, J.L. (1989) 'Gastric resistance to acid: is the "mucus-bicarbonate barrier" functionally redundant?', *Am J Physiol*, 256(1 Pt 1), pp. G31-8.

Ward, B.W., Wu, W.C., Richter, J.E., Lui, K.W. and Castell, D.O. (1986) 'Ambulatory 24-hour esophageal pH monitoring. Technology searching for a clinical application', *J Clin Gastroenterol*, 8 Suppl 1, pp. 59-67.

Weinstein, M.C., Siegel, J.E., Gold, M.R., Kamlet, M.S. and Russell, L.B. (1996) 'Recommendations of the Panel on Cost-effectiveness in Health and Medicine', *JAMA*, 276(15), pp. 1253-8.

Wells, A.U. (2010) 'The clinical utility of bronchoalveolar lavage in diffuse parenchymal lung disease', *Eur Respir Rev*, 19(117), pp. 237-41.

Weusten, B.L., Roelofs, J.M., Akkermans, L.M., Van Berge-Henegouwen, G.P. and Smout, A.J. (1994) 'The symptom-association probability: an improved method for symptom analysis of 24-hour esophageal pH data', *Gastroenterology*, 107(6), pp. 1741-5.

Wiener, G.J., Tsukashima, R., Kelly, C., Wolf, E., Schmeltzer, M., Bankert, C., Fisk, L. and Vaezi, M. (2009) 'Oropharyngeal pH monitoring for the detection of liquid and aerosolized supraesophageal gastric reflux', *J Voice*, 23(4), pp. 498-504.

Williford, W.O., Krol, W.F. and Spechler, S.J. (1994) 'Development for and results of the use of a gastroesophageal reflux disease activity index as an outcome variable in a clinical trial. VA Cooperative Study Group on Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease (GERD)', *Control Clin Trials*, 15(5), pp. 335-48.

Willis, B.C., Liebler, J.M., Luby-Phelps, K., Nicholson, A.G., Crandall, E.D., du Bois, R.M. and Borok, Z. (2005) 'Induction of epithelial-mesenchymal transition in alveolar epithelial cells by transforming growth factor-beta1: potential role in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *Am J Pathol*, 166(5), pp. 1321-32.

Wilson, C.B., Jones, P.W., O'Leary, C.J., Cole, P.J. and Wilson, R. (1997) 'Validation of the St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire in bronchiectasis', *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 156(2 Pt 1), pp. 536-41.

Wollin, L., Maillet, I., Quesniaux, V., Holweg, A. and Ryffel, B. (2014) 'Antifibrotic and antiinflammatory activity of the tyrosine kinase inhibitor nintedanib in experimental models of lung fibrosis', *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 349(2), pp. 209-20.

Wolters, P.J., Collard, H.R. and Jones, K.D. (2014) 'Pathogenesis of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *Annu Rev Pathol*, 9, pp. 157-79.

Wong, L.F., Shallow, H. and O'Connell, M.P. (2008) 'Comparative study on the outcome of obstetric cholestasis', *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med*, 21(5), pp. 327-30.

Woodcock, H.V. and Maher, T.M. (2014) 'The treatment of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *F1000Prime Rep*, 6, p. 16.

Wootton, S.C., Kim, D.S., Kondoh, Y., Chen, E., Lee, J.S., Song, J.W., Huh, J.W., Taniguchi, H., Chiu, C., Boushey, H., Lancaster, L.H., Wolters, P.J., DeRisi, J., Ganem, D. and Collard, H.R. (2011) 'Viral infection in acute exacerbation of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis', *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 183(12), pp. 1698-702.

Xu, Y.D., Hua, J., Mui, A., O'Connor, R., Grotendorst, G. and Khalil, N. (2003) 'Release of biologically active TGF-beta1 by alveolar epithelial cells results in pulmonary fibrosis', *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*, 285(3), pp. L527-39.

Yonemaru, M., Kasuga, I., Kusumoto, H., Kunisawa, A., Kiyokawa, H., Kuwabara, S., Ichinose, Y. and Toyama, K. (1997) 'Elevation of antibodies to cytomegalovirus and other herpes viruses in pulmonary fibrosis', *Eur Respir J*, 10(9), pp. 2040-5.

Yuksel, E.S., Slaughter, J.C., Mukhtar, N., Ochieng, M., Sun, G., Goutte, M., Muddana, S., Gaelyn Garrett, C. and Vaezi, M.F. (2013) 'An oropharyngeal pH monitoring device to evaluate patients with chronic laryngitis', *Neurogastroenterol Motil*, 25(5), pp. e315-23.

Yuksel, M., Ozyurtkan, M.O., Bostanci, K., Ahiskali, R. and Kodalli, N. (2006) 'Acute exacerbation of interstitial fibrosis after pulmonary resection', *Ann Thorac Surg*, 82(1), pp. 336-8.

Zerbib, F., des Varannes, S.B., Roman, S., Pouderoux, P., Artigue, F., Chaput, U., Mion, F., Caillol, F., Verin, E., Bommelaer, G., Ducrotte, P., Galmiche, J.P. and Sifrim, D. (2005) 'Normal values and day-to-day variability of 24-h ambulatory oesophageal impedance-pH monitoring in a Belgian-French cohort of healthy subjects', *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*, 22(10), pp. 1011-21. Zerbib, F. and Omari, T. (2014) 'Oesophageal dysphagia: manifestations and diagnosis', *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol*, advance online publication.

Zerbib, F., Roman, S., Bruley Des Varannes, S., Gourcerol, G., Coffin, B., Ropert, A., Lepicard, P., Mion, F. and Groupe Francais De, N.-G. (2013) 'Normal values of pharyngeal and esophageal 24-hour pH impedance in individuals on and off therapy and interobserver reproducibility', *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol*, 11(4), pp. 366-72.

Zhang, K. and Kaufman, R.J. (2004) 'Signaling the unfolded protein response from the endoplasmic reticulum', *J Biol Chem*, 279(25), pp. 25935-8.

Zheng, L., Walters, E.H., Ward, C., Wang, N., Orsida, B., Whitford, H., Williams, T.J., Kotsimbos, T. and Snell, G.I. (2000) 'Airway neutrophilia in stable and bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome patients following lung transplantation', *Thorax*, 55(1), pp. 53-9.

Zhong, Q., Zhou, B., Ann, D.K., Minoo, P., Liu, Y., Banfalvi, A., Krishnaveni, M.S., Dubourd, M., Demaio, L., Willis, B.C., Kim, K.J., duBois, R.M., Crandall, E.D., Beers, M.F. and Borok, Z. (2011) 'Role of endoplasmic reticulum stress in epithelial-mesenchymal transition of alveolar epithelial cells: effects of misfolded surfactant protein', *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, 45(3), pp. 498-509.

Zimmerman, J. (2004) 'Validation of a brief inventory for diagnosis and monitoring of symptomatic gastro-oesophageal reflux', *Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology*, 39(3), pp. 212-216.